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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa (Chairman)

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung (Managing Director)
Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping

Mr. Lam Ka Po

Mr. Cheung Ka Ho

Mr. Zhou Pei Feng

Non-Executive Director
Mr. Lo Ka Leong

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen

Mr. Zhang Lu Fu

Mr. Kung, Peter

Mr. Ho Kwok Ming (appointed on 1 January 2022)

Mr. Lau Ping Cheung, Kaizer (resigned on 1 January 2022)

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Ng Mei Kam Kennis (appointed on 20 February 2023)
Mr. Lam Ting Hin (resigned on 20 February 2023)

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Hang Seng Bank Limited
Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

MBEE

FY2022 FY2021 Change
—E:-—F —E-—4F
BHREE HMFE 25
HK$'million E&E®ET  HK$'milion BEHEIT
Revenue EES 22,363.7 28,799.8 -22%
EBITDA* RIMBRFE ~ BiE
e 4,378.6 9,200.3 -52%
Profit before tax* RRBE A a3 Fl > 3,451.3 8,386.9 -59%
Net profit attributable to owners  Zx7 B3G5 A FEIG AR
of the Company
— Underlying net profit* — E ARG R 2,002.7 6,781.7 -70%
— Reported net profit —ARE4EF 1,909.1 6,781.7 -72%
Earnings per share BRER
— Based on underlying net profit* — DAE ARG 5t & HK64.2 cents HK217.4 cents -70%
64.2781l 2174784
— Based on reported net profit —ABREALFIFT & HK61.2 cents HK217.4 cents 799%
61.25% 4L 2174754
Full-year dividend per share BREFERE HK35.0 cents HK150.0 c\ents 7%
35.078 Al 150.078 1L
~ Interim dividend per share —BRFHIRE HK15.0 cents HK30.0 cents _50%
15.078 41l 30.0/1
— Proposed final dividend per share — — 22 SRR A8 & HK20.0 cents HK120.0 c\ents -83%
20.07 1l 120.07811l
Net asset value per share BREERE HK$4-8_2 HK$6.10 1%
4.827B T 6.10787C
Net gearing 7% Net cash 150.0
FEBLEET% FH£150.0
* Excluding: . TBiE

—ECCF REAVELRTEEYIER
MHFE: NOFREAEANTEERETREROER
NHOTNAEEET -

FY2022: Loss on fair value changes of investment properties of HK$45.6 million and
share-based payments of HK$48 million.

REGE—RARGHERFBHIEREAHPEE
ABPELANENTE

Non-GAAP financial measures adopted for illustrating the changes and effect
resulting from operation of business activities only
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Turnover breakdown by products fE [ & £ 585 4

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

FY2022
——EMBFE

Paper Laminates
B E R

[ Glass Epoxy Laminates

REPIBHEBRAER LR

Upstream Materials

[ Others

[ Properties
i HAh

BUSINESS REVIEW

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”), | am delighted to report the
annual results of Kingboard Laminates Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) for the financial year ended 31 December 2022.

Amid an under-supply of laminates and upstream materials in 2021, industry
participants responded by investing in capacity expansion, albeit to varying
degrees. At the same time, multiple headwinds during 2022, including the
Russia-Ukraine war and other geopolitical clashes, sporadic COVID-19
outbreaks in China, in particular the wave that hit Shanghai in the second
quarter, as well as global inflation, have brought some negative impact on
the electronics industry. The Group’s laminate sales and unit prices both
went down during the year. In addition, a provision was made for inventory
impairment in light of lower stock turnover rates and falling unit prices of
laminates and upstream materials of the Group in the first two months of
2023. Despite the soft market conditions and high costs, the Group has
worked hard to build further on its advantage of a vertical value chain and
extensive client network which, together with successful cost control, has
enabled it to deliver an underlying profit of over HK$2 billion. The Property
Division recorded a significant revenue growth on the back of increased
residential property deliveries. A provision of HK$186.5 million was made
during the year for credit impairment of the Group’s bond investments.
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BUSI N ESS REVI EW (continued)

The Group’s revenue decreased 22% over that of 2021 to HK$22,363.7
million. Net profit attributable to owners of the Company (excluding non-
recurrent items) was down 70% to HK$2,002.7 million. On the basis of a
healthy financial position, the Board has proposed a final dividend of HK20
cents, subject to shareholders’ approval.

PERFORMANCE

Laminates Division: Despite a demand drop in the electronics industry,
the Laminates Division has forged ahead with active market development,
and satisfactory progress was achieved in terms of product portfolio
enhancement. As a result, there was a significant proportionate expansion
in the sales of high-end and high-value-added products, including thin
laminates used in portable devices, lead-free and halogen-free laminates
meeting high environmental standards, fire-retardant laminates with broad
compatibility, and high-frequency and high-speed laminates with low loss
and high transmission speed. With improvements made to certain laminate
products, the Group was able to fulfil more sophisticated client requirements
while yielding better price-performance, thus gaining strong recognition from
clients. Revenue of the Laminates Division dropped 32% to HK$19,134.3
million. In the face of the challenges brought by commodity, energy and
transportation cost hikes, the Group’s experienced management team has
worked hard to raise production efficiency and lower energy consumption
through technical enhancements. With a higher level of automation employed
in production, the Group was also able to achieve savings in labour
expenses, thus helping to cushion the pressure of cost increases. A provision
was made for inventory impairment in light of lower stock turnover rates and
falling unit prices of laminates and upstream materials of the Group in the
first two months of 2023. Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortisation (‘EBITDA”) decreased 65% to HK$3,047.7 million.

Property Division: As the Group continued to focus on the development of
its laminates business, the Property Division was mainly engaged in the sales
of the remaining units. Due to an increased delivery of residential properties
during the year, segment revenue jumped 3.4 times to HK$3,170.4 million.
EBITDA also surged 3.7 times to HK$1,576.1 million.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The Group’s financial and liquidity position remained robust. As at 31
December 2022, the Group net current assets and current ratio (current assets
divided by current liabilities) were HK$9,013.7 million (31 December 2021:
HK$9,525.2 million) and 2.91 (31 December 2021: 1.97) respectively.

The net working capital cycle decreased to 86 days as at 31 December 2022
from 102 days as at 31 December 2021 on the following key metrics:

- Inventories, in terms of stock turnover days, were 51 days (31
December 2021: 51 days).

- Trade receivables, including amounts due from fellow subsidiaries, in
terms of debtor turnover days, were 66 days (31 December 2021: 83
days).

- Trade and bills payable (excluding bills payable for properties, plant
and equipment), including amounts due to fellow subsidiaries, in
terms of creditor turnover days, were 31 days (31 December 2021:
32 days).

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s net gearing ratio (ratio of bank
borrowings net of bank balances and cash to total equity) was approximately
7% (31 December 2021: net cash (bank balances and cash net of bank
borrowings) of HK$150.0 million). In 2022, the Group invested approximately
HK$2.4 billion on new capacity. The Group believes that with an experienced
management team, solid business foundations and a strong financial
position, these investments will deliver stable and satisfactory returns for
shareholders in the long term. The proportion of short-term to long-term bank
borrowings stood at 5%:95% (31 December 2021: 67%:33%). It continued
to adopt a prudent financial management policy, and did not enter into any
material derivative financial instruments, nor did the Group have any material
foreign exchange exposure during the year. The Group’s revenue, mostly
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, RMB and US dollars, was fairly matched
with the currency requirements of its operating expenses.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

(continued)

During the review period, the Group successfully signed a 5-year sustainability-
linked loan facility agreement with 14 major international and local banks.
The syndicated facility received an overwhelming response from the market
and was significantly oversubscribed. The final size of the loan came to HK$7
billion, reflecting the Group’s efforts towards its sustainability goals, as well as
the banking industry’s trust and support of the Group’s environmental, social
and governance (ESG) work.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group employed a workforce of approximately
10,300 (31 December 2021: 9,900). In addition to offering competitive salary
packages, the Group grants share options and discretionary bonuses to
eligible employees based on the Group’s overall financial achievements and
employees’ individual performance.

FINANCIAL GUARANTEES CONTRACTS/
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(a) The Group provided guarantees with maximum exposure amounting
to approximately HK$148,361,000 (2021: HK$215,100,000) as at
31 December 2022 in respect of bank mortgage loans granted to
purchasers of the Group’s properties. In the opinion of the Directors,
the fair values of these financial guarantee contracts of the Group are
insignificant at initial recognition and the Directors consider that the
possibility of default of the parties involved is remote, accordingly, no
value has been recognised at the inception of the guarantee contracts
and at the end of the reporting period as at 31 December 2022 and
2021.

Guarantees are given to banks with respect to loans procured by
the purchasers of the Group’s properties. Such guarantees will be
released by banks upon delivery of the properties to the purchasers
and completion of the registration of the relevant mortgaged
properties.

EEEERERERLF

RBEERELXER

ﬁH

REESHRN  SERNE4REZHEE R
AR ITHREERFHNARHERERER
WEME - AXIREERN ISR EIEER
R SRS KIRHBEERAE - XWAM@LUNV
B REEEBNERAIBESRREE
RBITERFTHEEIRIFEEERE ﬁa
NERESG) A ER TIE -

ADER

RZEZZF+A=+— E'EIDA%%
BTN —8Z=BAZE—F+=ZA=1+—
BH: AFABA) %lMThuA 5 R E
B#FE - MEREQ TN BUERFER & T
BRI - EMELEERERERNES TEER
BT

EREREN AREE

(@) RZFEZZF+ZA=+—H ~%EH
HETAEEMEEROBITIRIBEER
REESERIER 148,361,000 7T
:?_fi 215,100,000 T ) ° &
BERE  AEBZEVHEEREHHD
FERGERBELTER  BEER
RBEZFEAONKES R - Bt - B
TR FRIE—FFZ A=A
B RERE ORI KRS B A
ERWEEREE -

BRI AEEYEERMEG MR
HTERT c ZEEREBREAERZMAY
¥ NERERIZBYEE B RIRITRE
B o

B FFR



O

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERE®RE

FINANCIAL GUARANTEES CONTRACTS/
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continueq)

(b)

On 3 August 2011, Annuity & Re Life Ltd (the “Petitioner”), the non-
controlling shareholder of Kingboard Copper Foil Holdings Limited
(“KBCF”), presented a petition in the Supreme Court of Bermuda
(the “Petition”) in respect of KBCF against its controlling shareholders
based on a complaint that the affairs of KBCF had been and/or
were being conducted in a manner which was oppressive or unfairly
prejudicial to the Petitioner.

The controlling shareholders of KBCF were eventually successful in
defending the case following a favourable judgement by the Bermuda
Court of Appeal dated 24 March 2017. Subsequently, the Petitioner
filed an appeal with the Privy Council. Such appeal was withdrawn
by the Petitioner following a settlement agreement reached by the
Petitioner and the respondents in the Petition.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the controlling
shareholders of KBCF had purchased all of the remaining issued and
outstanding ordinary shares in the capital of KBCF and KBCF has
become a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group.

On 22 October 2018, the Petitioner commenced an action in the
Supreme Court of Bermuda under Civil Jurisdiction 2018: No.359
against the respondents in the Petition based on purported breach of
the settlement agreement (the “Settlement Action”).

On 22 October 2020, the Group filed an application for striking out
part of the Petitioner’s claim under the Settlement Action (the “Strike-
Out Application”). The Strike Out Application was unsuccessful and
the substantive proceedings in the Settlement Action are continuing.

The trial of the Settlement Action was originally listed for a five-day
hearing from 16 January 2023 to 20 January 2023. On 7 December
2022, the Petitioner made an application for a Letter of Request to
be issued by the Supreme Court of Bermuda and addressed to the
Supreme Court of Singapore for its assistance in ordering against
two Singapore brokers for production of certain documents in
their possession, and for adjournment of the trial in the Settlement
Action for a period of at least two months. Further to a hearing
on 14 December 2022, the issue of the Letter of Request and the
adjournment were ordered by the Court. The trial of this matter is to
be relisted. Despite the adjournment, expert reports were exchanged
on 16 November 2022, and a joint expert report has been filed on or
around 22 December 2022.

Based on the advice of the Company's Bermuda Counsel to date,
the board is of the opinion that the Settlement Action appears to be
intrinsically defective and that the Company should have a more than
reasonable chance to succeed. Accordingly, no provision for liability
has been made in connection with the claim.
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PROSPECTS

The first two months of 2023 saw weak demand in the laminates market, but
with the relaxation of pandemic prevention measures and virus transmission
declining, consumer confidence is picking up, and is expected to move the
laminates industry forward to a new growth cycle. The new laminates plant
in Shaoguan, Guangdong Province, has been fully commissioned, adding
capacities for the Group in strategic locations. Commanding a more extensive
offering of laminate products, the Group will focus on the development of
high-quality products, supported by further upgrades in thin, fire-retardant,
high-frequency, high-speed, lead-free and halogen-free laminates. The Group
will also further its collaboration with high-end clients to drive certification for
the Group’s products. During the year, the Group actively added monthly
capacities of the upstream materials including 4,200 tonnes of glass yarn and
1,050 tonnes of copper foil in Lianzhou, Guangdong Province and 13 million
metres of glass fabric in Shaoguan, Guangdong Province. Further in the first
half of 2023, an additional monthly capacity of 750 tonnes of copper foil will
be introduced to the plant in Lianzhou, Guangdong Province. The quality
of the Group’s upstream materials is widely recognised by external clients,
and strategic cooperation agreements have been signed with some of these
upstream clients. The aforesaid expansion plan will serve the dual goal of
coping with internal business needs and driving external sales and earnings
from upstream materials. New growth momentum will also be derived from
plans to increase capacities for laminates and upstream materials in Thailand,
with a view to supporting the Group’s overseas expansion.

The Group is proactively deploying big data management to further enhance
operational efficiency. This will enable the Group to respond to market-
driven and customer-led demand changes in a faster and more precise
way. A modernized manufacturing execution system (“MES”) will also be
deployed to enhance production efficiency. Echoing the state’s aim for
peak carbon dioxide by 2030 and carbon neutrality by 2060, the Group is
establishing solar photovoltaic power projects within its facilities in stages.
It is expected that these projects will be able to recoup their costs within
five years, while continuing to bring long-term benefits to the Group. The
Group holds full confidence in its future development, as it enjoys the strong
leverage of its over thirty years of vertical operating experience from upstream
materials to laminates. Efforts in putting forward multi-year research and
development and technical enhancements are expected to bear fruit, with
notable progress achieved in recent years. In an end-user client forum held
in October 2022, the Group received strong client response which will add
further steam to forthcoming sales. With a significant cost advantage over its
peers, the Group has achieved consistent growth in market share, validating
its competitiveness. The Group is well recognised by clients for the quality
and timely delivery of laminates. Together with a growing number of active
accounts, the Group is also able to forge deeper collaboration with existing
clients. As always, the Group’s management will pledge their full efforts in
creating greater returns for shareholders.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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APPRECIATION S
On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to express my RAZRREFTSE N ASUKRE  BF iR
sincere gratitude to our shareholders, clients, banks, the management and 17T EEEBENREIBSE FUHAEEZERY
employees for their unreserved support to the Group during the past year. B S RO o
Cheung Kwok Wa TE
Chairman REIE
Hong Kong, 27 March 2023 BE ZE=F=A=++H
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

EERGREEBAEBZERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Wa, aged 59, is an executive Director and the Chairman
of the Company. He is a brother of Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung and Mr. Cheung
Kwok Ping, both being executive Directors and an uncle of Mr. Cheung Ka
Ho, an executive Director. Mr. Cheung joined Kingboard Holdings Limited
(“KHL”") in 1988 and has over 34 years experience in the marketing of a
wide range of industrial products. He is responsible for the overall strategic
planning of the Group and sets the general direction and goals for the Group.
Mr. Cheung was appointed as an executive Director in July 20086.

Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Keung, aged 70, is an executive Director and the
Managing Director of the Company. He is a brother of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa
and Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping, both being executive Directors, and an uncle of
Mr. Cheung Ka Ho, an executive Director. Mr. Cheung joined KHL in 1991
and has over 31 years experience in the laminate industry. He is responsible
for the overall implementation of the strategic plans and goals of the Group.
Mr. Cheung was appointed as an executive Director in July 20086.

Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Ping, aged 62, is an executive Director. He is a brother
of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa and Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung, and an uncle of Mr.
Cheung Ka Ho, each being an executive Director. Mr. Cheung joined KHL in
1988 and has over 34 years experience in marketing. He is mainly responsible
for the Group’s marketing operations and is also the general manager of the
laminate factories in Fogang and Shaoguan, the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC”). Mr. Cheung is also an executive director of Kingboard Copper
Foil Holdings Limited (“KBCF”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
whose shares were listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading
Limited (“SGX”) and had been delisted from SGX on 10 June 2019. Mr.
Cheung was appointed as an executive Director in May 20086.

Mr. LAM Ka Po, aged 66, is an executive Director. Mr. Lam is a co-founder
of KHL and has over 34 years experience in the sales and distribution of
laminates. Mr. Lam is also the chairman and executive director of KBCF. He
was appointed as an executive Director in November 2006.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES
EEREREBABZER

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. CHEUNG Ka Ho, aged 39, is an executive Director. Mr. Cheung is the
nephew of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa, Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung and Mr. Cheung
Kwok Ping, all being executive Directors. Mr. Cheung joined KHL in 2004
and is involved in the laminate marketing operations for the southern region
of China and also the general manager of glass epoxy laminate factory in
Thailand. He was appointed as an executive Director in July 20086.

Mr. ZHOU Pei Feng, aged 54, is an executive Director. He joined KHL in
1999 and is the general manager of four glass epoxy laminate facilities in
Shenzhen, Fogang, Jiangmen and Jiangyin, the PRC. Mr. Zhou holds a
Bachelor’s Degree in Mechanical Engineering from the Chongging University
and a Master’s Degree in Material Processing Engineering from Jilin Industrial
University (now known as Jilin University). He was appointed as an executive
Director in November 2006.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. LO Ka Leong, aged 49, is a non-executive Director. Mr. Lo is also a
member of the audit committee of the Company. He holds a Bachelor’s
Degree in Professional Accountancy from The Chinese University of Hong
Kong and is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Mr. Lo joined KHL in May 1999 and is in charge of KHL’s
company secretarial work. Prior to joining KHL, he was an accountant at
an international accounting firm. Mr. Lo was appointed as a non-executive
Director in July 2006.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. IP Shu Kwan, Stephen, GBS, JP, aged 71, joined as an independent
non-executive Director in May 2011. Mr. Ip is also the chairman of the
remuneration committee of the Company, and a member of the audit
committee and nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Ip is responsible
for providing independent opinion and judgment to our Board.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES
EEREREBABZER

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DlRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Ip is currently serving as independent non-executive director of six other
companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, namely China
Resources Cement Holdings Limited (stock code: 1313) since August 2008,
Lai Sun Development Company Limited (stock code: 488) since December
2009, Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited (stock code: 590) since
October 2011, Nameson Holdings Limited (stock code: 1982) since April
2018, Million Cities Holdings Limited (stock code: 2892) since June 2018
and C-MER Eye Care Holdings Limited (stock code: 3309) since November
2020. Mr. Ip also served as independent non-executive director of Synergis
Holdings Limited (stock code: 2340) from September 2008 to December
2017. From November 1973 to July 2007, Mr. Ip held various positions in
The Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, such
as Commissioner of Insurance, Commissioner for Labour, Secretary for
Economic Services and Secretary for Financial Services and Secretary for
Economic Development and Labour.

Mr. Ip graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a bachelor’s degree
in social sciences in September 1973, and he subsequently completed
the program for management development at Harvard University Graduate
School of Business Administration in November 1986.

Mr. Ip received the Gold Bauhinia Star award from The Government of the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in 2001 and he was appointed as
an unofficial Justice of the Peace in July 2007.

Mr. ZHANG Lu Fu, aged 66, was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company in January 2015. Mr. Zhang is also a member of the
nomination committee, audit committee and remuneration committee of the
Company. He has had the experience of working for the Chinese government
since 1987 including the Xin Hua News Agency branch network in Hong
Kong (Liaison Office of the Central People’s Government). Since 2000,
Mr. Zhang has worked for a number of Hong Kong listed companies and
charitable organisations on either full-time or part-time basis in the capacity
such as chief representative of Chinese affairs, Chinese affairs consultant,
chief secretary for Chinese affairs and chief executive.
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EEREREBABZER

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DlRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Zhang has been the director-general of the Friends of Hong Kong
Association and a member of the 4th Shenzhen Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference since 2008; he has been serving as
the council member of the China Overseas Friendship Association since 2013
and the council member of the Shenzhen Overseas Friendship Association as
well as Guangdong Overseas Friendship Association since 2015. Mr. Zhang
holds a Master degree in Philosophy from the Beijing Normal University and
is a research associate thereat. In 2011, Mr. Zhang was employed by the
Hong Kong Academy of Management and the Hong Kong Financial Services
Institute as a professor on a part-time basis. He has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director of Sino Biopharmaceutical Limited since
April 2015, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He
also served as an independent non-executive director of CT Environmental
Group Limited up to August 2020, a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange.

Mr. KUNG, Peter, aged 60, was appointed as independent non-executive
director of the Company on 7 June 2021. Mr. Kung is also the chairman
of the audit committee of the Company, and a member of the nomination
committee and remuneration committee of the Company. Mr. Kung is
a National Committee Member of the 13th and 14th Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference (CPPCC). He is currently Vice President
of Guangdong’s Association For Promotion of Cooperation between
Guangdong, Hong Kong & Macao and Guangdong-HK-Macao Bay Area
Entrepreneurs Union. Mr. Kung graduated from the University of Liverpool
in 1984. He is Associate Member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales and Fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He is also Fellow of the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong
and served as its President from 2007 to 2009. Mr. Kung became partner
of KPMG in 1997, Head of China Tax in Hong Kong and Southern China in
2001, Senior Partner of KPMG’s Shenzhen office in 2006 and Senior Partner
of KPMG’s Southern China region in 2010. He was Vice Chairman of KPMG
China from 2013 to 2017 and Senior Advisor to KPMG China from 2018 to
2019. Mr. Kung has been serving as an independent non-executive director
and chairman of the audit committee of ORIX Asia Limited, and a member of
the board and the chairman of the audit committee of eBRAM since 2020 and
2021, respectively. Mr Kung is appointed as an independent non-executive
director and chairman of A SPAC (HK) Acquisition Corp. and an independent
non-executive director of SmarTone Telecommunications Holdings Limited in
March 2022.
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EEREREBABZER

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DlRECTORS (continued)

Mr. HO Kwok Ming, aged 58, was appointed as independent non-executive
director of the Company on 1 January 2022. Mr. Ho is also the chairman
of the nomination committee of the Company, and a member of the audit
committee and remuneration committee of the Company. Mr. Ho has more
than 34 years of experience in corporate and commercial banking. Having
worked at Standard Chartered Bank for over 24 years, from 1991 to 1994
and from 2000 to 2021, he last served as Managing Director, Co-Head
of Client Coverage of Corporate, Commercial and Institutional Banking in
Hong Kong from 2020 to 2021. At Standard Chartered Bank, he also held
a number of other senior positions. From 2015 to 2020, he was Managing
Director, Regional Head of Commercial Banking, covering Greater China
and North Asia. He also served on the Regional Executive Committee and
was a member of the management team of Greater China and North Asia.
Prior to that, he was Managing Director, Head of Local Corporates and
International Corporates from 2012 to 2014. Mr. Ho was appointed as Vice-
Chairman of the Crystal Climate Charity Foundation in November 2022, Mr.
Ho was awarded an Executive MBA from the Kellogg School of Management
at Northwestern University and The Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology in 2004. He graduated from The Chinese University of Hong
Kong in 1987 with a bachelor’s degree in Business Administration.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. CHANG Guo Qiang, aged 55, joined KHL in 2002 and is the general
manager of the glass fabric factories in Qingyuan, Lianzhou and Shaoguan
the PRC. Mr. Chang graduated from Hunan Chang Sha University with a
Bachelor’s Degree in Textiles. Prior to joining KHL, he had over 16 years’
experience in the glass fabric industry.

Ms. Ng Mei Kam Kennis, aged 50, the Company Secretary, joined the
Group in 2004. Prior to that, she was a financial controller of Elec & Eltek
International Holdings Limited. Ms. Ng is a Fellow member of The Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants and member of Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. She holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Accountancy
from University of Sunderland in United Kingdom. She has over 28 years of
work experience in accounting.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE

The directors of the Company (“Directors”) are pleased to present their report
and the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The activities of its
principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 40 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 can
be found in the section headed “Chairman’s Statement” of this annual report,
which forms part of this Directors’ Report.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group is exposed to various risks and uncertainties which are specific to
the Group and/or the industries in which the Group operates. These risks may
materially affect the Group’s business operations, financial condition, results
of operations and business prospects. The Group has identified the key risks
and uncertainties as follows:

Operating at close to full capacity

The Group is operating at close to full capacity in its existing glass epoxy
laminates production plants. Accordingly, the Group’s ability to grow its
business is dependent upon it acquiring additional production capacity
through either the expansion of its existing plants or the building or acquisition
of additional plants. There can be no assurance that the Group will be able
to achieve its planned increases in production capacity in the near future or
at all. Failure to achieve this expansion in production capacity would limit the
Group’s ability to remain competitive and to maximise business opportunities
which may in turn have a material adverse effect on the financial condition,
results of operations and business prospects of the Group.
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BUSI N ESS REVI EW (continued)

Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continued)

Future expansion plans require additional funding and management
resources

The Group’s ability to obtain financing for its expansion plan will depend on
its financial condition, as well as on other factors that may be outside the
control of the Group, such as general market conditions and the political and
economic conditions. No assurance can be given that adequate funds will
be obtainable on acceptable terms, or at all. If capital cannot be obtained,
the Group may be forced to curtail its expansion plans, which could result in
an inability to successfully implement its business strategy and may have a
material adverse effect on the financial condition, results of operations and
business prospects of the Group.

Furthermore, the management may face challenges resulting from the
expansion plan of the Group, including but not limited to, upgrading or
expanding existing facilities and training personnel to manage and operate
those facilities. Such challenges could hinder the Group’s expansion plans
which may in turn have a material adverse effect on the financial condition,
results of operations and business prospects of the Group.

Intense competition in the industry

The business segments in which the Group operates are highly competitive.
No assurance can be given that the Group will be able to compete
successfully against its current competitors or emerging companies in
the future. If the Group fails to compete effectively, the Group’s results of
operations, financial condition and business prospects may be materially and
adversely affected.

Recent global market fluctuations and economic conditions

The recent global market fluctuations and economic conditions have
adversely affected economies and businesses around the world. A slowdown
in the global economy, in particular, the PRC economy, and the impact of
COVID-19 could lead to a reduction in demand for the Group’s products and
may materially and adversely affect its business operations, financial condition
and results of operations.

The risks and uncertainties stated above are not meant to be exhaustive.
There may be other risks or uncertainties that are not known to the Group or
which may not be material now but could turn out to be material in the future.
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BUS' N ESS REVIEW (continued)

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group is committed to achieving environmental sustainability. The Group
endeavours to comply with the relevant laws and regulations regarding
environmental protection and adopt effective measures to achieve efficient use
of resources, waste reduction and energy saving. For instance, the in-house
manufacturing facilities of the Group operate in compliance with the relevant
environmental rules and regulations. The Group reviews its environmental
policies on a regular basis.

In accordance with Rule 13.91 and the ESG Reporting Guide contained
in Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules, the Company’s Environmental,
Social and Governance Report is available on our website on the same
date of publishment of this annual report. The English and Chinese
versions of the ESG Report are available on the Company’s website at
https://www.kblaminates.com and the HKEXnews’s website at
www.hkexnews.hk. You may access the ESG Report by clicking “Investor”
on the home page of our website, then selecting “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” under “Reports” and viewing them requires Adobe®
Reader® or browsing through the HKEXnews'’s website.

Compliance with Relevant Laws and Regulations

The Group and its business operations are subject to various laws, rules and
regulations. The Company seeks to ensure adherence to such laws, rules
and regulations through various measures such as internal controls, approval
procedures, staff trainings and oversight of business operations at different
levels of the Group. The Board of Directors (“Board”) also monitors the
Group’s policies and practices on compliance with relevant laws, rules and
regulations on a regular basis.

So far as the Directors and senior management are aware, for the year
ended 31 December 2022, the Group has obtained the approvals, permits,
consents, licences and registrations required for its business and operations,
and there was no material breach of the relevant laws and regulations by our
Group that has a significant impact on the Group.

Key Relationships with Stakeholders

The Company understands the importance of maintaining a good relationship
with its employees, customers and suppliers in order to operate in a
sustainable manner and to meet its immediate and long-term goals.

The Company strongly believes that employees are its most important
and valuable assets. In order to recognise the performance of and provide
incentives for its employees, the Group reviews its policies on remuneration
and benefits for its employees regularly to ensure that they are in line with
the market standard. To maintain a close relationship with its employees, the
Group organises various activities for its staff to participate.
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BUS' N ESS REVIEW (continued)

Key Relationships with Stakeholders (continued)

The Company maintains sound relationships with its customers and suppliers
which enable the Group to foster long-term business benefits. The Directors
and senior management of the Company endeavours to exchange business
ideas and updates of the Group with its customers and suppliers from time to
time. To maintain its competitiveness, the Group aims to deliver high quality
products and services to its customers.

During the year, there was no material and significant dispute between the
Group and its employees, customers or suppliers.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 69.

An interim dividend of HK15.0 cents per share was declared to the
shareholders during the year. The Directors now recommend the payment of
a final dividend of HK20.0 cents per share to the shareholders on the register
of members of the Company on 20 June 2023 and the retention of the
remaining profit in the Company.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has a dividend policy, the objective of which is to allow
the shareholders to participate in the Company’s profits whilst retaining
adequate reserves to sustain the Group’s future growth. The declaration,
form, frequency and amount of dividend paid by the Company must be in
accordance with relevant laws and regulations and subject to the articles of
association of the Company. In deciding whether to declare any dividend,
the Board will take into account a number of factors, including the financial
results, the distributable reserves, the operations and liquidity requirements,
and the current and future development plans of the Company. The Board
will review the dividend policy of the Company as appropriate from time to
time.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements during the year in the issued share capital of the
Company are set out in Note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SHARES

During the year, there was no purchase, sale or redemption by the Company
or any of its subsidiaries of their listed securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

RESERVES

Details of the movements during the year in the reserves of the Group are set
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 73 to 75.

In addition to the retained profits of the Company, the share premium and
special reserve of the Company are also available for distribution to the
shareholders provided that the Company will be able to pay its debts as they
fall due in the ordinary course of business immediately following the date on
which any such distribution is proposed to be paid.

As at 31 December 2022, the sum of the retained profits, the share premium
and the special reserve of the Company amounted to HK$9,640,570,000
(2021: HK$8,102,685,000).

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the
shareholders by reason of their holding of Company’s shares.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group’s investment properties were revalued as at 31 December 2022,
resulting in decrease in fair value of HK$45,566,000 (2021: no change in fair
value) which has debited (2021: no effect) to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.

INVESTMENTS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company has in aggregate
approximately HK$1,526.1 million (2021: HK$1,734.6 million) investments
in debt and equity instruments, representing approximately 6% (2021:
approximately 6%) of the total assets of the Group as at 31 December 2022,
which consist of mostly securities listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange and bonds issued by companies also listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange. The Company acquired its investments through market
purchase. The Group will from time to time monitor the price movement of
prices in securities and bonds and may adjust its investment portfolio as and
when appropriate.
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INVESTMENTS (continueq)

The following table sets out the important debt investments held by the Group
as at 31 December 2022. None of the value of the following or any other
securities investments of the Company was on standalone or aggregate basis

|

EEEERERER QT

BE @

TREEAKENR T -_—_F+_-_A=+— H
RAEZBEEEBRRE - BERSHKR A2
AT e H A 3E %&é%ﬁ@ﬁ*%ﬁ%A

5% or more of the total assets of the Company as of the end of the reporting SHEAR R BEEERS% A | o
period.
Fair value
asat % to the Bond
Number of %eof  Investment  31December Group’s interestfor  Unrealised
Name of investments bonds held  bonds held cost 2022 total assets theyear  gain/(loss)
2822 {i55E
BEER  KEES tZR=t-A BEE EE  AERME/
REAR L[ Aflt  REMA  WATE Al EHAE (E&
000 HK$000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Th ThR TAn TAR Thn
Bonds listed on Singapore Exchange Securties Trading M E JIER T NRERR 26
Liited (*SG)) by Guangzhou R&F Propertes (3] Lz
() fixed coupon interest 6.5% per annum and maturtty (| EEEE05E ERZE - HERA
date in July 2025 (‘Group A Notes') “ECRELA(MIZR)) 3017 02% 17459 5,128 002% 012 (11,731)
(il fixed! coupon rate of 6.5% per annum and maturtty fi Eﬁﬁew‘zl EE R o
date in July 2027 (‘Group B Notes') I-HECA(BAZE]) 34,364 2.2% 252,016 56,958 0.23% 7,018 (195,268)
Guangzhou R&F Properties Co., Ltd. (stock code: 2777) (“GRFP”) is BNE i ERDERAT (RMHRSE : 2777)

principally engaged in the property sector.

In terms of bond investments, the Group retained a certain number of listed
bonds in order to generate stable and fixed interest income.

Based on the announcements of GRFP dated 17 June 2022, 30 June 2022
and 11 July 2022, GRFP conducted the Consent Solicitations in June 2022
to seek waivers of existing and potential consequential Defaults or Events of
Default under the Notes and to extend its debt maturity profile. GRFP offered
Eligible Holders of each Series of the Notes an opportunity to consent to,
among others, the extension of the maturity date of such Series of the Notes,
which will allow GRFP to improve its overall financial condition and maintain a
sustainable capital structure. In July 2022, GRFP completed the above debt
restructuring scheme. During the reporting period, the Group’s above GRFP
debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income portfolio
generated interest income amounting to HK$7,930,000.
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| NVESTM E NTS (continued)

During the reporting period, the Group did not acquire or sell the above
GRFP debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income.
According to above announcements, GRFP were not able to pay the bond
interests due to its adverse financial condition. The Group had performed an
impairment assessment on the debt instruments held under the expected
credit loss (“ECL”) model. The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default and loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default), with the assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default being based on historical data and forward-looking information.
The estimation of lifetime ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted
amount that is determined with the respective risks of default occurring as the
weights, and also with reference to the time value of money. In determining
lifetime ECL on the Group’s debt instruments for the period, the management
had taken into accounts factors including the defaults of the bond issuer in
making payments of interest and principal for its indebtedness, and forward-
looking information including the future macroeconomic conditions at places
where the bond issuer is operating.

The Group recognised impairment loss under ECL model of HK$186,501,000
in profit or loss on the above GRFP debt instruments at fair value through
other comprehensive income by reference to exposures at default, recovery
rate and adjustments for forward looking information.

Based on the announcements of GRFP dated 17 June 2022, 30 June 2022
and 11 July 2022: (i) The Group A Notes consisting of the 2022 Notes,
the July 2022 Notes and the November 2022 Notes (“GRFP 6.5% senior
notes due 2025”) were issued by GRFP in July 2022, and due in July 2025.
The GRFP 6.5% senior notes due 2025 are listed on the SGX and carry an
interest of 6.5% per annum and interests are payable semi-annually. The
net proceeds from the GRFP 6.5% senior notes due 2025 were mainly for
refinancing medium to long-term debt that will be due within one year and
offshore refinancing; and (ii) The Group B Notes consisting of the 2023
Notes, the February 2023 Notes and the August 2023 Notes (“GRFP 6.5%
senior notes due 2027”) were issued by GRFP in July 2022, and due in July
2027. The GRFP 6.5% senior notes due 2027 are listed on SGX and carry
an interest of 6.5% per annum and interests are payable semi-annually. The
net proceeds from the GRFP 6.5% senior notes due 2027 were mainly for
refinancing debt and for general corporate purposes of GRFP and offshore
refinancing.
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| NVESTM ENTS (continued)

According to the announcement of annual result for the year ended 31
December 2022 of GRFP, the net debt to total equity ratio of GRFP increased
1o 171% at 31 December 2022 from 130% at 31 December 2021.

For further information of the business and financial performance of the
above companies, please refer to the report and announcements referred
in the above paragraphs. Please also refer to the respective publications of
the above companies from time to time for updates on their prospects and
performances. The report and announcements referred above do not form
part of this annual report and do not constitute any publication issued by, or
any opinion, advice or view of, the Company or any of the Directors.

The Company’s equity instruments consist primarily of listed shares of a
cluster of wide-ranging primarily blue-chip listed issuers as at 31 December
2022. During the Period, the dividend income from equity instruments at
fair value through profit or loss is HK$50,509,000 and the amount of loss
on fair value changes of equity instruments at fair value through profit or
loss is HK$24,780,000. The Company’s investment strategy of these equity
investment is to make mid- to long-term investments in the prospects of
primarily reputable sizeable issuers on recognizable stock exchange for
creating values for the Group and its shareholders, with the risks involved
balanced and moderated by the diversity of the portfolio and the corporate
governance and disclosures of such issuers. There was no equities securities
investment in an investee company with a value of 5 per cent. or more of the
Group’s total assets as at 31 December 2022.

The Group’s Investment Strategy for These Investments

Our investment portfolio is comprised mainly of listed securities of a variety
of blue-chip listed companies and debt securities issued by creditable
listed companies in Hong Kong. Our investment objective is to generate
stable interest and dividend income and create value of the Group and its
shareholders.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Expenditure of HK$2,374,282,000 was incurred during the year primarily to
expand the production capacity of the Group. Details of all the changes in
property, plant and equipment during the year are set out in Note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2022 are
set out in Note 40 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa (Chairman)

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung (Managing Director)
Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping

Mr. Lam Ka Po

Mr. Cheung Ka Ho

Mr. Zhou Pei Feng

Non-executive Director:
Mr. Lo Ka Leong

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen

Mr. Zhang Lu Fu

Mr. Kung, Peter

Mr. Ho Kwok Ming (appointed on 1 January 2022)

Mr. Lau Ping Cheung, Kaizer (resigned on 1 January 2022)

In accordance with Article 130 of the Company’s articles of association,
Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung and Mr. Zhou Pei Feng, being executive
Directors, Mr. Lo Ka Leong, being non-executive Director and Mr. Ip Shu
Kwan, Stephen, being independent non-executive Directors, will retire
from directorship by rotation and will offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

Biographical details of the above Directors are set out in the section headed
“Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies”.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company has a service contract which is not terminable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

As at 31 December 2022, the interests of the Directors (including the
Managing Director of the Company) and their associates in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company and their associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFQO”)), as recorded in the register maintained by the Company
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers, were as follows:

Long position
(a) Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of the Company (“Shares”)

Name of Director Capacity

EEHR EEME

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa' Beneficial owner/interest of spouse

SREEE S ERBBEAN Tk

Mr. Cheung Ka Ho Beneficial owner

RRFEE EmBEAA

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung Beneficial owner

SR8 S A EmBEAA

Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping Beneficial owner

SREIF A EmBEAA

Mr. Lam Ka Po Beneficial owner

MERERLE EmBEAA

Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen Beneficial owner

Ba s EmBEAA

Mr. Kung, Peter Interest held jointly with his spouse
BEK{BAEE BB KRR B

Note:

1 75,000 shares were held by his spouse.

EHEEBERERBRLF

ESZ RN ER

RZBZZF+ZA=+—H  EF(REELR

AIMEFRLIE) REF BB ANEARAT RE
LR (T ERFBHFMAEKRI([FESHRPE

&G D EXVER) 2 Betn - HBRAI DSBS -
BARRNRIREZEFMAEKRINESRIGEFEZE
Ptk s - BB EMEITAESE
THEFRFHMEETR B ME AR R MR
ZHEIAT -

RAE
(@) AFAATKEMBOIETZLER (R
%)

Approximate
percentage of

Number of the issued
issued shares share capital
held of the Company
EARRE
e BT ERITREZ
R BB BYBEDH
9,517,000 0.3050%
216,000 0.0069%
2,502,000 0.0802%
3,000,000 0.0962%
3,303,000 0.1059%
350,000 0.0112%
60,000 0.0019%
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES (continueq)

Long position (continued)

(b) Share options of the Company (“Share Options”)

Name of Director

EEHR

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa
SREIZESE 4

Mr. Chang Kwok Keung
SREN8 S

Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping
SREI TS

Mr. Lam Ka Po
MERERE

Mr. Cheung Ka Ho
RRELE

Mr. Zhou Pei Feng
[EIEIE S

Mr. Ho Kwok Ming

fa] 95 55 4=

Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen

BRI
Mr. Zhang Lu Fu
REKREE
Mr. Kung, Peter
BEK{BAEL

Further details of the Share Options and the Directors’ interests in
them are available in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” and

Capacity
ERtE

Beneficial owner
EnlEEA
Beneficial owner
EnlEA
Beneficial owner
BB A
Beneficial owner
EnlEEA
Beneficial owner
E=EAA
Beneficial owner
E=fEAA
Beneficial owner
EnEEA
Beneficial owner
E=BEAA
Beneficial owner
BB A
Beneficial owner

BHEHEBA

Note 30 to the consolidated financial statements of this Report.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES (continueq)

Long position (continued)
(c) Non-voting deferred shares of HK$1 each of Kingboard
Laminates Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

Name of Director Capacity
EEpA RS

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa Beneficial owner
SREEE A BB A
Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung Beneficial owner
SREI5R SE A4 EmEaA
Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping Beneficial owner
SRE T A BEmlEB A
Mr. Lam Ka Po Beneficial owner
MERELE EmBEAA

Note: ~ None of the non-voting deferred shares of Kingboard Laminates Limited is
held by the Group. Such deferred shares carry no rights to receive notice
of or to attend or vote at any general meeting of Kingboard Laminates
Limited and have practically no rights to dividends or to participate in any
distribution on winding up.

(d) Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of Kingboard Holdings
Limited (“KHL”), the ultimate holding company of the Company

Name of Director Capacity

EEpA EREME

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa' Beneficial owner/Interest of spouse
o B FE S AR T ERmBE ATk

Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping? Beneficial owner/Interest of spouse
5% B 4 A2 EnlEa A ERER

Mr. Lam Ka Po Beneficial owner

MEKE RE BB A

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung Beneficial owner

o B 9% 5 A BmlEA A

Mr. Cheung Ka Ho Beneficial owner

RRFTE BEmEB A

Mr. Lo Ka Leong Interest of spouse

BRKE iRkt e

Notes:

1 74,400 KHL’s shares were held by his spouse.
2 36,000 KHL’s shares were held by his spouse.

EEEERERER QT

EECRMER e
R

(c)

(d)

RAREEREFTZHBARRERER
ERARBREEI1BIZERERE
IERAD

Number of non-voting
deferred shares held

s ERERELERAEE
(Note)

(M=)

1,058,000

529,000

952,200

581,900

s - AKESESERERERERARZ
BRFERLERD - ZFELERND L E

M AT EBUR BT B IR A R A BRI
RRGBEHIHFERAGENE L&

SR - TS B BB SR BB Ry
ERERDIRZ BERET -

RRABRBRAERARNEEEEERL A
((#ZEEE ) BREEI0CELER
4

Number Approximate
of issued percentage of the
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shares held capital of KHL
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_FREE T BRTRAY
ZTERROHE BABEIH
15,740,320 1.4196%
7,236,383 0.6526%
2,500,000 0.2255%
2,610,222 0.2354%
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50,000 0.0045%
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES (continueq)

Long position (continued)

Other than as disclosed above, none of the Directors (including the Managing
Director of the Company) nor their respective associate, had any interests or
short position in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) as at 31 December 2022.

TRANSACTION, ARRANGEMENT OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Connected Transactions” in this
report and in Note 39 to the consolidated financial statements, (a) there is no
transaction, arrangement or contract of significance subsisting during or at
the end of 31 December 2022 in which a Director or an entity connected with
a Director is or was materially interested, either directly or indirectly; (b) there
is no contract of significance between the Company or any of its subsidiaries,
and the controlling shareholder of the Company or any of its subsidiaries;
(c) there is no contract of significance for the provision of services to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries by the controlling shareholder of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

At 31 December 2022, the register of substantial shareholders maintained
by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO shows that, other than
the interests disclosed above in respect of certain Directors (including the
Managing Director of the Company), the following shareholders had notified
the Company of their relevant interests in the issued share capital of the
Company.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (continued)

Long position

Name of shareholders Notes Nature of interest
RER AR Mzt  RE=EME
Hallgain Management Limited (@), (b) Interest of controlled
(“Hallgain™) corporations
RESEE R
KHL (c) Beneficial owner
BEmlEA A
BEEE Interest of controlled
corporations
RESEE R
Jamplan (BVI) Limited (“Jamplan”) (d) Beneficial owner
BEmlER A
Interest of controlled
corporation
REGEEER
Capital Research and Management Investment manager
Company AR

L The letter “L” denotes a long position.

Notes:

(@) At 31 December 2022, (i) no shareholder of Hallgain was entitled to exercise, or
control the exercise of, directly or indirectly, one-third or more of the voting power
at general meetings of Hallgain, and Hallgain and its directors are not accustomed
to acting in accordance with any shareholder’s direction; and (i) Messrs. Cheung
Kwok Wa, Cheung Kwok Ping and Lam Ka Po, all of whom are Directors, are also
Directors of Hallgain.

(b) The interests are held by KHL directly and indirectly. KHL is owned as to
approximately 41% by Hallgain as at 31 December 2022.

() The interests are held by Jamplan directly and indirectly. Jamplan is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of KHL. Mr. Lam Ka Po, being a Director, is also a director of Jamplan.

(d) The interests are indirectly held by Jamplan through its wholly-owned subsidiary,

Kingboard Investments Limited (“KIL"). Messrs. Cheung Kwok Wa and Cheung
Kwok Ping, being Directors, are also directors of KIL.

EEEERERER QT

FERR@

RA
Approximate
percentage of the
issued share
Number of capital of
share capital held the Company
FIRE BT EARDEE#T
R BB REZBHOBEDL
2,301,434,000 (L) 73.76%
117,635,500 (L) 3.77%
2,183,798,500 (L) 69.99%
1,785,000,000 (L) 57.21%
398,798,500 (L) 12.78%
177,205,851 (L) 5.68%
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IR A A Hallgainli A& 1T sk HZ R iZ
THTTE =D — A L2 KA - TiHallgain k&
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HallgainZ E 55 -
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F+-A=+—H - HallgainE BB EEEL
41% 33 -
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has adopted the principals of
good corporate governance and complied with the code provisions in the
Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules
(the “Code”) throughout the year ended 31 December 2022, save for the
deviation that the non-executive Director and independent non-executive
Directors are not appointed for specific terms pursuant to paragraph A.4.1
of the Code. For further information on the Group’s corporate governance
practices during the year, please refer to the Corporate Governance Report in
this annual report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the Group’s largest customer was KHL Group, being
subsidiaries of KHL other than the Company or its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “KHL Group”), and the percentage of sales attributable
to the KHL Group was approximately 18%. The Group’s second largest
customer was Hallgain and its subsidiaries (the “Hallgain Group”), and
the percentage of sales attributable to the Hallgain Group was 2%. The
percentage of sales attributable to the Group’s five largest customers
combined was less than 30% of the Group’s total revenue. During the year,
the percentage of purchases attributable to the Group’s largest supplier and
the five largest suppliers combined were 12% and 29%, respectively. The
percentage of purchases attributable to KHL, one of the Group’s five largest
supplier was 4%.

As at 31 December 2022, KHL, a shareholder holding more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital and Hallgain, a controlling shareholder of KHL, had
beneficial interests in one of the Group’s five largest customers and one of the
Group’s five largest suppliers. Save as disclosed in this annual report, none
of the Directors, their associates or any shareholder (which to the knowledge
of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had an
interest in the major customers or suppliers noted above.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

In 2022, the Group had the following non-exempt continuing connected
transactions within the meaning of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules (which
also constituted related party transactions of the Company):

(a) KLHL/Hallgain SFA

On 25 October 2019, the Company and Hallgain entered into a
supply framework agreement pursuant to which the Group agreed to
supply copper and laminates to the Hallgain Group from 1 January
2020 to 31 December 2022.

On 19 July 2021, taking into account the increasing trend in the
transaction volume, the Company and Hallgain entered into a
new supply framework agreement (the “New KLHL/Hallgain SFA”)
pursuant to which the Group agreed to supply copper and laminates
to the Hallgain Group from 19 July 2021 to 31 December 2023.
Under the New KLHL/Hallgain SFA, the amount of copper and
laminates to be supplied is not fixed but is to be determined and
agreed between the parties from time to time. The actual quantity,
specification and price (with reference to the prevailing market price)
of the products under the New KLHL/Hallgain SFA will be subject to
the individual orders placed by the Hallgain Group with the Group.
The proposed annual cap for the three years ending 31 December
2023 are HK$625,000,000, HK$687,000,000 and HK$755,000,000,
respectively. Please refer to the Company’s joint announcement
dated 19 July 2021 for further information.

The transactions contemplated under the KLHL/Hallgain SFA
constituted continuing connected transactions for the Company
pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules on the basis that
Hallgain, through its interests in KHL, is a substantial shareholder of
the Company, and hence a connected person of the Company under
the Listing Rules.

EHEEBERERBRLF
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b)

KLHL/Hallgain PFA

On 25 October 2019, the Company and Hallgain entered into a
purchase framework agreement pursuant to which the Group agreed
to purchase materials for production of laminates such as drill bits and
machineries from the Hallgain Group for a term of three years from 1
January 2020 to 31 December 2022.

On 19 July 2021, taking into account the increasing trend in the
transaction volume, the Company and Hallgain entered into a new
purchase framework agreement pursuant to which the Group
agreed to purchase machineries for production of laminates from
the Hallgain Group from 19 July 2021 to 31 December 2023 (the
“New KLHL/Hallgain PFA”). Under the New KLHL/Hallgain PFA, the
amount to be purchased is not fixed but is to be determined and
agreed between the parties from time to time. The actual quantity,
specification and price (with reference to the prevailing market price)
of the machineries under the New KLHL/Hallgain PFA will be subject
to the individual orders placed by the Group with the Hallgain Group.
The proposed annual cap for the three years ending 31 December
2023 are HK$570,000,000, HK$610,000,000 and HK$653,000,000,
respectively. Please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 19
July 2021 for further information.

The transactions contemplated under the KLHL/Hallgain PFA
constituted continuing connected transactions for the Company
pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules on the basis that
Hallgain, through its interests in KHL, is a substantial Shareholder,
and hence a connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(c)

KLHL/KHL MPA

On 25 October 2019, the Company and KHL entered into a materials
purchase framework agreement pursuant to which the Group agreed
to purchase Chemicals from the KHL Group for a term of three years
from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2022.

On 19 July 2021 and 21 November 2019, taking into account the
increasing trend in the transaction volume, the Company and KHL
entered into a new materials purchase framework agreement (the
“New KLHL/KHL MPA”) pursuant to which the Group agreed to
purchase Chemicals from the KHL Group from 19 July 2021 to 31
December 2023. Under the New KLHL/KHL MPA, the amount of
Chemicals to be purchased by the Group are not fixed but are to
be determined and agreed between the parties from time to time.
The actual quantity, specification and the price (with reference to
prevailing market price) of the Chemicals under the New KLHL/KHL
MPA will be subject to the individual orders placed by Group with
the KHL Group. The proposed annual cap for the three years ending
31 December 2023 are HK$1,200,000,000, HK$1,284,000,000 and
HK$1,374,000,000, respectively. Please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated 19 July 2021 for further information.

The transactions contemplated under the KLHL/KHL MPA constituted
continuing connected transactions for the Company pursuant to
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules on the basis that KHL is the ultimate
holding company of the Company and that KHL and members of
the KHL Group are accordingly connected persons of the Company
under the Listing Rules.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(d)

KLHL/KHL SSFA

On 25 October 2019, the Company and KHL entered into a supply
and service framework agreement pursuant to which the Group
agreed to supply laminates and related upstream component
materials and to provide drilling services to the KHL Group for a term
of three years from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2022.

On 19 July 2021, taking into account the increasing trend in the
transaction volume, the Company and KHL entered into a new supply
and service framework agreement (the “New KLHL/KHL SSFA”)
pursuant to which the Group agreed to supply laminates and related
upstream component materials to the KHL Group from 19 July 2021
to 31 December 20283. Under the New KLHL/KHL SSFA, the amount
of laminates and related upstream component materials to be sold
and the drilling services to be provided by the Group are not fixed
but are to be determined and agreed between the parties from time
to time. The actual quantity, specification and price (with reference
to the prevailing market price) of laminates and related upstream
component materials and the drilling services to be provided under
the New KLHL/KHL SSFA will be subject to the individual orders
placed by the KHL Group with the Group. The proposed annual cap
for the three years ending 31 December 2023 are HK$4,900,000,000
HK$5,243,000,000 and HK$5,610,000,000, respectively. Please refer
to the Company’s announcement dated 19 July 2021 and the circular
of the Company dated 19 July 2021 for further information.

The transactions contemplated under the KLHL/KHL SSFA
constituted continuing connected transactions for the Company
pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules on the basis that KHL
is the ultimate holding company of the Company and that KHL and
members of the KHL Group are accordingly connected persons of
the Company under the Listing Rules.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

The independent non-executive Directors had reviewed the above continuing
connected transactions and confirmed that the transactions were entered
into in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group, on normal
commercial terms and in accordance with the terms of the agreements
governing such transactions that were fair and reasonable and in the interest
of the Company and the shareholders as a whole.

The Company considers that Hallgain and KHL, owner of approximately
39% of issued shares of KHL as of the date of the above mentioned 2022
agreements and controlling shareholder of the Company, respectively, are
reliable business co-operation partners and such co-operations are beneficial
to the business of the Company and the Group as a whole. The Company
considers that the above continuing connected transactions facilitate its
business plan and will improve the competitiveness and the quality of the
laminates manufactured by the Company.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing
connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other
Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference
to Practice Note 740 (Revised) “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued an unqualified
letter containing the auditor’s findings and conclusions in respect of the
continuing connected transactions for the year ended 31 December 2022
disclosed by the Group on pages 33 to 36 of the annual report in accordance
with Listing Rule 14A.38. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided
by the Company to the Stock Exchange. The auditor has confirmed that
nothing has come to its attention that causes it to believe that the continuing
connected transactions entered into by the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022:

(a) have not been approved by the Board;

(b) were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing
policies of the Group;

(c) were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with the
relevant agreements governing the transactions; and

(d) have exceeded the cap.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

The annual caps and actual transaction amounts of the continuing connected
transactions disclosed above for the year ended 31 December 2022 are set
out in the table below.

Sales of goods to the KHL Group under the
New KLHL/KHL SSFA RIGIERBAEEE ™

Purchase of goods from the KHL Group under
the New KLHL/KHL MPA

BT EEER, R R

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

TR EXFIHBEZHE—S—_—F+=A
=t HIFENHBERERGZFELR X

ERRHEHE -

IRIEITRETA AR, S R MR
R RE S MRS

Sales of laminates and copper foil to Hallgain Group 1R #E#H 2 8TE Bk, Hallgainfit EIEZR

under the New KLHL/Hallgain
SFA FiEpE]

Purchase of machineries from the Hallgain Group
under the New KLHL/Hallgain PFA

The Directors confirm that the Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect
of transactions during the year ended 31 December 2022.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group does not have any plans for material investments and capital assets
as at the date of this report.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not have any other material
acquisitions and disposal of subsidiaries, associated companies or joint
ventures for the year ended 31 December 2022.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the
Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merits, qualifications and
competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are recommended by the Remuneration
Committee after consultation with the Chairman having regard to the relevant
Director’s experience, responsibility and the time devoted to the business of
the Group.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to
Directors and eligible employees. Details of the share option scheme are set
out in Note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

The remunerations paid to the senior management (excluding the Directors)
during the year ended 31 December 2022 were within the following bands:

EHEERERBRAA
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Number of senior

Bands management
&= SREERBAZ
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ %1,000,0007 7T 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,001/ 7C22,000,000/8 7T -
HK$2,000,001 or above 2,000,001 T8k A £ 1
Total: st 2

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The share option scheme of the Company (the “KLHL Scheme”) was
approved by the shareholders of the Company and the shareholders of KHL
on 29 May 2017 and the KLHL Scheme took effect upon obtaining approval
from the Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange on 2 November 2017.
The purpose of the KLHL Scheme was to provide incentive or reward to
the eligible participants of the KLHL Scheme for their contribution to, and
continuing efforts to promote the interests of the Group.

Particulars of the share option scheme of the Company (including the
exercise price, exercisable period and vesting period) are set out in Note 30
to the consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE OPT'ON SCH EME (continued)

The following table discloses movements in the share options during the year:

Outstanding
as at 1 January

BIREST S
TREBERENE N2 8

Outstanding
Granted as at 31 December

2022 during the year 2022
R-EBE-—F S - =
—HA—H +=A=+—8H
i RATHE REARH e RATHE

Category 1: Directors ERECI-
Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa SRENEE S A - 6,000,000 6,000,000
Mr. Cheng Kwok Keung SR ENOR SE A - 6,000,000 6,000,000
Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping oREF A - 6,000,000 6,000,000
Mr. Lam Ka Po MRELE - 6,000,000 6,000,000
Mr. Cheung Ka Ho RRRE - 2,000,000 2,000,000
Mr. Zhou Pei Feng [EIE g e - 1,000,000 1,000,000
Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen EHBEE - 500,000 500,000
Mr. Zhang Lu Fu REKRIE - 500,000 500,000
Mr. Kung, Peter BB - 500,000 500,000
Mr. Ho Kwong Ming IS S & - 500,000 500,000
- 29,000,000 29,000,000
Category 2: Employees (Note) Fo% - BEE (M) - 7,900,000 7,900,000
- 36,900,000 36,900,000

Note:  Including 5,900,000 Share Options held by spouse of Mr. Ho Yin Sang, a director of
KHL. The spouse of Mr. Ho Yin Sang is an employee of the Group.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Other than as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the Company,
its holding companies, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a party
to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles
of association although there are no restrictions against such rights under
company laws in the Cayman Islands.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company had maintained a sufficient public float throughout the year
ended 31 December 2022.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

According to the articles of association of the Company, every Director,
auditor or other officer of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified
out of the assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities incurred or
sustained by him as a Director, auditor or other officer of the Company in
defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which judgement is
given in his favour, or in which he is acquitted.

Appropriate insurance covering for the Directors’ and senior management’s

liabilities arising out of activities of the Group has been arranged by the
Company.

EQUITY LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreement was entered into by the Group, or existed during
the year ended 31 December 2022.
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AUDITOR =B A

A resolution to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of the BEIEEE) ¢ BIEMR @ EHATTT AR RIAZEAD
Company will be proposed for approval by shareholders at the forthcoming ZRERBNANREEREBFEARZ HESE
annual general meeting of the Company. LAGERAR R HEAE ©

On behalf of the Board AEEGMm

Cheung Kwok Wa TE

CHAIRMAN REREE

27 March 2023 ZE=F=A=++H
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The board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company recognises the
importance of corporate governance practice of a listed company. It is in
the interest of the stakeholders and shareholders for a listed company to
operate in a transparent manner with the adoptions of various self-regulatory
policies, procedures and monitoring mechanisms and a clear definition of
accountability of directors and management.

The Company has adopted and complied with the code provisions as set
out in the Corporate Governance Code under Appendix 14 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”) throughout the year ended 31 December 2022.

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by directors on terms no less exacting than the required
standard of the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”).
Having made specific enquiry of all directors, each director has confirmed
that he has complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code
and the code of conduct regarding director’s securities transactions adopted
by the Company throughout the year ended 31 December 2022.

A. DIRECTORS

The Board

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Group
and is entrusted with the responsibility to supervise the management
of the business and the affairs of the Group. The Group has adopted
internal guidelines which set forth matters that require the Board’s
approval. Apart from its statutory responsibilities, the Board approves
the Group’s strategic plan, annual budget, key operational initiatives,
major investments and funding decisions. It also reviews the Group’s
financial performance, identifies principal risks of the Group’s business
and ensures implementation of appropriate systems to manage these
risks. Daily business operations and administrative functions of the
Group are delegated to the management.
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DIR ECTO RS (continued)

The Board (continued)

The Board meets regularly and as warranted by particular
circumstances. Notices and agendas are prepared by the Company
Secretary as delegated by the Chairman of the Board and distributed
to the Board members within reasonable time before the meetings.
Relevant meeting papers are also sent to Directors well before the
meetings, informing them of the background and giving explanations
on matters to be brought before the Board. All Directors are given the
opportunity to include matters in the agendas for Board meetings. To
ensure the Directors make decisions objectively and in the interests of
the Company, the Company’s articles of association provide that any
Director shall abstain from voting on any resolutions in which he/she
or his/her associates is/are materially interested nor be counted in
the quorum of the meeting. Drafts and final versions of the minutes
of Board meetings are sent to all Directors for their comment and
records respectively within a reasonable time after the board meeting
and are kept by the Company Secretary.

During the year under review, the Board had held 4 meetings and the
Company held one general meeting. The Directors’ attendance at the
Board meetings, Board committees’ meetings and general meetings
was as follows:

Board
Meeting
Ezg
EE
Number of Meeting g1 4
Executive Directors HITEE
Cheung Kwok Wa (Chairman) REE(EE) 4
Cheung Kwok Keung SREI
(Managing Director) (EEH1E) 4
Cheung Kwok Ping KB 4
Lam Ka Po HWRE 4
Cheung Ka Ho FRR 4
Zhou Pei Feng [F5E 4
Non-executive Director HHTEE
Lo Ka Leong EZXn 4
Independent non-executive Directors 7351772 %
Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen 3P 4
Zhang Lu Fu FEX 4
Kung, Peter ke 4
Ho Kwok Ming e
(appointed on 1 January 2022) (R=ZE-—%—F—HEZT) 4

Note:

1 “General Meeting” refers to the Company’s annual general meeting held on
23 May 2022.
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DIR ECTO RS (continued)

The Board (continued)

The Directors have observed the importance of directing and
supervising the Company’s affairs at a more regular interval. After
consulting all Directors, Board meetings have been preliminarily
scheduled to be held at quarterly interval and not less than 4 times in
the coming year.

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in D.3.1
of the Code.

During the year under review, the Board met once to review the
Company’s corporate governance policies and practices, training
and continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management, the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance of the Model
Code and the Company’s compliance with the Code and disclosure
in this Corporate Governance Report.

Division and responsibilities

The Board is headed by the Chairman whose role differs from that of
the Managing Director of the Company. The roles of the Chairman
and Managing Director are segregated and are not exercised by the
same individual.

The duties of the Chairman include (but not limited to) the following:

o scheduling meetings that enable the Board to perform
its duties and responsibilities and to ensure all key and
appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in a timely
manner without interfering the Company’s operations;

o preparing meeting agendas after consultations with the
Managing Director;

° exercising control over quality, quantity and timeliness of the
flow of information between management and the Board and
to ensure decisions are made on a fully informed basis by the
Directors; and

o assisting in ensuring compliance with the Listing Rules and
the Company’s guidelines on corporate governance.

The Managing Director is mainly responsible for the overall strategic
planning and day-to-day management of the Group.
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DIR ECTO RS (continued)

Division and responsibilities (continued)

The Board currently comprises 11 members, four of whom are
independent non-executive Directors who are expressly identified in
all corporate communications that disclose the names of Directors.
At least one of the independent non-executive Directors possesses
appropriate professional qualifications (or accounting or related
financial management expertise) as required by the Listing Rules. The
composition of the Board as of the report date is as follows:

Executive Directors

Cheung Kwok Wa (Chairman)

Cheung Kwok Keung (Managing Director)
Cheung Kwok Ping

Lam Ka Po

Cheung Ka Ho

Zhou Pei Feng

Non-executive Director
Lo Ka Leong

Independent non-executive Directors

Kung, Peter

Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen

Zhang Lu Fu

Lau Ping Cheung, Kaizer (resigned on 1 January 2022)
Ho Kwok Ming (appointed on 1 January 2022)

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa, Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung and Mr. Cheung
Kwok Ping are brothers and are uncles of Mr. Cheung Ka Ho.

Currently, the non-executive Director and the independent non-
executive Directors were not appointed for specific terms but are
subject to retirement by rotation and are eligible for re-election. The
Board considers that although such arrangement deviates from
paragraph A.4.1 of the Code, sufficient measures have been taken to
ensure that the Company’s corporate governance practices are no
less exacting than those in the Code.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
as required under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board also
considers that the independent non-executive Directors remain
independent.
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DIR ECTO RS (continued)

Division and responsibilities (continued)

The Board comprises Directors who collectively provide core
competencies, sales and marketing experience and technical
knowledge in laminates and its upstream materials, administration
and management experience in the PRC factories, financial
and accounting skill, as well as in-house advice to comply with
international laws and regulations. The current Board size of eleven
Directors with a balance of skills and experience is appropriate for
effective decision making, taking into account the nature and scope
of the operations of the Company.

Appointment, re-election and removal

The Company’s articles of association set out a formal, considered
and transparent procedure for the appointment of new Directors to
the Board. Any Director appointed by the Board either to fill a casual
vacancy or as addition to the Board shall retire and be eligible for re-
appointment at the next following general meeting after appointment.
At every annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors, including
the Chairman, shall be subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election by Shareholders. The Directors appointed by the Board who
are subject to retirement and re-election as mentioned above shall
be taken into account in calculating the total number of Directors for
the time being but shall not be taken into account in calculating the
number of Directors who are to retire by rotation. All Directors eligible
for re-election shall have their biographical details made available
to the Shareholders to enable them to make an informed decision
on their re-election. Any appointment, resignation, removal or re-
designation of Director shall be timely disclosed to the Shareholders
by announcement and the reasons given by the Director for this
resignation shall be included in the announcement.
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DIR ECTO RS (continued)

Responsibilities of Directors

The Company and the Board require each Director to keep abreast of
his responsibilities as a Director of the Company and of the conduct,
business activities and development of the Company. Every Director
is required to devote sufficient time and involvement in the affairs of
the Board and the material matters of the Company and to serve
the Board with care and due diligence in accordance with his own
expertise, qualification and professionalism.

Every newly appointed Director shall receive a comprehensive, formal
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his appointment. All
Directors shall be updated and briefed on continuing professional
development as is necessary to ensure that they have a proper
understanding of the operations and the business of the Company
and that they are fully aware of their responsibilities under the
applicable laws and regulations. The Board has a procedure for
Directors, either individually or as a group, in the furtherance of their
duties, to take independent professional advice, if necessary, at
the Company’s expenses to enable and facilitate the Directors to
make well-considered decisions. Appropriate insurance coverage
for Directors’ and officers’ liability has been arranged against for any
possibility of legal action to be taken against the Directors and the
management.

Pursuant to A.6.5 of the Code, Directors should participate in
appropriate continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to
the Board remains informed and relevant.

A briefing session was organised for the Directors for the year
under review to update the Directors on the latest Listing Rules and
statutory disclosure obligation for listed companies to disclose inside
information under Part XIVA of the SFO.
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A. DlRECTORS (continued)

Responsibilities of Directors (continued)

During the year under review, the Directors also participated in the

following trainings:

Name of Directors

Executive Directors:

Cheung Kwok Wa (Chairman)

Cheung Kwok Keung (Managing Director)
Cheung Kwok Ping

Lam Ka Po

Cheung Ka Ho

Zhou Pei Feng

Non-executive Director:
Lo Ka Leong

Independent non-executive Directors:
Kung, Peter
Ilp Shu Kwan, Stephen
Zhang Lu Fu
Lau Ping Cheung, Kaizer (resigned on
1 January 2022)

Ho Kwok Ming (appointed on 1 January 2022)
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The Directors confirmed that they have complied with A.6.5 of the

Code on Directors’ training.

Supply of and access to information

The management of the Company has an obligation to furnish the
Board with complete, adequate and appropriate information in
such form and such quality in a timely manner so as to enable them
to make an informed decision and to discharge their duties and
responsibilities as Directors. All the Directors are given separate and
independent access to the Company’s senior management.

EEWR  HEETEEEREIIZT
BIZEA.B.516 ©

BERREARER
ARRERBEREERERESSRMH
TE  ARLEERANEENEFR
UNEEESELANBERERETIERAE
FZBBREL - 2REFHAERR
BYEBARARREEAR

B FFR



O

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEERRE

A.

DIR ECTO RS (continued)

Supply of and access to information (continued)

All the Directors are given separate and independent access to
the Company Secretary, whose role includes ensuring that Board
procedures are observed and followed, and that applicable rules and
regulations are complied with. The Company Secretary attends all the
meetings of the Board and Board committees and is responsible for
drafting minutes and keeping minutes records which can be accessed
by any Director for inspection.

BOARD INDEPENDENCE

The Board reviewed and considered that the following key features or
mechanisms under Company’s governance structure are effective in
ensuring that independent views and input are provided to the Board.

Board and committees’ structure

o The Company has been steered by a Board comprising
almost half of non-executive Directors. The Board comprises
six executive Directors, one non-executive Director and four
independent non-executive Directors.

° Members of all board committees are non-executive Director
or independent non-executive Directors.

Independent non-executive Directors’ tenure

o The directors’ nomination policy of the Company sets a
maximum tenure of nine consecutive years for independent
non-executive Directors unless the Board determines that
such Director is still independent.

Independent non-executive Directors’ remuneration

° Independent non-executive Directors receive fixed fee(s) for
their role as members of the Board and Board committee(s) as
appropriate.
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A. DlRECTORS (continued)

BOARD INDEPENDENCE (continued)

Appointment of independent non-executive Directors

o In assessing suitability of the candidates, the Nomination
Committee will review their profiles, including their qualification
and time commitment, having regard to the Board’s
composition, the Directors’ skill matrix, the list of selection
criteria approved by the Board, its nomination policy and the
board diversity policy.

Annual review of independent non-executive Directors’
independence
° The Board assessed the annual independence
confirmation received from each independent non-
executives Director, having regard to the criteria under
Rule 3.13 of the Main Board Listing Rules.

Conflict management

° The Articles of Association of the Company and internal
guidelines of the Company provide guidance to the
Directors on avoiding conflicts of interest and on the
circumstances under which appropriate action(s) shall
be taken by the director in conflict.

Professional advice

o To facilitate proper discharge of their duties, all Directors
are entitled to seek advice from the company secretary
or the in-house legal team as well as from independent
professional advisers at the Company’s expense.

Board evaluation

o The quality and efficiency of discussions at Board
meetings are assessed during the annual evaluation of
the Board’s performance.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The level and make-up of remuneration and disclosure

The Board has set up a remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”) which comprises four independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen (Chairman), Mr. Kung,
Peter, Mr. Zhang Lu Fu, Mr. Lau Ping Cheung, Kaizer (resigned on 1
January 2022) and Mr. Ho Kwok Ming (appointed on 1 January 2022),
to formulate policies and procedures for determining the remuneration
of Directors and senior management and other remuneration related
matters. The Remuneration Committee is set up with written terms of
reference which set out clearly its duties and authorities delegated by
the Board, including the following duties:

° formulate the framework or Board policy for determining
the remuneration of the Company’s Board and senior
management. The objective of such policy should ensure
that members of the senior management of the Company are
provided with appropriate incentives to encourage enhanced
performance and are, in a fair and reasonable manner,
rewarded for their individual contributions to the success of
the Company;

° recommend to the Board specific remuneration packages
including, where appropriate, allowances, bonuses, benefits
in kind, incentive payments, and share options, if any, for
each executive Director and the Managing Director and such
other members of senior management as it is designated to
consider;

° recommend targets for any performance-linked pay schemes
operated by the Company, taking into account remuneration
and employment conditions within the industry and in
comparable companies; and

° recommend to the Board the remuneration of non-executive
Directors (including independent non-executive Directors)
taking into account factors such as effort, time spent and
responsibilities.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continueq)

The level and make-up of remuneration and disclosure

(continued)

When recommending the remuneration package for each individual
Director, the Remuneration Committee will consider his qualification
and experience, specific duties and responsibilities assigned to him
by the Board and the prevailing market packages available for similar
position. The emoluments of the Directors on a named basis for the
year under review are set out on pages 149 to 152 in Note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements. Review and comparison in terms
of Directors’” emoluments package and net profits of the Group are
made from time to time with comparable listed industrial companies
with similar capitalisation to the Group. Considering all such factors,
the Remuneration Committee would make recommendation on the
remuneration package for each Director after consultation with the
Chairman.

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee had
convened two meetings to consider the performance, and the
remuneration policy and packages for all Directors and senior
management.

The Remuneration Committee has also approved the grant of share
options under the Scheme to its directors and employees of the
Group on 23 June 2022. Taking into account the performance and
contributions of such directors and employees during the year, the
Remuneration Committee considered appropriate to grant such
options as a reward for their services and an incentive for them to
continue to contribute to the growth of the Group’s business.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
Company’s account which gives a true and fair view of the financial
position of the Company. The Company deploys appropriate and
sufficient resources to prepare unaudited half-yearly account and
audited yearly account. Senior management is required to present
and explain the financial reporting and matters that materially affect or
may have material impact on the financial performance and operations
of the Company to the Audit Committee and the Board and respond
to the queries and concerns raised by the Audit Committee and
the Board to their satisfaction. The statement of the auditor of the
Company about their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated
financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on
pages 63 to 68 of this annual report.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

Risk Management, Internal Control and Responsibility
of the Board

The Board acknowledges its accountability to the risk management
and internal control systems and its responsibility to review the
effectiveness of the systems. The Board also clarifies that the system
are purported to manage, but not eliminate, the risk of failure to
fulfil business objectives, and can only provide reasonable but not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Management is responsible for setting an appropriate tone from
the top, performing risk assessments, and owning the design,
implementation and maintenance of internal control. Essential to such
risk management and internal control systems are well defined policies
and procedures that are properly documented and communicated to
employees.

The Group has in place a system of internal controls, the key elements
of which are as follows:

. formal policies and procedures are in place, including the
documentation of key processes, procedures and rules
relating to the delegation of authorities. These allow the
monitoring of controls and restrict the unauthorised use of the
Group’s assets;

° experienced and suitably qualified staff take responsibility for
important business functions. Annual appraisal procedures
have been established to maintain standards of performance;

° monthly business and financial reports are prepared, providing
relevant, timely, reliable and up-to-date financial and other
information; budget variances are investigated as appropriate;
and

° an internal audit function, which reports directly to the Audit
Committee, is in place to determine whether the above
procedures are properly carried out.

The Group has established an internal audit department to review
the financial condition, operational condition, risk management,
compliance control and internal control of the Group. For 2022, the
Board has conducted a review on the effectiveness of the above
internal control system of the Group including financial, operational
and compliance controls and risk management and will conduct
such review at least once a year, so as to ensure the Shareholders’
investment and the Company’s assets are properly safeguarded.
The Board is satisfied that, based on the information supplied,
coupled with its own observations and with the assistance of the
Audit Committee, the present internal controls and risk management
processes are satisfactory, effective and adequate for the nature and
size of the Group’s operations and business.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

Risk Management, Internal Control and Responsibility

of the Board (continued)

In addition to the internal control system, the Board has established
an internal audit team that reports directly to the Audit Committee.
The internal audit team will independently audit various functions,
operations and systems that exist in the Company according to
their weight of significance to the Company as well as the priority
list recommended by the Audit Committee. The internal audit team
will prepare an internal audit report highlighting the deficiencies and
weaknesses in existing audit functions, operations and systems for
discussion by the Audit Committee and the Board, and based on
these findings the Board will instruct senior management to take
appropriate corrective and improvement actions.

Audit Committee

The Board has established the Audit Committee with specific written
terms of reference setting out duties, responsibilities and authorities
delegated to them by the Board. The major duties and responsibilities
of the Audit Committee include the followings:

° review with the external auditor, the audit plan;

. review with the external auditor, their evaluation of the system
of internal accounting controls;

. review the scope and results of the internal audit procedures;

. review the statement of financial position and statement of
profit or loss of the Company and the consolidated statement
of financial position and statement of profit or loss of the
Group and submit them to the Board;

o nominate persons as auditor;

. review with the internal and external auditors their findings on
their evaluation of the Company’s system of internal controls
for the purpose of assisting the Board in developing policies
that would enhance the controls and operating systems of the
Company; and

o review connected transactions and examine the adequacy
of internal controls of the Group as part of the standard
procedures.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

The Audit Committee assists the Board to fulfil its oversight role
over the Group’s risk management and internal control functions
by reviewing and evaluating the effectiveness of our overall risk
management and internal control systems at least annually.

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems are
embedded within our business processes so that its functions as
an integral part of the overall operation of the Group. The systems
comprises a comprehensive organisation structure with assignment
of definite accountabilities and delegation of corresponding authorities
to each post. Based on our organisation structure, a reporting system
has been developed including reporting channels from division heads
of business units to the Board.

The risk management and internal control systems and accounting
system of the Group are aimed at identifying and evaluating
the Group’s risk and formulate risk mitigation strategies, and to
provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against
unauthorised use or disposition, transactions are executed in
accordance with management’s authorisation, and the accounting
records are reliable for preparing financial information used within the
business for publication, maintaining accountability for assets and
liabilities and ensuring the business operations are in accordance with
relevant legislation, regulations and internal guidelines.

The Group has a defined organisational structure with clear clearly
lines of responsibility and authority. Each department is accountable
for its daily operations and is required to report to executive Directors
on a regular basis. Policies and procedures are set for each
department, which include establishing and maintaining effective
policies to enhance risks identifications to which the Group is exposed
and taking appropriate actions to manage such risks, establishing a
structure with defined authorities and proper segregation of duties;
monitoring the strategic plan and performance; designing an effective
accounting and information system; controlling price sensitive
information; and ensuring swift actions and timely communication
with our stakeholders.

Procedures and Controls over Handling and Dissemination of
Inside Information

With respect to the procedures and internal controls for the handling
and dissemination of inside information, the Group has internal policy
and procedures which strictly prohibit unauthorised use of inside
information and has communicated to all staff; the Board is aware
of its obligations to announce any inside information in accordance
with the Listing Rules and conducts the affairs with reference to
the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information” issued by the
Securities and Futures Commission in June 2012. In addition, only
Directors and delegated officers can act as the Group’s spokesperson
and respond to external enquiries about the Group’s affairs.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

The duties of the Audit Committee include reviewing the scope and
results of the audit and its cost effectiveness and the independence
and objectivity of the Company’s auditor, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.
The Audit Committee will review the independence of the Company’s
auditor, the resources and adequacy of the internal audit function, at
least once a year. Where the auditor also supplies non-audit services
to the Company, the Audit Committee will keep the nature and extent
of such services under review, seeking to balance between the
maintenance of objectivity and value for money. During the year under
review, the fees paid/payable to the Company’s auditor in respect of
audit and non-audit services provided by the Company’s auditor to
the Group were as follows:

Nature of services R MHE

Audit services ZH AR
Non-audit services LB R

0} Tax services 0] T AR5

(ii) Other services comprising compliance (i)
review, internal control review and ESG
report

The Audit Committee has undertaken a review of all the non-
audit services provided by the Company’s auditor and concluded
that in its opinion such services did not affect the independence
of the auditor. The Board has appointed an accountant to be
responsible for the accounting and financial matters of the Group
and the Audit Committee has free access to the accountant and
senior management of the Group and to any financial and relevant
information which enables them to discharge their audit committee
function effectively and efficiently. Besides internal assistance being
available, the Audit Committee may request for assistance and
advice from external auditors as and when it considers necessary
at the expenses of the Company. The Audit Committee shall meet
with external auditor without the presence of executive Directors to
discuss the Group’s financial reporting and any major and financial
matters arising during the year under review at least once a year.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)
In addition, the Audit Committee is authorised:

. to investigate any matter within its written terms of reference;
. to have full access to and co-operation by the management;
° to have full discretion to invite any Director or executive officer

to attend its meetings; and

. to have reasonable resources to enable it to discharge its
functions properly.

The Board will ensure that the members of the Audit Committee
are appropriately qualified to discharge their responsibilities and at
least one member has accounting and related financial management
expertise or experience. The Audit Committee comprises four
independent non-executive Directors and one non-executive Director,
namely Mr. Kung, Peter (Chairman), Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen, Mr.
Zhang Lu Fu, Mr. Lau Ping Cheung, Kaizer (until his resignation on
1 January 2022), Mr. Ho Kwok Ming (since his appointment as an
independent non-executive Director on 1 January 2022) and Mr. Lo
Ka Leong.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee had performed the
following works:

o review of the scope of audit work;

° review and discussion of the annual financial results and
report in respect of the year ended 31 December 2021 and
interim financial results and report for the six months ended
30 June 2022 and discussion with the management of the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group;

° discussion and recommendation of the re-appointment of the
external auditors; and

. review of the internal control, financial reporting and risk
management systems of the Group.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee had convened
three meetings.

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

C.

Fﬂﬁ E&@Z%[f

BEREEE(H)
AN - BiRE B EREHE

. EEEERARESEANBEE

fAEE :

. HEIEE2EIERMNELXHNA
1

. RBBRFTAESHITHRA

EﬁFEQ% P &

. EEAEBRE
TR -

BEAVBEME

EFERBERERZBENBARBS
BRETRE  RES-BKEAS
ARV B ERE RN IR - F
“EZEg EEE%?&L%‘F%MT?%& #
FHTES  BEAE(ER) ¥
BELE - %EE?&?&% BImERAE(
BRE_T-__F—A—B#HEa) - [
BSEE(BERN T - —_F—A—H
BEZERBUIFHTESE) RERR
FEAAAR o

i

g F:”k

}

Kt

%

REEEE
-

BEREZEEETTUTI

. HHBERZITIEHE

° Bk wEEZE = —F1+=
RA=E+—HIEFEZ 2 FHBH%E
BRRERBE T - _FKH
=+ BIIRER 2z B 5 %A
NReE - EEIRENwAEEM
Rz gt RAIRER

. A MBS RS SN I AR AT ¢ [o

. HHAEEABES - BBRE
KRR EIR R -
REBEFEAR BELZEEAR=ZAE

ﬁ?iéC’



O

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEERRE

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

Management function

The Company’s articles of association set out matters which are
specifically reserved to the Board for its decision. Executive Directors
normally meet on an informal basis every two weeks and participate
in senior management meetings on a regular basis to keep abreast of
the latest operations and performance of the Group and to monitor
and ensure the management carry out the directions and strategies
set by the Board correctly and appropriately. Clear instructions are
given to the management as to the matters which should bring to the
attention and be determined by the Board on behalf of the Company.

Board committees

The Board has set up three Board committees, namely Audit
Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee,
each chaired by a different independent non-executive Director, to
assist the Board in discharging functions specific to each committee.
Each Board committee has its own written terms of reference
setting out the principles, procedures and arrangements which are
substantially the same as those for the Board.

The Nomination Committee comprises four members who are
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Lau Ping Cheung,
Kaizer (Chairman) (until his resignation on 1 January 2022), Mr. Ho
Kwok Ming (Chairman) (since his appointment as an independent non-
executive Director on 1 January 2022), Mr. Kung, Peter, Mr. Ip Shu
Kwan, Stephen and Mr. Zhang Lu Fu. According to the written terms
of reference of the Nomination Committee, the major responsibilities
of the Nomination Committee include:

° regularly review the structure, size and composition of the
Board and make recommendations to the Board with regard
to any adjustments that are deemed necessary;

° review whether or not an independent non-executive Director
is independent for the purpose of the Listing Rules on an
annual basis;

o identify and nominate for the approval of the Board,

candidates to fill board vacancies as and when they arise; and

o re-nominate a Director as an independent non-executive
Director, if applicable, having regard to his contribution and
performance.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD (continued)

Board committees (continued)

During the year under review and up to the date of the report, the
Nomination Committee had convened one meeting during which,
among other things, considered which Directors should retire by
rotation pursuant to the Company’s articles of association and the
Code. The Nomination Committee had resolved that Mr. Cheung
Kwok Keung, and Mr. Zhou Pei Feng, being executive Directors, Mr.
Lo Ka Leong, being non-executive Director and Mr. Ip Shu Kwan,
Stephen, being independent non-executive Directors, shall be subject
to retirement by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company. All the above-named Directors were nominated by
the Nomination Committee to stand for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company. During the meeting of
the Nomination Committee, it had considered the policy for the
nomination of Directors, and the process and criteria adopted by
the Nomination Committee to select and recommend candidates for
directorship. It had also reviewed the structure, size and composition
of the Board to ensure that the Board has a balance of expertise,
skills and experience appropriate to the requirements of the business
of the Company.

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy in accordance with
the Code. The policy aims to achieve diversity on the members of the
Board. In designing the Board’s composition, a number of aspects
would be considered, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises eleven male
Directors. The Company expects to appoint a director of different
gender from the existing Board no later than 31 December 2024 in
accordance with the CG Code. To ensure gender diversity of the
Board in a long run, the Group will seek to identify and select several
female individuals with a diverse range of skills, experience and
knowledge in the field of the Group’s business from time to time, and
maintain a list of such female individuals who possess qualities to
become the Board members in order to develop a pipeline of potential
successors to the Board to promote gender diversity of the Board.

The workforce of the Group (including its senior management)
comprised approximately 66% male employees and 34% female
employees as at 31 December 2022. Due to the nature of work in the
industries which the Group conducts its business, the Group mainly
considers factors such as the candidates’ ability and experience,
rather than their gender, in recruiting employees.
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COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS

The Board endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
Shareholders. All Directors are encouraged to attend the general
meetings to have personal communication with Shareholders. In
annual general meeting, Chairman of the Board and the chairman of
each committee are required to attend and answer questions from
Shareholders in respect of the matters that they are responsible
and accountable for. The external auditor is also required to be
present to assist the Directors in addressing any relevant queries
by Shareholders. The Company has also set up a public relations
website which enables the Shareholders and public to post their
questions, comments and opinions in relation to the Group to the
Board.

The Company’s annual general meeting (“AGM”) and extraordinary
general meeting (“‘EGM”) provide good opportunities for Shareholders
to air their views and ask Directors and management questions
regarding the Company. All Shareholders receive the annual
report, circulars and notices of AGM and EGM and other corporate
communications in a form chosen by each Shareholder. The notices
are also published on the Company’s website at www.kblaminates.
com. Separate resolutions are required at general meetings on each
distinct issue. A Shareholder is permitted to appoint any number of
proxies to attend and vote in his stead.

The Board has also established a written shareholders’ communication
policy setting out the multiple channels for communications with its
shareholders as disclosed in this section. The Board has conducted
a review of the implementation and effectiveness of the shareholders’
communication policy during the year ended 31 December 2022. To
promote effective communication, the Company maintains a website
at www.kblaminates.com, where up-to-date information and updates
on the Company’s business operations and developments, financial
information, corporate governance practices and other information
are available for public access. Investors may write directly to the
Company or via email to enquiry@kingboard.com for any inquiries.
Having considered the multiple channels of communication in place,
it is satisfied that the shareholders’ communication policy has been
property implemented during the year ended 31 December 2022 and
is effective.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, separate resolutions
are proposed at Shareholders’ meetings on each substantial issue,
including the election of individual Directors, for Shareholders’
consideration and voting. Besides, pursuant to the Company’s
articles of association, Shareholder(s) holding not less than one-tenth
of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings may request the Company to convene an EGM by
sending a written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary.
The objects of the meeting must be stated in the written requisition.

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company for putting
forward any enquiries or proposals to the Board. Contact details are as
follows:

Address: 23/F, Delta House
3 On Yiu Street
Shek Mun, Shatin, N.T.

Hong Kong
Fax: (852) 26910445/26915245
Email: enquiry@Kingboard.com

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholders must deposit and send the
original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry
(as the case may be) to the above address and provide their full
name, contact details and identification in order to give effect thereto.
Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by law.

During the year under review, the Company has not made any
changes to its articles of association.

An up-to-date version of the articles of association is available on the
Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website. Shareholders
may refer to the Company’s articles of association for further details
of their rights.

All resolutions put forward at Shareholders’ meetings will be voted
by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and the poll voting results will be
posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk)
and the Company (www.kblaminates.com) immediately after the
relevant general meetings.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ABE RS

Deloitte.

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS
LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Kingboard
Laminates Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 69 to 217, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2022,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter

BRES SR

Valuation of investment properties

REYH1EGE

We identified the valuation of investment properties as a key
audit matter due to the inherent level of subjective judgements
and complex estimates required in determining the fair values.

The Group’s investment property portfolio comprises
commercial, residential and industrial properties located in
Hong Kong, the PRC and the United Kingdom, which was
stated at fair value of HK$1.27 billion as at 31 December 2022
with HK$45,566,000 loss on fair value change recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year then
ended.

The Group’s investment properties are stated at fair value
based on valuations performed by an independent qualified
valuer (the “Valuer”). The valuation committee of the Group
work closely with the Valuer to determine the appropriate
valuation techniques and inputs for fair value measurements.
The valuation was determined based on direct comparison by
reference to market transactions of similar properties taking
into consideration of timing of reference transactions and
property-specific adjustment factors. Details of the valuation
techniques and key inputs used in the valuations are disclosed
in notes 4 and 14 to the consolidated financial statements.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BMOEFNAHBERETERETEE

Our procedures in relation to the management’s valuation of
investment properties included:

° Understanding management’s process over the
valuation of investment properties, including the
involvement of the Valuer;

o Evaluating the competence, capability, and objectivity
of the Valuer;
° Understanding the valuation techniques and key inputs

applied on selected investment properties by holding
discussion with the management and the Valuer;

° Evaluating the appropriateness of the Valuer’s valuation
technique to assess if they meet the requirements of
the HKFRSs and industry norms; and

o Evaluating the reasonableness of the price per square
metre of comparable properties and adjusting factors
of selected investment properties underpinning the
valuation, based on available market data.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the annual report,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Qur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our
agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents
of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS

continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continueq)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent auditor’s
report is Tsang Chi Wai.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

27 March 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
mEEER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #EZ —ZE - —4+_-A=+—HILFE

2022 2021
—E-_—F T4
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
b FET FAT
Revenue R 5 22,363,680 28,799,810
Cost of sales SHE AR (17,274,238) (19,004,119
Gross profit EF 5,089,442 9,795,691
Other income, gains and losses Hblg A~ Wezs K EE 7 112,931 84,917
Distribution costs PaNiz DN (514,890) (514,764)
Administrative costs TR AN (942,478) (938,999)
(Loss) gain on fair value changes of BEATERABEZ
equity instruments at fair value BHRTAZ AN FEEZSH
through profit or loss (518 ) Yzt (24,780) 15,713
Gain on disposal of debt instruments &R A FERFAEM
at fair value through other 2AERWE 2
comprehensive income BT AREZ WS = 25,022
Loss on fair value changes of KEWMENTESE
investment properties 2B (45,566) -
Impairment losses under expected TEEEEEEERXIE T
credit loss model on debt BAFERTA
instruments at fair value through Hipm 2 BT A
other comprehensive income ZIREEE (186,501) -
Finance costs RN 8 (130,392) (80,665)
Profit before taxation R T BT A 3,357,766 8,386,915
Income tax expense FriSifsz 9 (1,448,382) (1,603,436)
Profit for the year ANEZ A 10 1,909,384 6,783,479
Profit for the year attributable to: NS F B 1558
Owners of the Company EN/NSIESZEUN 1,909,169 6,781,656
Non-controlling interests FEEAR M = 215 1,823
1,909,384 6,783,479
Earnings per share BRER 13
- Basic —HAK HK$0.612i& 7T HK$2.1747%8 7T
_ Diluted — HK$0.6125% T N/A 3 A
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
reEskEMAETEHRERE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #EZ —ZE - —4+_-A=+—HILFE

2022 2021
—E-_—F T4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Profit for the year REZ R 1,909,384 6,783,479
Other comprehensive (expense) income AEEEMEE
for the year (Z )=
Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss: TEeREF P EEEmHA -
Translation reserve: b 3 fE 4
Exchange differences arising from translation RAITEEZ2REBMELEZ
to presentation currency bEH ZEE (1,884,486) 561,621
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to HEREEWET IR
profit or l0ss: BmsHE -
Investment revaluation reserve: WE B
Impairment losses under expected credit BHEEHEEAET
loss model on debt instruments at fair BAFERA
value through other comprehensive Hib 2wl s
income included in profit or loss B TR ZRERIE 186,501 -
Fair value loss on debt instruments at fair BRAFEFAREMEEKE Y
value through other comprehensive income BB LAz A TFAERERE (38,979) (121,610)
Reclassify to profit or loss upon disposal of HEZRAFEFAEMEE
debt instruments at fair value through W ER TAMENSLE
other comprehensive income 8 = (25,022)
147,522 (146,632)
Other comprehensive (expense) income for the year AN E B2 mE (2 H) Uiz (1,736,964) 414,989
Total comprehensive income for the year AEELEW LR 172,420 7,198,468
Total comprehensive income (expense) REFEREE(ZHE)
for the year attributable to: HRFEFE(E DR -
Owners of the Company ZIN/NCIEEYEUN 174,409 7,195,891
Non-controlling interests FEFERR A (1,989) 2,577
172,420 7,198,468
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CO!EOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

= i’%ﬂﬁ‘ﬂ%

EHEEBERERBRLF

2022 2021
—E-F —E-—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
BoaE FHET FHT
Non-current assets IERBEE
Investment properties LB 14 1,268,425 1,441,259
Property, plant and equipment Y - R &EE 15 7,217,777 6,247,809
Right-of-use assets FREEE 16 585,750 667,056
Equity instruments at fair value BRAFEFAEBRZ
through profit or loss EmIT A 17 860,415 1,177,398
Debt instruments at fair value through A FEH AR 2 EREE 2
other comprehensive income EBEEIA 18 89,532 103,798
Deposits paid for acquisition of BEME  BEMEREZ
property, plant and equipment EENEIKA 553,269 878,135
Deferred tax assets EETRIEEE 19 3,113 2,810
Goodwil eSS 20 238 238
10,578,519 10,518,503
Current assets REEE
Inventories 8 21 2,429,643 2,653,835
Trade and other receivables and %ﬂ%&ﬁﬁfg R K
prepayments JEfT 0B 22 3,833,741 6,639,167
Bills receivables Eﬁﬂﬁmﬁ% 22 2,509,628 4,243,905
Properties held for development FEEME 23 175,068 1,460,556
Equity instruments at fair value ?ﬁ”&iﬁ*ﬂ\?@ 52
through profit or loss HEmTE 17 561,303 442 125
Debt instruments at fair value through 322 EFH A M2 EWES 2
other comprehensive income EBEIA 18 14,820 11,256
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries  FEUL R ZHTE A T3 IE 24 889,018 978,831
Taxation recoverable [ EI R IR 18,119 8,718
Cash and cash equivalents B MReEEY 25 3,289,953 2,864,889
13,721,293 19,303,282
Current liabilities mEaE
Trade and other payables Z 5 R H M FERBRFK 26 2,544,365 2,732,637
Bills payables i ANE2: 26 474,379 602,496
Contract liabilities AHaE 26 374,150 2,773,455
Dividends payable FERHARF 468,000 936,000
Lease liabilities HEBE 27 560 570
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries ARIEEGIEPNGIE e 24 47,587 47,581
Taxation payable FESFIIA 598,525 870,454
Bank borrowings — amount due RITEE——FR
within one year BIEf 2 /I8 28 200,000 1,814,902
4,707,566 9,778,095
Net current assets mEEEFEE 9,013,727 9,525,187
Total assets less current liabilities BEMABEBLBAE 19,592,246 20,043,690

B FFR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

REPBRR K

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

2022 2021
—E-F —E-—F
Notes HK$’°000 HK$’000
BiaE FET FET
Non-current liabilities ERBAE
Lease liabilities HEAE 27 1,293 1,623
Deferred tax liabilities RIEMIERE 19 318,962 76,943
Bank borrowings — amount due HRITERE——F1%&
after one year B HZ #0A 28 4,200,000 900,000
4,520,255 978,566
Net assets BEZFE 15,071,991 19,065,124
Capital and reserves B A R
Share capital &N 29 312,000 312,000
Reserves & 14,736,892 18,726,483
Equity attributable to owners PA/NEIESYSN
of the Company FE LR 15,048,892 19,038,483
Non-controlling interests IR A 23,099 26,641
Total equity BARIBEE 15,071,991 19,065,124

The consolidated financial statements on pages 69 to 217 were approved
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 27 March 2023 and are
signed on its behalf by:

EFERN T =F=-A-tTLHSHMERK
BTIBEOENTAEZHFAMBEHRE AT
FIEERKHRE

Cheung Kwok Wa Cheung Kwok Keung

REE RER
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EF EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEEDBER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #EZ —ZE - —4+_-A=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company
KRRREARRNER

Property  Investment Non-
Share Shere  Tranglation  revaluation  revaluation ~ Special  Statutoy  Goodwil  Retained controling Total
capital  premium TeSeve  feSseve  feSeNe Teseve  fesenve resenve profts  Sub-fotal  interests equity
NEER  REER
Bx BAEE  EXGH i Bh RURE T BERRE  RERA 15 FiERER  ATLE
HKS000  HKS000  HK$000  HK§000  HKBOO0  HKS000  HKS000  HKSO000  HKBOOD  HKSO000  HKS000  HKS000
TRt TR TEr  TEr  TEn TR TR TR TEr TR TR TR
MNoted) ~ (Notea)  (Noteh)
(ko) (Wsta) (W)

Balance at 1 January 2021 RoE--E-F-Hz88% 312000 2131768 953,505 7,268 (19030) 757,680 1,06969 251384 8868889 14,333,065 54946 14,388,011
Proft for the year REREH - - - - - - - - 67816% 678165 1823 6783479
Exchange differences arising BAEZ2HERR
from tranglaton to presentation ~~ E2E}
curency 28 560,867 - - - - - To4
Fair value loss on debtinstuments AT EF AL 2T
at fair value through other haBHIEZ
comprehensive income LYEEE - (121,610 - - - - -
Reclassfy toproftorlossupon ~~ EHERATESA
dlisposal of debt instruments Ep2ENEL
at far value through other EBIAMER
comprehensive incorme HEERE - (26,022) - - - . :
Total comprehensive income FEEEH2EMA
(expense) for the year (%)% 560,867 (146,632) - - - 67816% 2511
Dividends paid tonon-controling ~~ 23R ER 2
interests ks - - - - - - (1359
Fina dhidend paid for heyer ~ 2REZ-F-3E+-A
ended 31 December 2020 ST-BIEEEZRERE
Note 12 (Ht12) - - - - - (1002000 -
Speci final chicend paid BfEZE-5-8E4R
forthe year ended -ALFEZE
31 December 020 Note 19 REHA(K:ED) - - - - - (46 000) -
Interim civicend payable EREE-T--F128
forthe year ended H-ALEEZ
31 December 221 MNote 19 R (HiE12) - - - - - (a000) -
Acquistion of additonl nterests ~ WE—EHBATZ
ina subsidary (Note ¢ BohER (ko) - - - -5 - @5
Transfer to reserve SHTREE - - - 519088 - [51929) -
- - - 519253 5007 (3,015,263 (30882)
Balance at 31 December 2021 i S 2
“t-H2EH 15143712 (165662 757,680 1588845 256911 12,635,202 19,038,483 26,641

— T FFR
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O KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REERBER

Attributable to owners of the Company

R ARGRSR
Share-
Property  Investment based Non-
Share Share Translation revaluation revaluation payments  Special  Statutory  Goodwill  Retained controlling Total

capital  premium  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reseve  reserve  reserve profits  Sub-total interests equity
NXEH  REER  REES
Bx  BfEE EXGE it B fERE  GHRE fRRE  BERR  REM Nt FEREE  EAEE
HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000  HK$000
TEn TAn  TEn TR  TEn  TEr  TEn  TEr  TRn TR TRn TR TER
(Note 30)  (Noted)  (Notea)  (Noteh)
(M%) (Wad) (W)  (MiEb)

Balanceat 1 Januay 2022 H=F--%-f
—BHER 312,000 2,131,768 1,514,372 7268 (165,662 - 757689 1588845 256911 12,635,292 19,038,483 26,641 19,065,124

Proft for the year RERET = - - - - - - - - 105160 1,909,169 A5 1003
Bchengediferences  FAEZZHEER

arsng fom trangationto 42 E

pesonafoncurency  £E s - (1882,2682) - - - - - -
Impaimentlosses under  BEEESEEIET

expected oredit oss BRATE AR

model on debt nstruments 2 Elz 7

atfarvaiethough oher ~ EHTAZ

comprehensive ncome BB A

(1882282) (2204 (1,884,486

included in proft o loss - - - - 186501 - - - 5 - 186501 - 1e6501

Farvduelossondebt — RAFEFAER

instruments at fai el cavd

value through other [ERIEZ

comprenensive income~ ATEEE - - - - (38979 - - - - - (38979 - (38979

Total comprehensive RERENEE

(expense) income (it

for theyear 5 - - (188228 - - - - - 109160 17440 (1989 172420

Dividends paid to BRHRER

non-controling interests ~ [k& - - - - - - = = = s - (155 (1,559

Recogriton of equity-setfed B2 EREER

share-hased payments AT - - - - - 48000 - - - - 48000 - 48000

Finel dvidend paid AT

forthe year ended TZRZ+-BLEER

31 December 2021 LRERE

(Note 12) (zH12) - - - - - - - - - (3,744,000) (3,744,000 - (8,744,000)

Interim ividend payable for  ERHZ-E-%

the year ended +tZBZt-BItEE

31 December 2022 RS

(Note 12) (HisE12) = = = = = = = - - [468,000) (468,000 - (468,000)

Transfer to reserve BRTHE - - - - - - - 502475 - (502475) - - -
- - - - - R0 - s - TIAATS) (4164000 (155 (4165559)

Balance at S s

31 December 2022 ST-RHES 312000 2,131,768 (367,910) 7,268 (18,140) 48000 757,689 2,001,320 256911 9,820,986 15,048,892 23,099 15,071,991
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REERBER

Notes:

Statutory reserve comprises statutory fund, which is non-distributable, and
represents capitalisation of retained profits of certain subsidiaries established in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) for capital re-investment in these subsidiaries
and funds shall be used to (i) make up prior year losses or (i) expand production
operations.

Goodwill reserve represents the effect of changes in ownership in certain subsidiaries
when there is no change in control.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group acquired additional interests
in a non-wholly owned subsidiary from a non-controlling shareholder. As a result
of the acquisition, the difference of HK$5,527,000 between the consideration
paid of HK$24,000,000 and the amount of non-controlling interests acquired of
HK$29,527,000 was directly recognised as equity in the goodwill reserve.

Special reserve of the Group represents (i) the difference between the net asset
value of the acquired subsidiaries and the nominal value of the Company’s shares
issued for the acquisition at the time of the group reorganisation in 2006; and (i) the
reduction in the registered capital of a wholly-owned subsidiary established in the
PRC.

EEEERERER QT

TSR AT RBEIETES - HE TR
£ AR EME ([ )BT A0M B 2 RS IR B i
FEACARERBRE  A2RARUTE
i ¢ (VA EE SRR (AL EEE -

AEREEEREREZBERTATHERR
PRt 22 -

HE-Z--—F+-_A=+-HILFERN K&
E A — RIS — R BB AR Z
FEOMER o ZUHEE £ R B 191K (824,000,0007#
T EE U5 B FE A AR i 25 2 B8 20,527,00078 TL 2 2=
85,527,000/ T E HiE N A B HEERERAE

= °

AEEZEHNRERIREBHBARZEES
EER -ETRFETEEEARRREMET
ZARBREHEERE 2 FRZRE - Ri)—HR
TR ZENE A RHRZ M EAR -

B FFR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #EZ —ZE - —4+_-A=+—HILFE

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

2022 2021
—E__F T4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES P 9
Profit before taxation B F A S ) 3,357,766 8,386,915
Adjustments for: R
Depreciation of property, plant and Y - BB REEL
equipment e 781,491 717,912
Loss (gain) on fair value changes of BATVEHABRZ
equity instruments at fair value through EmT AR N FEEE
profit or loss 518 () 24,780 (15,713)
Finance costs EIS= VD ®N 130,392 80,665
Write-down of inventories WoRF& 454,513 321,767
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TREEENE 15,367 14,800
Gain on disposal of debt instruments HERA AT AEM
at fair value through other 2HKEZEFIAZ
comprehensive income e - (25,022)
Net impairment (reversed) loss recognised TE SRR Z
on trade receivables A () EiE 5 5E (28,778) 63,809
Interest income on bank balances and RITHESBR RIS Z
deposits FLBUA (31,204) (22,388)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RMBRE 2K 9) -
Loss on disposal and written off of property, — H& REEME - BE&
plant and equipment KR 1,821 20,749
Loss on fair value changes of investment REYENTFEES 2
properties [E518 45,566 -
Share-based payments & AT 48,000 -
Impairment losses under expected credit TEEMEEEEERIAT
loss model on debt instruments at fair BAFEFTAEAM
value through other comprehensive Wz EHITAZ
income BB EE 186,501 -
Operating cash flows before movements BEESEHAE 2
in working capital KERERE 4,986,206 9,543,494
Increase in inventories &N (448,787) (1,179,876)
Decrease (increase) in trade and other B 5 N H th FE R 5k &
receivables and prepayments TR FIRR A (3 0) 2,423,899 (1,847,875)
Decrease (increase) in bills receivables FEMLER IR R (35 0) 1,450,092 (628,292)
Decrease in properties held for development 1S3 E ¥R 1,208,842 8,387
Decrease in equity instruments at fair value BN ERABREZ
through profit or loss HHT AR 440,521 32,697
Decrease in debt instruments at fair value BATEFAEMEEKE S
through other comprehensive income BB TERD 2,283 9,563
Increase in amounts due from fellow subsidiaries & 4 [7] Z BT & A B FIEIE N (4,681) (261,322)
Decrease in trade and other payables H 5 K HA R ERFOR D (22,050) (135,617)
(Decrease) increase in bills payables R Omi ) 1N (92,018) 237,986
(Decrease) increase in contract liabilities BHBECED)EM (2,618,016) 2,105,374
Increase (decrease) in amounts due to JERR R B R RIFRIA
fellow subsidiaries =HCRA) 80,279 (1,379)
Cash generated from operations KEETESIR® 7,406,570 7,883,140
Other income tax refunded EIRHEAMATISH = 1,681
Other income tax paid EEEMET SR (26,317) (1,814)
PRC withholding tax paid BB TEN (230,012) (178,642)
PRC Land Appreciation Tax (“‘LAT”) paid AR R £ IR (E R (477,611) (130,416)
PRC Enterprise Tax (“EIT”) paid BB EAEH (672,903) (1,181,224)
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid EEEBFEM (7,621) (8,457)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES K& %K AERL R 5,992,106 6,384,268

ANNUAL REPORT 2022



O

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

RERETRER

EHEEBERERBRLF

2022 2021
k- Je - —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FAET
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BREEK
Net purchase of equity instruments at fair BEEiR N EEsT ABREZ
value through profit or loss fEm TEFRE (267,496) (771,020)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE - BEMRE
plant and equipment FR{S 3R 46,212 11,347
Proceeds from disposal of investment R YRS
properties RIB 42,155 -
Interest received BUF B 31,204 22,388
Net cash inflow from disposal of HE—FHIB AR
a subsidiary REmAFHE 5 -
Purchase of property, plant and equipment HEEME  BENERE (1,491,007) (1,126,613)
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, BEWE  BEMEREZ
plant and equipment =N EE (616,325) (863,417)
Payments for right-of-use assets PREEENK (44,329) (101,526)
Purchase of debt instruments at fair value BERAFES AHM
through other comprehensive income 2HEWEEFTA (30,560) (71,019
Proceeds from disposal or on maturity of ﬁ’%?ﬁ’“iﬁﬁ.ﬁ)\ﬁm
debt instruments at fair value through FHEWEZEHITA
other comprehensive income (K E|HR) FriS kI8 - 584,763
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING RETETARS
ACTIVITIES FE (2,330,141) (2,315,097)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES RMEER
New bank borrowings raised i famg.& 3 3,500,000 6,823,390
Dividends paid on ordinary shares [RADREREL T ES) (4,680,000) (7,800,000)
Repayment of bank borrowings BRIETEE (1,814,902) (5,262,334)
Interest paid BAFE (146,198) (94,714)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests H FEIZERR A 2 (1,553) (1,355)
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEERE (561) (556)
Consideration paid for acquisition of Hﬁz,ﬁﬁff'aﬁ B S A BRI ME RS
additional interests in a subsidiary Frs Sz RE = (8,000)
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING RETEMARS
ACTIVITIES T (3,143,214) (6,343,569)
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH HeERRESEEYIEM
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS OR2) 38 518,751 (2,274,398)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FUzEEREEE
AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR EBY 2,864,889 4,909,965
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE FEREH
RATE CHANGES EZ (93,687) 229,322
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRZESRRLE
AT THE END OF THE YEAR Y 3,289,953 2,864,889

B CFFER
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KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE M BRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #EZ —ZE - —4+_-A=+—HILFE

1.

GENERAL

Kingboard Laminates Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated and registered as an exempted company with limited
liability in the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). Its immediate parent company is Jamplan (BVI) Limited,
a limited liability company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and
in the opinion of the directors of the Company (the “Directors”), its
ultimate holding company is Kingboard Holdings Limited (‘KHL"), an
exempted limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands
with its shares also listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
The addresses of the registered office and principal place of business
of the Company are disclosed in the section headed “Corporate
Information” of the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company and the principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 40.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$”), which is different from the Company’s functional
currency of Renminbi (“RMB”), the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the Company operates. Because the
Company’s shares are listed on the Stock Exchange, where most
of its investors are located in Hong Kong, therefore the Directors
considered it is more relevant convenient for the users of the
consolidated financial statements to present the consolidated financial
statement in HK$.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

PR AR MY

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective

for the current year

In the current year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively

referred to as the “Group”) has applied the following amendments

to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public

Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time, which are mandatorily

effective for the Group’s annual period beginning on 1 January 2022

for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

COVID-19 - Related Rent Concessions
beyond 30 June 2021

Amendment to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment —

Proceeds before Intended Use
Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling
a Contract
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018-2020

Amendments to HKFRSs

Except as described below, the application of the amendments
to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact on the
Group’s financial positions and performance for the current and prior
years and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 16 “Property,
Plant and Equipment” - Proceeds before Intended Use

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the
current year. The amendments specify that the costs of any item
that were produced while bringing an item of property, plant and
equipment to the location and condition necessary for it to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by management (such as
samples produced when testing whether the relevant property, plant
and equipment is functioning properly) and the proceeds from selling
such items should be recognised and measured in the profit or loss
in accordance with applicable standards. The cost of the items are
measured in accordance with HKAS 2 “Inventories” (‘HKAS 2”).

In accordance with the transitional provisions, the Group has applied
the new accounting policy retrospectively to property, plant and
equipment made available for use on or after the beginning of 1
January 2021.

The application of the amendments has had no material impact on
the Group’s financial positions and performance.

2.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

PR aR M

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective
The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments
to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17 (including the
October 2020 and February
2022 Amendments to
HKFRS 17)

Insurance Contracts?

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between
and HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture?

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?

Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)3

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants?

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies!

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates?

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single

Transaction’

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned
below, the Directors anticipate that the application of all other new
and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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PR AR MY

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)” (the “2020 Amendments”)
and Amendments to HKAS 1 “Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants” (the “2022 Amendments”)

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and additional guidance
on the assessment of right to defer settlement for at least twelve
months from reporting date for classification of liabilities as current or
non-current, which:

o clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option of
the counterparty, result in its settlement by the transfer of the
entity’s own equity instruments, these terms do not affect
its classification as current or non-current only if the entity
recognises the option separately as an equity instrument
applying HKAS 32 “Financial Instruments: Presentation”.

o specify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-
current should be based on rights that are in existence at the
end of the reporting period. Specifically, the amendments
clarify that the classification should not be affected by
management intentions or expectations to settle the liability
within 12 months.

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve months from reporting
date which are conditional on the compliance with covenants, the
requirements introduced by the 2020 Amendments have been
modified by the 2022 Amendments. The 2022 Amendments specify
that only covenants with which an entity is required to comply with
on or before the end of the reporting period affect the entity’s right
to defer settlement of a liability for at least twelve months after the
reporting date. Covenants which are required to comply with only
after the reporting period do not affect whether that right exists at the
end of the reporting period.

In addition, the 2022 Amendments specify the disclosure
requirements about information that enables users of financial
statements to understand the risk that the liabilities could become
repayable within twelve months after the reporting period, if the entity
classify liabilities arising from loan arrangements as non-current when
the entity’s right to defer settlement of those liabilities is subject to
the entity complying with covenants within twelve months after the
reporting period.
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O

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)” (the “2020 Amendments”)
and Amendments to HKAS 1 “Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants” (the “2022 Amendments™) (continued)

The 2022 Amendments also defer the effective date of applying the
2020 Amendments to annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2024. The 2022 Amendments, together with the 2020
Amendments, are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2024, with early application permitted. If an entity
applies the 2020 amendments for an earlier period after the issue
of the 2022 Amendments, the entity should also apply the 2022
Amendments for that period.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s right to defer settlement for
borrowings of HK$4,200,000,000 are subject to compliance with
certain financial ratios within 12 months from the reporting date.
Such borrowings were classified as non-current as the Group met
such ratios at 31 December 2022. Upon the application of the 2022
Amendments, such borrowings will still be classified as non-current as
the covenants which the Group is required to comply with only after
the reporting period do not affect whether that right exists at the end
of the reporting date and such borrowing will still be classified as non-
current.

Except as described above, the application of the 2020 and 2022
Amendments will not affect the classification of the Group’s other
liabilities as at 31 December 2022.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

PR AR MY

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective (continued)
Amendments to HKAS 12 “Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction”

The amendments narrow the scope of the recognition exemption
of deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets in paragraphs 15
and 24 of HKAS 12 “Income Taxes” (“HKAS 12”) so that it no longer
applies to transactions that, on initial recognition, give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences.

As disclosed in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, for
leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 requirements to
the relevant assets and liabilities separately. Temporary differences
on initial recognition of the relevant assets and liabilities are not
recognised due to application of the initial recognition exemption.

Upon the application of the amendments, the Group will recognise a
deferred tax asset (to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary difference
can be utilised) and a deferred tax liability for all deductible and
taxable temporary differences associated with the right-of-use assets
and the lease liabilities.

The amendments are effective for the Group’s annual reporting period
beginning on 1 January 2023. As at 31 December 2022, the carrying
amounts of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities which are subject
to the amendments amounted to HK$1,723,000 and HK$1,853,000
respectively.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have significant
impact on the financial positions and performance of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For
the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions
made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for investment properties
and certain financial instruments, that are measured at fair
values at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial

statements (continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a
basis, except for share-based payment transactions that
are within the scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”,
leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance with
HKFRS 16 “Leases” (“HKFRS 16”), and measurements that
have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such
as net realisable value in HKAS 2 or value in use in HKAS 36
“Impairment of Assets”.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.
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O

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial

statements (continued)

For financial instruments and investment properties which
are transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that
unobservable inputs are to be used to measure fair values in
subsequent periods, the valuation technique is calibrated so
that at initial recognition the results of the valuation technique
equal the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss from
the date the Group gains control until the date when the
Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between the members
of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not
result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts
of the Group’s relevant components of equity and the non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiaries.

Any difference between the amounts by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity
and attributed to owners of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing subsidiaries
(continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any)
are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
and is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of
the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of
any retained interest and (i) the carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable
to the owners of the Company. All amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that
subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e.
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category
of equity as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The
fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary
at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on
initial recognition for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9
“Financial Instruments” (“HKFRS 9”) or, when applicable, the
cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a
joint venture.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business
(see accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (“CGUs”) (or
group of CGUs) that is expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, which represent the lowest level at which
the goodwill is monitored for internal management purpose
and not larger than an operating segment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Goodwill (continued)

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually or more frequently
when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. For
goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the
CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment before the end of that reporting
period. If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying
amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill and then to other assets of
the unit on a pro-rata basis on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit (or group of CGUSs).

On disposal of the relevant CGU or any of the CGU within
the group of CGUs, the attributable amount of goodwill is
included in the determination of the amount of profit or loss
on disposal. When the Group disposes of an operation within
the CGU (or a CGU within a group of CGUs), the amount of
goodwill disposed of is measured on the basis of the relative
values of the operation (or the CGU) disposed of and the
portion of the CGU (or the group of CGUS) retained.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of the
following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

° the Group’s performance creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

° the Group’s performance does not create an asset

with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

Rental income from property investment will be accounted
for in accordance with HKFRS 16, whereas dividend income
and interest income from investments will be accounted for in
accordance with HKFRS 9.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group
has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLlCIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on output method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of
the value of the goods or services transferred to the customer
to date relative to the remaining goods or services promised
under the contract, that best depict the Group’s performance

in transferring control of goods or services.

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the
promised amount of consideration for the effects of the
time value of money if the timing of payments agreed (either
explicitly or implicitly) provides the customer or the Group
with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or
services to the customer. In those circumstances, the contract
contains a significant financing component. A significant
financing component may exist regardless of whether the
promise of financing is explicitly stated in the contract or
implied by the payment terms agreed to by the parties to the

contract.

For contracts where the period between payment and transfer
of the associated goods, properties or services is less than
one year, the Group applies the practical expedient of not
adjusting the transaction price for any significant finance

component.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Existence of significant financing component (continued)

For advance payments received from customers before
the transfer of the associated goods, properties or services
in which the Group adjusts for the promised amount of
consideration for a significant financing component, the Group
applies a discount rate that would be reflected in a separate
financing transaction between the Group and the customer at
contract inception. The relevant interest expenses during the
period between the advance payments were received and the
transfer of the associated goods and services are accounted
for on the same basis as other borrowing costs.

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/
or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at fair value,
adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued operating lease
income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for the
period in which they arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Investment properties (continued)

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected
from its disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
of the property (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is
included in profit or loss in the period in which the property is

derecognised.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated

statement of financial position include:

() cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand

deposits; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months
or less), highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments rather than for

investment or other purposes.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost of inventories are determined on a weighted
average method. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated costs
of completion and costs necessary to make the sale. Costs
necessary to make the sale include incremental costs directly
attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs which the

Group must incur to make the sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLlCIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Properties held for development

Properties held for development which are intended to
be sold upon completion of development are classified
as current assets. Except for the leasehold land element
which is measured at cost model in accordance with the
accounting policies of right-of-use assets, properties held for
development are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on a specific identification basis
including allocation of the related development expenditure
incurred and where appropriate, borrowing costs capitalised.
Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for
the properties less estimated cost to completion and costs
necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary to make the
sale include incremental costs directly attributable to the sale
and non-incremental costs which the Group must incur to
make the sale.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are
held for use in the production or supply of goods or services,
or for administrative purpose (other than property, plant and
equipment under construction as described below). Property,
plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses,
if any.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Property, plant and equipment in the course of construction
for production, supply or administrative purposes are carried
at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Costs include
any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management, including
costs of testing whether the related assets is functioning
properly and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised
in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. Sale
proceeds of items that are produced while bringing an item of
property, plant and equipment to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management (such as samples produced when
testing whether the asset is functioning properly), and the
related costs of producing those items are recognised in
the profit or loss. The cost of those items are measured in
accordance with the measurement requirements of HKAS
2. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready for

their intended use.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to
the relative fair values at initial recognition. To the extent the
allocation of the relevant payments can be made reliably,
interest in leasehold land is presented as “right-of-use assets”
in the consolidated statement of financial position except for
those that are classified and accounted for as investment

properties under the fair value model.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Artwork are stated at cost less impairment loss, if any. No
depreciation is provided as the artwork are held primarily for
office aesthetics with no intention to sell and are high value
paintings, with indefinite useful lives and estimated residual
values of not less than their costs.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
(other than artwork and property, plant and equipment under
construction) less their residual values over their estimated
useful lives using the straight-line method. The estimated useful
lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and right-

of-use assets other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets to determine whether there is any
indication that these assets have suffered an impairment loss.
If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of

the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU to which

the asset belongs.

In testing a CGU for impairment, corporate assets are
allocated to the relevant CGU when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of CGUs for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be established.
The recoverable amount is determined for the CGU or
group of CGUs to which the corporate asset belongs, and is
compared with the carrying amount of the relevant CGU or

group of CGUs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset (or a CGU) for which the estimates of future cash

flows have not been adjusted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLlCIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets other than goodwill (continued)
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to
a CGU, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group
of CGUs, including the carrying amounts of the corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that
group of CGUs, with the recoverable amount of the group
of CGUs. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-
rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit or the group of CGUs. The carrying amount of an asset
is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise
have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the
other assets of the unit or the group of CGUs. An impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a CGU or a group of CGUs) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a CGU or
a group of CGUs) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLlCIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of

time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is
or contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently

changed.

The Group as a lessee
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of
the non-lease components, including contract for acquisition
of ownership interests of a property which includes both
leasehold land and non-lease building components, unless

such allocation cannot be made reliably.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate non-
lease components from lease component, and instead
account for the lease component and any associated non-

lease components as a single lease component.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases of office properties that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option. Lease payments on short-term
leases are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or
another systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use assets includes:

o the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group

in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease.

Except for those that are classified as investment properties
and measured under fair value model, right-of-use assets are
measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of
lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end
of the lease term are depreciated from commencement date
to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its
estimated useful life and the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the
definition of investment property or inventory as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position. Right-
of-use assets that meet the definition of investment property
or inventory are presented within “investment properties” and
“properties held for development” respectively.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
Lease liabilities (continued)
The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
whenever:

. the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

° the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review, in which
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the
initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLlCIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as
finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is
classified as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease agreement. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset, and such costs are recognised as
an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term except
for investment properties measured under fair value model.

Rental income which is derived from the Group’s ordinary
course of business are presented as revenue.

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not
part of the original terms and conditions are accounted for
as lease modifications, including lease incentives provided
through forgiveness or reduction of rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease
as a new lease from the effective date of the modification,
considering any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating
to the original lease as part of the lease payments for the new
lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the
fair value was determined. When a fair value gain or loss
on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is also recognised
in profit or loss. When a fair value gain or loss on a non-
monetary item is recognised in other comprehensive
income, any exchange component of that gain or loss is also
recognised in other comprehensive income. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations
are translated into the presentation currency of the Group
(i.e. HKS) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated
at the average exchange rates for the year, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during the year, in which case
the exchange rates at the date of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate).

Such exchange differences accumulated in the translation
reserve are not reclassified to profit or loss subsequently.

3.

54

EHEERERBRAA

hY

MBBRERERE
ZEEHBEe

FEEHEE®)
s
RS ERSEER  MHHRE
B - LR ERBZ B IASMY
B (ONE)ETT 2 R BT
5 B E R 2 [ERER - RIS
HREERER  DINESIEZ &
WHBNZBZERERES
BAFEDIRBIRINESIE 2 JE
ERIEEREEAHEERE
REHMER - EIFEBHRENR
ﬁfﬁﬂﬁlﬁ‘i%%ﬁ"?éﬁéqjﬁ%ﬁb
+ MR SRS B RO (] BE 3 B
JTF"?E@EPEEW - BIFERIA
BRAFERSSEENE DS
E R - R as skE R
VAT 5 500 TR E b 2 E UL
EPHER o ASMNEIRIEE sE AR ASET
BZIFEMHBITEHNEN -

REEERER MEMTRESK
BAZEREZRIRELHREN
RIBEER -

REINGEMBREMS - &
SEBIERBZEERARY
BB EHEAERE AEXREN
7,%$§‘%Z£¢&‘E?”¥(Eﬂ/’é7t)
WA KRR R TRFERFIE
KER - MEWFEARERHRAE
KE - RIERAZ S A HRE Rk
o Fﬁ%ilﬁ)ﬂ@%%ﬁ(ﬂuﬁ)ﬁ’\\ﬁ\
b 2T FERR - W ARE
SRR (BASFER R (N
R RE -

REEFERAER ZEER
TEEFNEERS °

B FFR



O

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLlCIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sales, are added to the cost
of those assets until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after the
related asset is ready for its intended use or sale is included
in the general borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation
rate on general borrowings. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or
for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they become receivable. Such
grants are presented under “other income, gains and losses”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans,
state-managed retirement benefit schemes and the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes are recognised as an
expense when employees have rendered service entitling
them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit
in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries and annual leave) after deducting
any amount already paid.

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payments

Share options granted to the Directors and employees of the
Group

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the fair value
of the equity instruments at the grant date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLlCIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Share-based payments (continued)

Equity-settled share-based payments (continued)

Share options granted to the Directors and employees of the
Group (continued)

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration
all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-
line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s
estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with
a corresponding increase in equity (share-based payments
reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of equity instruments that are
expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant non-
market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of
the original estimates during the vesting period, if any, is
recognised in profit or loss, such that the cumulative expense
reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment
to share-based payments reserve. For share options that vest
immediately at the date of grant, the fair value of the share
options granted is expensed immediately to profit or loss.

When the share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in the share-based payments reserve will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options are
forfeited after vesting date or are still not exercised at the
expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share-based
payments reserve will be transferred to retained profits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLlCIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit before taxation because
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised
for all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwiill.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLlCIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLlCIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Taxation (continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is
rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property over
time, rather than through sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the
right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
separately. Temporary differences on initial recognition
of the relevant right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are
not recognised due to application of the initial recognition
exemption. Temporary differences arising from subsequent
revision to the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities, resulting from remeasurement of lease
liabilities and lease modifications, that are not subject to
initial recognition exemption are recognised on the date of
remeasurement or modification.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation

authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business combination.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when
the group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in the

market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance
with HKFRS 15 “Revenue from contracts with customers”
(“HKFRS 15”). Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in

profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLlCIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Interest income from debt instruments at fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) and dividend income
from equity instruments at FVTPL which are derived from
the Group’s ordinary course of business are presented as
revenue. Interest income from bank balances and deposits
are included in other income, gains and losses.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

(continued)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are

subsequently measured at FVTOCI:

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and

collecting contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and

interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at initial recognition of a financial asset the
Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes
in fair value of an equity investment in other comprehensive
income if that equity investment is neither held for trading
nor contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer
in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 “Business

Combinations” applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of

selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of

short-term profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as

a hedging instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLlCIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(continued)

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost
or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost and debt instruments
subsequently measured at FVTOCI. Interest income
is calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired. For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the
next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-
impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following
the determination that the asset is no longer credit-
impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (ontinued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(continued)

(i

(i)

Debt instruments classified as at FVTOCI

Subsequent changes in the carrying amounts for debt
instruments classified as at FVTOCI as a result of
interest income calculated using the effective interest
method, and foreign exchange gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss. All other changes
in the carrying amount of these debt instruments
are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated under the heading of investment
revaluation reserve. Impairment allowances are
recognised in profit or loss with corresponding
adjustment to other comprehensive income without
reducing the carrying amounts of these debt
instruments. The amounts that are recognised in
profit or loss are the same as the amounts that would
have been recognised in profit or loss if these debt
instruments had been measured at amortised cost.
When these debt instruments are derecognised, the
cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in
other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit
or loss.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated
as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is
included in “(Loss) gain on fair value changes of equity
instruments at FVTPL”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets (including trade
and other receivables, debt instruments at FVTOCI, amounts
due from fellow subsidiaries, bills receivables and cash and
cash equivalents) and financial guarantee contracts which
are subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The
amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL")
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date. Assessments are done based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The ECL on those assets are assessed
individually and/or collectively with appropriate groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (continued)
In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit default
swap prices for the debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLlCIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

U

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at
the reporting date. A debt instrument is determined
to have low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of default,
(i) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term
and (i) adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to
fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The Group
considers a debt instrument to have low credit
risk when it has an internal or external credit rating
of ‘investment grade’ as per globally understood
definitions.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that
the Group becomes a party to the irrevocable
commitment is considered to be the date of initial
recognition for the purposes of assessing impairment.
In assessing whether there has been a significant
increase in the credit risk since initial recognition for
financial guarantee contracts, the Group considers
the changes in the risk that the specified debtor will
default on the contract.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

U

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account
any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRARMEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider;

it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLlCIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(V)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off
may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the probability
of default and loss given default is based on historical
data and forward-looking information. Estimation of
ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted
amount that is determined with the respective risks of
default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

W)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is
required to make payments only in the event of a
default by the debtor in accordance with the terms
of the instrument that is guaranteed. Accordingly, the
ECL is the present value of the expected payments to
reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs less
any amounts that the Group expects to receive from
the holder, the debtor or any other party.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables are
considered on a collective basis taking into
consideration past due information and relevant credit
information such as forward-looking macroeconomic
information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

° Past-due status;
o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
° External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by the management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue to
share similar credit risk characteristics.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRARMIEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTI NG POLlCI ES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised cost

of the financial asset.

Except for investments in debt instruments that
are measured at FVTOCI and financial guarantee
contracts, the Group recognises an impairment gain
or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments by
adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception
of trade receivables, where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance
account. For investments in debt instruments that are
measured at FVTOCI, the loss allowance is recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
the investment revaluation reserve without reducing
the carrying amount of these debt instruments. Such
amount represents the changes in the investment
revaluation reserve in relation to accumulated loss

allowance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Derecognition/modification of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset at amortised cost, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum
of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in
profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in a debt instrument
classified as at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve is
reclassified to profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which
the Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at
FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in
the investment revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit
or loss, but is transferred to retained profits.

A modification of a financial asset occurs if the contractual
cash flows are renegotiated or otherwise modified.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Derecognition/modification of financial assets (continued)
When the contractual terms of a financial asset are modified,
the Group assesses whether the revised terms result in
a substantial modification from original terms taking into
account all relevant facts and circumstances including
qualitative factors. If qualitative assessment is not conclusive,
the Group considers the terms are substantially different if the
discounted present value of the cash flows under the new
terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received, and
discounted using the original effective interest rate, is at least
10 per cent different from the discounted present value of
the remaining cash flows of the original financial asset, after
reducing gross carrying amount that has been written off.

For non-substantial modifications of financial assets that do
not result in derecognition, the carrying amount of the relevant
financial assets will be calculated at the present value of the
modified contractual cash flows discounted at the financial
assets’ original effective interest rate. Transaction costs or
fees incurred are adjusted to the carrying amount of the
modified financial assets and are amortised over the remaining
term. Any adjustment to the carrying amount of the financial
asset is recognised in profit or loss at the date of modification.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (continued)
Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables,
bills payables, dividends payable, amounts due to fellow
subsidiaries and bank borrowings are subsequently measured

at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the
issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder
for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make
payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt

instrument.

Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured initially at
their fair values and are subsequently measured at the higher

of:

(i) the amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9; and

(i) the amount initially recognised less, where

appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised over

the guarantee period.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid

and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Changes in the basis for determining the contractual cash
flows as a result of interest rate benchmark reform

For changes in the basis for determining the contractual
cash flows of a financial asset or financial liability to which the
amortised cost measurement applies as a result of interest
rate benchmark reform, the Group applies the practical
expedient to account for these changes by updating the
effective interest rate, such change in effective interest rate
normally has no significant effect on the carrying amount of
the relevant financial asset or financial liability.

A change in the basis for determining the contractual cash
flows is required by interest rate benchmark reform if and only
if, both these conditions are met:

o the change is necessary as a direct consequence of
interest rate benchmark reform; and

° the new basis for determining the contractual cash
flows is economically equivalent to the previous basis
(i.e. the basis immediately preceding the change).

For other changes made to a financial asset or financial
liability in addition to changes to the basis for determining the
contractual cash flows required by interest rate benchmark
reform, the Group first applies the practical expedient to
the changes required by interest rate benchmark reform by
updating the effective interest rate. The Group then applies
the applicable requirements in HKFRS 9 on modification of
a financial asset or a financial liability (see accounting policy
above) to the additional changes to which the practical
expedient does not apply.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

PR aR M

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the Directors are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if revision
affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the Directors have made in the process
of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in consolidated financial
statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties (Notes 14 and 19)
For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred tax
assets arising from investment properties that are measured using the
fair value model, the Directors have reviewed the Group’s investment
property portfolios as at 31 December 2022, and concluded that
the Group’s investment properties located in the PRC with carrying
amounts of HK$230,262,000 (2021: HK$324,635,000) are held under
a business model which objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment properties over time,
rather than through sale. Therefore, the Directors have determined the
presumption that the carrying amounts of such investment properties
are recovered entirely through sale is rebutted. As a result, the Group
has not recognised deferred taxes on LAT in respect of changes in
fair value of such investment properties but has recognised deferred
tax on EIT on the assumption that these investment properties will be
recovered through use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (ontinueq)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

(continued)

Deferred taxation on investment properties (Notes 14 and 19)

(continued)

As at 31 December 2022, the investment properties located in
Hong Kong and the United Kingdom with carrying amounts of
HK$412,290,000 (2021: HK$418,790,000) and HK$625,873,000
(2021: HK$697,834,000) respectively are not held under a business
model with the objective of which is to recover the economic benefits
of the investment properties entirely through use. No deferred tax is
recognised in respect of the fair value changes in such investment
properties as the Group is not subject to any income taxes on
disposal of investment properties in Hong Kong. The Group is subject
to Capital Gains Tax on disposal of investment properties in the
United Kingdom. No deferred tax is recognised in respect of the fair
value change in such investment properties located in the United

Kingdom as the amount is insignificant.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that may have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the

next financial year.

Allowance for inventories (Note 21)

In determining the net realisable value of the Group’s inventories, the
management considers the fluctuations in price, the balance on hand
relative to sales prospect and the condition of the inventories and
estimate the net realisable value of inventories based on estimated
selling prices and market condition to the extent that such condition
exists at the end of reporting period, less the estimated cost of
completion and costs necessary to make the sale. Where the net
realisable value is less than the carrying amount, impairment loss
will arise. Write-down of HK$454,513,000 (2021: Write-down of
HK$321,767,000) on inventories has been recognised in the profit or
loss during the year ended 31 December 2022. As at 31 December
2022, the carrying amount of inventories was HK$2,429,643,000

(2021: HK$2,653,835,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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PR aR M

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
ECL for trade receivables (Notes 22 and 32)

Trade receivables that are credit-impaired are assessed for ECL
individually, the remaining trade receivables are assessed collectively
based on shared credit risk characteristics by reference to the
Group’s internal credit ratings. The estimated loss rates are estimated
based on historical observed default rates over the expected life of
the debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort. At every reporting date, the
historical observed default rates are reassessed and changes in the
forward-looking information are considered.

The ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The information about
the ECL and the Group’s trade receivables are disclosed in notes 32
and 22 respectively.

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of trade receivables
was HK$3,140,288,000 (2021: HK$5,582,073,000), net of allowance
for credit losses of HK$574,985,000 (2021: HK$661,595,000).

Estimated net realisable value on properties held for
development (Note 23)

In determining whether write down should be made to the Group’s
properties held for development, the Group determined the net
realisable value of the properties held for development by reference
to the estimated selling price less estimated costs to completion
of the properties and costs necessary to make the sale. The future
selling prices are estimated by reference to the recent selling prices
of similar properties in the same project or relevant locations. In
addition, the management estimated the future costs to complete
the PHD and costs necessary to make the sale by reference to the
actual development costs and selling expenses incurred and the
completion status. If the actual net realisable value on properties held
for development is less than expected as a result of change in market
conditions and/or significant variations in the budgeted development
cost, material write down may result. As at 31 December 2022,
the carrying amount of properties held for development was
HK$175,068,000 (2021: HK$1,460,556,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (ontinueq)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Fair value measurements and valuation processes

Some of the Group’s assets are measured at fair value for financial
reporting purposes. The Directors have a designated team to
determine the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair

value measurements.

In estimating the fair value of the Group’s investment properties,
the Group uses market-observable data to the extent it is available.
Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages
independent qualified valuer to perform the valuation of the Group’s
investment properties. At the end of each reporting period, the
valuation committee of the Group work closely with the independent
qualified valuer to establish and determine the appropriate
valuation techniques and inputs for Level 2 and Level 3 fair value
measurements. The Group will first consider and adopt Level 2 inputs
where inputs can be observable, other than quoted prices in the
active market. When Level 2 inputs are not available, the Group will
adopt valuation techniques that include Level 3 inputs. Where there
is a material change in the fair value of the assets, the causes of the
fluctuations will be reported to the Directors. Any changes in the price
per square meter in reference with recent transactions will affect the
fair value of the investment properties of the Group. Information about
the valuation techniques and inputs used in determining the fair value
of the Group’s investment properties are disclosed in note 14. As at
31 December 2022, the carrying amount of investment properties

was HK$1,268,425,000 (2021: HK$1,441,259,000).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Fair value measurements and valuation processes (continued)

In relying on the valuation report, the Directors have exercised their
judgement and are satisfied that the method of valuation is reflective
of the current market conditions. Changes to these assumptions,
including the potential risk of any market violation, policy, geopoalitical
and social changes or other unexpected incidents as a result
of change in macroeconomic environment, travel restrictions
implemented by many countries, increased complexity in international
trade tensions geopolitics, changes in policy direction and/or
mortgage requirements, or other unexpected incidents would result
in changes in the fair values of the Group’s investment properties and
the corresponding adjustments to the amount of gain or loss reported
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

In estimating the fair value of the Group’s equity instruments at FVTPL
and debt instruments at FVTOCI, the Group uses market-observable
data to the extent it is available. For listed equity securities classified as
equity instruments at FVTPL, the fair values of the listed securities are
determined by reference to the quoted market bid prices available. For
bond securities classified as debt instruments at FVTOCI, where Level
1 inputs are not available, the Directors assess the fair value of the
Group’s bond securities listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities
Trading Limited (“SGX”) based on quoted prices over-the-counter
markets at the end of each reporting period. Where there is a material
change in the fair value of the equity instruments at FVTPL and debt
instruments at FVTOCI, the causes of the fluctuations will be reported
to the Directors. Notes 17, 18 and 32(c) provide detailed information
about the valuation techniques, inputs and key assumptions used
in the determination of fair value of the Group’s equity instruments
at FVTPL and debt instruments of FVTOCI. As at 31 December
2022, the carrying amounts of equity instruments at FVTPL and
debt instruments at FVTOCI were HK$1,421,718,000 (2021:
HK$1,619,523,000) and HK$104,352,000 (2021: HK$115,054,000)
respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

5. REVENUE 5. X
Analysis of revenue for the year is as follows: FREEBNOTAT -
2022 2021
—E-—F —T -4
HK$’°000 HK$’000
FH&T T
Revenue recognised at a point in time RE RN EEEE
Sales of glass epoxy laminates HERAWBHERIRAEIR 12,443,665 20,795,401
Sales of paper laminates SHERERER 1,544,064 2,240,799
Sales of upstream materials (note a) HE B R(Msta) 4,035,387 3,857,153
Sales of properties HEME 3,064,620 592,273
Others (note b) H At (MI7Eb) 1,111,212 1,100,421
Revenue recognised over time (note ¢) BERS I RERAY & 258 (B 3Ece) 44,255 59,813
Revenue from contracts with customers BEEA MU 22,243,203 28,645,860
Rental income (Note 34) TS WA (B7E34) 61,535 70,838
Interest income from debt instruments B TAERNSWA 8,433 37,918
Dividend income i B A 50,509 45,194
22,363,680 28,799,810
Notes: BAE -
(@) Sales of upstream materials include sales of copper foil, epoxy resin, glass @ LRt E R HEIRE - RAH
fabric and bleached kraft paper. The payment terms are ranged from O day e - BEBER RO ARRR - 5
to 120 days. fRA0E120K °
(b) Others mainly includes sales of specialty resin of HK$891,967,000 (2021: (b) EMmETZREHEREHREA
HK$775,778,000). 891,967,000 & 7T ( = & = — & :

775,778,000/ 7T) °
(© Revenue recognised over time represents income from hotel (0) BER RO EERABEER R

accommodation of HK$44,255,000 (2021: HK$59,813,000). A 442550008 L (= F = — 4 =
59,813,000/ 7T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

5. REVENUE (continued)

The revenue of the Group arising from sales of glass epoxy laminates,
paper laminates, upstream materials and specialty resin is recognised
at a point in time. Under the transfer-of-control approach in
HKFRS 15, revenue from these sales is recognised when customer
acceptance has been obtained, which is the point of time when
the customer has the ability to direct the use of these products and
obtain substantially all of the remaining benefits of these products.

The revenue of the Group arising from sales of properties in the
ordinary course of business is recognised at a point in time when the

customer obtains control of the respective properties.

Revenue from hotel accommodation is recognised over time, as
the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits

provided by the Group’s performance as the Group performs.

Transaction price allocated to the remaining

performance obligation for contracts with customers

Apart for sales of properties, all contracts have an original expected
duration of one year or less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not

disclosed.

The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations for sales of properties (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied)
as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 and the expected timing of

recognising revenue are as follows:

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

5. EXHu

AEEBHERAFBEAETRER -
MAEIEIR - _ERFR RS R s E
EREERINE—REMER - RE
BB RIRERE 155 MIEHIRES
% REHERRDNEREPEXE
R ERPARNEIEZZTERN
ERARERZSFEMBAMO R T Mt
B B o

AEERABEBBIETHEMEEL
MEXENTPESEMMENIZGIE
Z SR T IARERR,

EEEELLENEERT  BARS
B A 45 B 40 M ER PR A S
AP AHREIFIS -

RETRERTEFENENE
ENR 5B

BEEMES  EANRBEERY
R—ERIAT o BUNEBH 150 HEa
FISHEM AR - DREXERTRAN
M35 BB TR -

RZEZZFR_FT=-_—F+=A
—+—H  HEVESREHRTREOE
ECRER B RER) R HERR
TEHARER S SEER T

2022 2021

—E-—F —E-—F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FE T BT

Within one year —FR 52,418 2,170,263
More than one year but not more than —F L HETHRBME

two years - 602,657

52,418 2,772,920
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments” (“HKFRS 8”) requires operating
segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports about
components of the Group that are regularly reviewed by Chief
Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”) in order to allocate resources to
segments and to assess their performance. Specifically, the Group’s
reportable segments under HKFRS 8 are organised into three main
operating divisions — (i) manufacturing and sale of laminates; (ii)
properties; and (jii) investments.

The accounting policies the Group used for segment reporting under
HKFRS 8 are the same as those used in its HKFRS consolidated
financial statements. Segment results represents the profit earned
or loss incurred by each segment with certain items not included
(unallocated corporate income and expenses, share-based payments
and finance costs). This is the measure reported to the CODM for the
purpose of resource allocation and performance assessment.

(@) Segment revenue and results
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results
by operating and reportable segments:

For the year ended 31 December 2022

EEEERERER QT

7 EBE R

BEMBERRERNFESRI KL DA
(IBEEMBERHERFESSR]) BRIAE
REERARE([TREERREEY
DEMFE IR B R AHME ERIR LATE
ZHNERAEE TR Z NS
EREERED 2 EE - AfgM = -
REBPBRMERNESHE T - NEE
ZRATERZDBIR=EIRELES
B-()BEREEFBRER : ()W
(i) & o

AR BIRAR B8 B 75 5 2 R £ 857
P B2 MR SFER - BEARES
MBRMEAZ FRMBERER - 5
MEERKRE D EPTRIAEN 52K
BEE - BETEERKERE CROBH
RARARZHE - BN AL BRE
KA - ERBEREBLERERE
AREIRD BB ©
(@ DEERBERER
IRIBAEE KRRy 7R8I 0 2 A&
BERBMEEOTTT

BE-_Z-_—_f+-H=+—H

LHFEE

Laminates Properties  Investments Consolidated
IES RE =E
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
TET TET TET

(Note a) (Note b) (Note c)

(HzEa) (P aEb) (HizEe)
Segment revenue DEBLEEE 19,134,328 3,170,410 58,942 22,363,680
Segment results DEEE 2,266,378 1,560,948 (201,122) 3,626,204
Unallocated corporate income PR A/NCIL N 44,460
Unallocated corporate expenses A HEEZ AFIEH (134,506)
Share-based payments R R (48,000)
Finance costs BB A (130,392)
Profit before taxation BRI A& A 3,357,766

B FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued 6. DEER
(@ Segment revenue and results (continued) (@ PHKREREEE
For the year ended 31 December 2021 gz —H+=-BA=+—8
LFE

Laminates Properties Investments  Consolidated
BIER S K& fRa
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FET TR TET

(Note a) (Note b) (Note c)

(Fzta) (Fztb) GED)

Segment revenue DEPEELE 27,993,774 722,924 83,112 28,799,810
Segment results DESEE 8,116,680 320,693 118,022 8,555,395
Unallocated corporate income PN /NI ON 36,217
Unallocated corporate expenses KD EZ AR H (124,032)
Finance costs BB (80,665)
Profit before taxation BRTE A& A 8,386,915

Notes: B EE

@ The management aggregated the revenue derived from the (@) EREBHERATBEEERTDNR -
sales of glass epoxy laminates, paper laminates and upstream MBIREIR - LRk - SHEREERE
materials, the sales of specialty resin and others into “Laminates” REMEOAIBERERIDEL
segment.

(b) The management aggregated the revenue derived from the sales (b) BEEBYENS - HBEBABE R
of properties, rental income and hotel income into “Properties” ANEEREEERIINE 1HEF -
segment because the financial performance of these businesses A RZEEBNIMBRFETRNY
are affected by changes in the property market. TSR o

©) The management aggregated the revenue derived from the () ERESEETAMBBAREZTA
interest income from debt instruments and dividend income from IRBMAEEREEHAIRE D -

equity instruments into “Investments” segment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBmRMETE
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (ontinued 6. DEER @
(b) Segment assets and liabilities b) HHBEEREE
The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities AT Biie s R By EEln 2
by operating and reportable segments: AEEEERBE DN

At 31 December 2022

Assets
Segment assets
Unallocated assets
- Deferred tax assets
- Taxation recoverable
- Cash and cash equivalents

Consolidated total assets

Liabilities
Segment liabilities
Unallocated liabilities
- Bank borrowings
- Deferred tax liabilities
— Taxation payable
- Dividends payable

Consolidated total liabilities

gE
NHBE
ADEZEE
—ERERAEE
— AR EIR IR
- RERBEEED

HREERE

R

NEaE

APEZBE
—RITREE
—EERARE
— A
— AR

FRABRE

Laminates

BHER
HK$’000
THET

17,387,710

(2,885,797)

R-ZE-_—F+=-HA=+—H

Properties
/S
HK$°000
TR

2,155,017

(556,537)

Investments

HK$’000
TET

1,445,900

Consolidated
RE &E
HK$’000

TET

20,988,627
3,113

18,119
3,289,953

24,299,812

- (3,442,334)
(4,400,000)
(318,962)

(598,525)
(468,000)

(9,227,821)

B FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BHRME
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued 6. DEER
(b) Segment assets and liabilities (continued) b) ABEEREE®)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities AT AIREE RBRRABEIS 2

by operating and reportable segments: (continued) rEEEERBE DN« (B)

At 31 December 2021 R-B=-—F+=-HA=+—H

Laminates Properties Investments  Consolidated
BHER mE ®E Fae)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T THL FET FET
Assets BE
Segment assets DEEE 21,518,587 3,692,204 1,734,577 26,945,368
Unallocated assets APBZEE
— Deferred tax assets —EIEFIBEEE 2,810
— Taxation recoverable — A E IR 8,718
- Cash and cash equivalents -BEMREEED 2,864,889
Consolidated total assets TEAERE 29,821,785
Liabilities &8
Segment liabilities HEa’E (3,518,203) (2,640,159) - (6,158,362)
Unallocated liabilities AREZEE
— Bank borrowings —fIIEE (2,714,902)
- Deferred tax liabilities —EERAEE (76,943)
- Taxation payable —EHHIIE (870,454)
- Dividends payable — FERTRR A (936,000
Consolidated total liabilities meafEemE (10,756,661)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and RERDERBRRDEEHEEIR -

allocating resources between segments:

. all assets are allocated to operating segments other . MRIBEETIIHEE - A EBiIE A
than deferred tax assets, taxation recoverable and LR RBRESEMIN MBE
cash and cash equivalents; and EASRELEDNE &

. all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other . MRIBITRE BEHEEE &
than bank borrowings, deferred tax liabilities, taxation HBEIEREMREIN - TEAG
payable and dividends payable. HORELEDES ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBERRME
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (ontinued) 6. DEER
(c)  Other information (c) HtEH
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE-—E-—_—f#+=-A=+—H
IEFE
Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss or SFADEMER SR D BB ETER
segment assets. ¥ o
Laminates Properties  Investments Consolidated
BHER L/ & )
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000
TER TEx TER TER
Capital additions BINIER 2,417,678 933 - 2,418,611
Depreciation of property, M BEREEZ
plant and equipment e (769,479) (12,012) - (781,491)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets  {f EEEITE (12,218) (3,149) - (15,367)
Loss on fair value changes of BAFE AN BN ER
equity instruments at FVTPL TEDFEEZHESR = = (24,780) (24,780)
Loss on fair value changes of RENMELNTEEEZ
investment properties B8 - (45,566) - (45,566)
Loss on disposal and written off of & RREIE
property, plant and equipment B R EEE (1,821) - - (1,821)
Write-down of inventories WREE (454,513) - - (454,513)
Net impairment (reversed) loss TE HEIEETIER
recognised on trade receivables  JFfE(EM@)EIEFE 28,789 (11) = 28,778
Impairment losses under expected  TAHRZ EEIEHERIE T
credit loss model on debt BRAFET AL M
instruments at fair value through WH7EBBIAZ
other comprehensive income EEE - - (186,501) (186,501)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BHRME
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued 6. DEER
(c)  Other information (continued) (c) HaER®E
For the year ended 31 December 2021 gz-E-_—HF+=-BA=+—8
LHEE
Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss or SFADEMERERD EEETER
segment assets. EACI
Laminates Properties Investments  Consolidated
BHER mE ®E FE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET TEL THET
Capital additions NN 1,302,471 772 - 1,303,243
Depreciation of property, M BEREEZ
plant and equipment nE (705,048) (12,864) - (717,912)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets  {f EEEITE (14,645) (155) - (14,800)
Gain on fair value changes of BRATEFABENER
equity instruments at FVTPL TEAFEEHE - - 15,713 15,713
Gain on disposal of debt HERRNFEFAEMER
instruments at FVTOCI WamES LA - - 25,022 25,022
Loss on disposal and written off of & R EEIE -
property, plant and equipment B R EEE (20,749) - - (20,749)
Write-down of inventories MEFE (321,767) - - (321,767)
Net impairment loss recognised on 5t & S EMEEFTIER 2
trade receivables FEBEFE (63,809) - - (63,809)

The Group operates principally in the PRC (country of
domicile).

AEBETREBURTE(RNEEZFT
FEHh)

ANNUAL REPORT 2022



-

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

6.

EEEERERERLF

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. DEER
(c)  Other information (continued) (c) HERE®
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue from NTRAEBEREZFPSHELH
external customers by geographical location of the customers Hh2h o sk T B U A KA B
or tenants or in the case of interest income and dividend ABIBBREH AR E TN E
income, the principal place of business of the investee or BEEMBAINI RS S XD
debtor. #r o
2022 2021
—E- —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET F&T
The PRC (country of domicile) H B (NS B 2 FrfEih) 20,804,359 26,666,134
Other foreign countries: HMBEXK
Other Asian countries HAbTMEIZR 1,266,750 1,871,965
Europe B 135,644 144,357
America M 156,927 117,354
22,363,680 28,799,810
Revenue from one of the Group’s customers, being REREEBRARD PEH—
KHL’s subsidiaries, in laminates segment amounted to BEPAREEENE AT E
HK$4,096,187,000 (2021: HK$4,856,648,000), which ¥%854,096,187,0008 (=&
individually accounted for over 10% of the Group’s revenue = —% : 4,856,648,000/7T) -
for the year. Detall is disclosed in note 39. EAREEARFENEERER
10% ° BRI FE39HKEE -
The geographical analysis of the Group’s non-current assets, MRIEERIEEE « A TFERTA
other than deferred tax assets, equity instruments at FVTPL EnmEn T AREAFERTA
and debt instruments at FVTOCI by location of assets is Htt2EPmmNEHBIAN - K
presented as follows: SEBERBEEREEI O
25T
2022 2021
—E-—F T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
The PRC (country of domicile) PR (AREE 2 FriEih) 8,250,725 7,874,357
Hong Kong a8 428,557 425,440
United Kingdom [ 625,872 697,834
Thailand =H 320,305 236,366
9,625,459 9,234,497
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

7. OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES 7. HiA - WEREE

2022 2021
—EC-CF TEC
HK$’°000 HK$’000
FET FET

Other income, gains and losses includes: Hiplg A ~ Wz M EEeE
Government grants (Note) B aERL () 56,612 56,491
Interest income on bank balances and deposits $847458 R 17382 Fl 4 A 31,204 22,388

Loss on disposal and written off of property, I RIMEETE - BB &
plant and equipment B (1,821) (20,749)
Others Hih 26,936 26,787
Total “aEt 112,931 84,917
Note:  During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recognised M MEE—_ZT-——F+-_A=+—HIF

government grants of HK$408,000 (2021: nil) which related to Employment
Support Scheme provided by the Hong Kong Government. The remaining
government grants are related to unemployment insurance premium
refunds, import of high technology products, development support and
support for stabilising employment received by the Group from relevant
government departments. There are no unfulfilled conditions attached to
these grants.

B REERERE BB AREfRRF
AT BB BIROBUIT 4 85 408,00078 7T
(ZZ2=—%: 8) - BT OBITHAER
AEE YRR AT A PTRES R R E R
BRE  SWRMEREASTE  BR
SERIBEREIIER - REEMZER
BRE ORI R -

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. REMA

2022 2021
—E- - —4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Interest on bank borrowings RITIEEF B 146,117 94,619
Imputed interest on contract liabilities EHBEEZHETRE - 1,810
Interest on lease liabilities HESERNBE 81 95

Less: Amounts capitalised in the construction 3 : 2 TRHENMLEEE
in progress (15,806) (14,049)

Amounts capitalised in the properties SAFERYERN

held for development B2 = (1,810
130,392 80,665

For the year ended 31 December 2021, bank and other borrowing
costs capitalised during the year include imputed interest on contract
liabilities of HK$1,810,000 (2022: nil) as well as, bank borrowing costs
arising from the general borrowing pool which were calculated by
applying a weighted average capitalisation rate of 1.87% (2022: nil)
per annum to expenditure on qualifying assets.

HEZZT-_—F+ZRA=+—HLHF
E FREEAMEMRITREMEERK
ABEEFEEHBENHERNE1,810,000
BL(ZTZZF - @IUR—REED
EENRITEERA - HFtEH ERE
AEEREERIMEFHERNMFFR

R187T%(ZT-—4F : 4#) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RENBHRME
9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 9. FBBiBxX
2022 2021
—Eo—fF —E—F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHT
The amount comprises: HIEBE
PRC EIT B ZEFTISH 427,922 1,295,764
PRC LAT ARt I (ER 528,034 97,850
Hong Kong Profits Tax EBRER 7,389 14,463
Taxation arising in other jurisdictions H el s BiE 13,309 17,489
Withholding tax in the PRC B 230,012 178,642
1,206,666 1,604,208
Deferred taxation IEERE
— Charge (credit) for the year (Note 19) — AN E S (B E) (KHiFE19) 241,716 (772)
1,448,382 1,603,436
Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on EIT (the “EIT RRIPEAREXMBCEMEBRIE]
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of ([REMERE]D) REHED - mESE
the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years. ERFEMBATZ CEMESHRHES
25% °
Under the EIT Law, withholding tax of 5% to 10% is imposed on RBREEMETE  BZZ2ZEN\F—A
dividends declared in respect of profits earned by subsidiaries in —HE - B B B AT E A R ATERER
Mainland China from 1 January 2008 onwards. B AR AT B R B9 AR B 5% = 10% &Y
TEHRRR ©
Pursuant to the EIT Law, a High-New Technology Enterprise shall RREEMETE - SFRmeETR
be entitled to a preferential tax rate of 15% for three years since it HEEARAUEZERA=FM15%H
was officially endorsed. Certain subsidiaries in the PRC obtained EEE - FTHEMBAREEHRE
official endorsement as a High-New Technology Enterprise (“Tax REAENEE(HREEE] - 2/EH
Concession”) and with the expiry dates on or before 2024 (2021: RBIEZMFR2AI(ZE—F =
2023). T-=%F)e

B FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (ontinueq)

The provision of LAT is estimated according to the requirements
set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws and regulations. LAT has
been levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on the
appreciation of land value, represented by the excess of sales
proceeds of properties over prescribed direct costs. Prescribed
direct costs are defined to include costs of land, development and
construction costs, as well as certain costs relating to the property
development. According to the State Administration of Taxation’s
official circulars, LAT shall be payable provisionally upon sales of
the properties, followed by final ascertainment of the gain at the

completion of the properties development.

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed
The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill”) which
introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill was signed
into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted on the following day.
Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of
profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits
above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group
entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will

continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

The Directors considered the amount involved upon implementation
of the two-tiered profits tax rates regime as insignificant to the
consolidated financial statements. Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated

at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profit for both years.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates

prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBERRME
0. |NCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 9 Fﬁ ﬁlaaﬁi'i =)
Income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the profit before REEZFEHBALEGEERREH
taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or loss as follows: AR N2 BRI -
2022 2021
—E-CF T —F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAT
Profit before taxation B 75 B2 A 3,357,766 8,386,915
Tax charge at the domestic income tax rate of A Bl {2 FTSH K 25%
25% (2021: 25%) (Note) (ZB=—F : 25%)itE 2
Bk (HiEE) 839,442 2,096,729
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for TR EBRZ
tax purpose D2 76,223 23,735
Tax effect of income not taxable for BERDIME 2
tax purpose Mg E (24,112) (44,887)
PRC LAT AR £ b IR (E 528,034 97,850
Tax effect of PRC LAT B S E R 2 B R 2 (132,009) (24,462)
Tax effect of Tax Concession MISEB BB E (401,060) (699,036)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised ATHERHEEE 2GR 34,663 4,432
Utilisation of tax losses previously AU RFERZ
not recognised MIBEE (31,617) (5,774)
Effect of withholding tax on dividend income 1 EIKHE A FLREE AR B UL A
from PRC subsidiaries HRAMERT MG E 230,012 178,642
Effect of withholding tax on undistributed TERR L E P BT A Rl FEAL
profits attributable to the PRC subsidiaries R IRSm T 2 363,628 -
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries I AR EFTSHESN -
operating in other jurisdictions/areas other AE A RIERE R [ AL
than the domestic income tax rate MERRZ TRE 28 (34,672) (23,673)
Effect of tax reduction Ve -7 (150) (120)
Income tax expense for the year RFE 2 B 1,448,382 1,603,436

Note:

The domestic income tax rate of 25% (2021: 25%) represents the PRC EIT

rate of which the Group’s operations are substantially based.

B A BEERBE26% (=T =—
F : 25%) AAEB AN D EBERN
FEERBHE -

B FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

10. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

10. AFERR

2022 2021
—E-—F —T -4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Profit for the year has been arrived at RERRMNE LR GEA)

after charging (crediting): LATIERE ¢
Auditor’s remuneration ZE M E 3,750 3,750
Cost of inventories sold BEEFEZRA 15,581,379 18,418,873
Cost of properties sold EEMHE KA 1,214,628 241,022
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  #1% - = MREZITE 781,491 717,912
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TREESENE 15,367 14,800
Less: capitalised in inventories W B EE (686,749) (638,698)

110,109 94,014
Direct operating expenses in relation to BB BN EE S ERT

investment properties (T ASHERA)

(included in cost of sales) 23,718 22,457
Net exchange loss M 5 518 5 22,228 40,286
Net impairment (reversed) loss recognised on & 5 FEUER R TER 2

trade receivables E(FEE) B8 558 (28,778) 63,809
Impairment losses under expected credit loss  FEER(E B EEBENIE ML AT E

model on debt instruments at fair value STAHMKSEZEETAE

through other comprehensive income RIEEE 186,501 -
Total staff costs, including directors’ BIRAERE  BifEEe

emoluments (Note 11) (BfsE11) 1,223,898 1,098,671
Write-down of inventories, included in FEMR - st AHERA

cost of sales 454,513 321,767
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBEwRME
11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 1. EE > THHERKEES
AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS [ ke
(@) Directors’ and Chief Executive’s emoluments (@ EBERITHARZMS
The emoluments paid or payable were as follows: BB e T
2022 2021
—E-_—F T4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Fees W 1,236 1,216
Other emoluments: i
Salaries and other benefits e REAER 15,948 15,948
Contributions to retirement benefits EAREFIF B
scheme 802 802
Performance related incentive payment TYERIRMBAEE R IE
(Note i) (P &ED) 77,879 142,699
Share-based payments & AR 37,724 -
133,589 160,665
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

11.

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

(continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Chief Executive’s emoluments

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung is also the Chief Executive of the
Company and his emoluments disclosed above include those
for services rendered by him as the Chief Executive.

Neither the Chief Executive nor any of the Directors has
waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the years
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

Employees’ emoluments
For the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, all of the
five highest paid employees are Directors.

During both years, no emoluments were received or receivable
by the Directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office.

Directors’ material interests in transactions,

arrangements or contracts

As disclosed in note 39, the Group entered into purchase and
sale transactions with its ultimate holding company and its
fellow subsidiaries. The price is to be determined and agreed
between the parties from time to time with reference to the
prevailing market price. Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa, Mr. Cheung
Kwok Keung, Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping, Mr. Lam Ka Po and
Mr. Cheung Ka Ho, the executive Directors, are interested
in these transactions to the extent that they have indirect
beneficial interests in the fellow subsidiaries. In addition, Mr.
Cheung Kwok Wa, Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung, Mr. Cheung
Kwok Ping and Mr. Lam Ka Po have interests in the ultimate
holding company.

Save for the aforementioned transactions, no other significant
transactions, arrangements and contracts to which the
Company or the Group was a party and in which a director
of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBERRME
12. DIVIDENDS 12. RE
2022 2021
—E-—F T4
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAET
Dividends declared and/or paid BEEREHEIRMNEE
2022 Interim dividend of HK15.0 cents T FRHRE
(2021: HK30.0 cents) per ordinary share TR A% 15.078(L
—EF 4 : 30.0/8(l) 468,000 936,000
2021 Final dividend of HK120.0 cents B —FREKRE
(2020: HK35.0 cents) per ordinary share BRI RAR120.081(L
(ZZE=ZF : 35.08()
3,744,000 1,092,000
2020 Special final dividend of HK15.0 cents T RFESRIRE S
per ordinary share (2022: nil) TR A% 15.078(L
(T —F: 8|) - 468,000
4,212,000 2,496,000
Dividends proposed EERE
Proposed 2022 Final dividend of HK20.0 cents & —F — —F RHEIR S
(2021: HK120.0 cents) per ordinary share TEA%20.07811
(ZZ=—%F : 120.0/81) 624,000 3,744,000
The final dividend of HK20.0 cents per ordinary share amounted to EEEFWHE T _—_F+=8
HK$624,000,000 in respect of the year ended 31 December 2022 —t+t—BUHFERERPBREERYE
(2021: final dividend of HK120.0 cents per ordinary share amounted i % 20.08 1L - & F A& 624,000,000
to HK$3,744,000,000 in respect of the year ended 31 December B (- —FpEBEE_ZT - —
2021) have been proposed by the Directors and are subject to the F+-_A=Z+—HIEFEMmME * K
approval by the shareholders of the Company in the forthcoming i% B FRRE @AY 120.0 Bl - ©% &
annual general meeting. 3,744,000,000%7T) * MARFAR AR

RREEBRRBEXNGHE - TAIE

-
=)

B FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE 13. BRER
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share attributable KNG EANEREIRERN S RF
to owners of the Company is based on the following data: RRBIEETE
2022 2021
—E-—F T4
HK$’°000 HK$’'000
FH&T T
Earnings for the purpose of calculating FTEEREARREERN 2 W
basic and diluted earnings per share (ZZ=——F : BRELEFN)
(2021: basic earnings per share) 1,909,169 6,781,656

Number of shares

BROEE
2022 2021
—E- & T
’000 '000
TR FI
Weighted average number of ordinary shares IR EARZEF| 7 L F@AK
for the purpose of basic earnings per share INHESE 8L 3,120,000 3,120,000
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares AELEREEy ) BETEE
arising from share options (note) WE Bk v 2 (MYEE) - N/AZ 3 A
Weighted average number of ordinary shares SRR EBE R T 2 L @R
for the purpose of diluted earnings per share  hN#EFI988 3,120,000 N/AZNiE
Note:  The computation of diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31 Wik : FEEE-Z-_—F+=-A=1+—HH
December 2022 did not assume the exercise of the Company’s share TFREE R A EBREITEAR R A
options because the exercise price of the share options was higher than i RAZSERENTEESR
the average market prices of shares of the Company during the year ended ARRRORBE=TE=_=F+=A
31 December 2022. =+—HIEFERTITE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 14. REYI=

ERERERRZ A

HK$’000
FHExT

FAIR VALUE NFE
At 1 January 2021 W_E-_—F—H—H 1,438,063
Exchange adjustments P H, 3% 3,196
At 31 December 2021 N_T-—F+=-HA=+—81 1,441,259
Disposals HeE (42,155)
Loss on fair value changes NEZEEE (45,560)
Exchange adjustments bE 5 FAEE (85,113)
At 31 December 2022 N-E-_—_F+-_A=+—H 1,268,425

The Group leases out various offices under operating leases with
rentals payable monthly. The leases typically run for a fixed period of
11to 7 years (2021: 1 to 17 years).

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of the
lease arrangement, as all leases are denominated in the respective
functional currencies of group entities. The lease contracts do not
contain residual value guarantee and/or lessee’s option to purchase
the property at the end of lease term.

In determining the fair value of the relevant properties, the Directors
have set up a valuation committee, which is headed up by the
persons in charge of financial matters of the Group, to determines
the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair value
measurements.

The Group engages an independent qualified valuer to perform its
valuations. The management works closely with the independent
qualified valuer to establish the appropriate valuation techniques and
inputs to the model. The persons in charge of financial matters report
the management findings to the Directors every quarter to explain the
cause of fluctuations in the fair value of the assets and liabilities.

The Group’s investment properties were classified as Level 3 of the
fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2022 and 2021.

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at 31 December
2022 and 2021 had been arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried
out by Ravia Global Appraisal Advisory Limited, an independent
qualified valuer not connected to the Group. Ravia Global Appraisal
Advisory Limited is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors.
The valuation was determined based on direct comparison method
by reference to the market transactions of similar properties taking in
consideration of timing of reference transaction and property-specific
adjustment factors. There has been no change from the valuation
technique used in prior years.

AEERBKATHELAZERAE -
SAKERESE - HE—RMBENTF1ET
FHEEHEB(ZZZ—F AE17F) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14. }Qﬁ#@% &)

The following table gives information about how the fair values
of these investment properties are determined (in particular, the
valuation technique and inputs used), as well as the fair value
hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are categorised
(Level 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value

measurements is observable.

Investment properties
held by the Group in the

TREJZEREDFE AT ENETH
(R ATE B E R R AEE)
ARz N BT S8 A BURH 1] BR 2
BB AFEFEDEZ AT ERERT
(F—E=8) -

consolidated statement Fair value Valuation techniques Significant
of financial position hierarchy and key inputs unobservable inputs Sensitivity
AEERGEHBMAR  ATE
REZRENF BB HERMREIEDAHE EXTIEEGARE BRE
Hong Kong
Industrial properties in Level 3 Direct comparison Price per square metre, using A significant increase in the price
Hong Kong method based on market  market direct comparable per square metre used would
transactions of similar properties, which is ranged result in a significant increase in
properties taking into from HK$39,493 to HK$42,291  the fair value measurement of
consideration of timing (2021: HK$41,244 to the investment properties, and
of reference transactions ~ HK$43,012) per square metre.  vice versa.
and property-specific
adjustments factors, such
as location, road frontage,
size of property and
facilties.
REBH LIRS E=8 BERLERE BRETS RETSEEULEWENGT GTAKEBRKEABERR

ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14. Tﬁﬁq@%i

Investment properties
held by the Group in the
consolidated statement  Fair value Valuation techniques Significant

of financial position hierarchy and key inputs unobservable inputs Sensitivity

FEBRGEHMBMRRE ATE

BEZREME BEAR HEEMREIERAZE EATUBRBANE HRE

Commercial properties in Level 3 Direct comparison Price per square metre, using A significant increase in the price

Hong Kong method based on market ~ market direct comparable per square metre used would

transactions of similar properties, which is ranged from  result in a significant increase in
properties taking into HK$202,362 to HK$220,660 the fair value measurement of
consideration of timing (2021: HK$193,680 to the investment properties, and

of reference transactions ~ HK$219,937) per square metre.  vice versa.
and property-specific

adjustments factors, such

as location, road frontage,

size of property and
facilities.
REBNEEDE E=R EREETE RETS RETSERUTLENENS SEFRERARLIASEEER

BRNENRS  TEE FHkER NTEEHK EMENQNTEFEAE LA -
LEZZFNEENEME  202,362/872220,66078 7T RZIA °
F*Mﬁﬁl% B (ZT-—F : 1936808 LE
IREEE - MERSR 219,937#T)
5@7& INE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14. Tﬁﬁq@%i

Investment properties

held by the Group in the

consolidated statement  Fair value Valuation techniques Significant

of financial position hierarchy and key inputs unobservable inputs Sensitivity

FEBRGEHMBMRRE ATE

BEZREME BEAR HEEMREIERAZE EATUBRBAZE HRE

PRC

e

Commercial properties in Level 3 Direct comparison Price per square metre, using A significant increase in the price

Shanghai method based on market ~ market direct comparable per square metre used would

transactions of similar properties, which is ranged from  result in a significant increase in
properties taking into RMB29,823 to RMB30,000 the fair value measurement of
consideration of timing (2021: RMB30,000 to the investment properties, and
of reference transactions ~ RMB30,930) per square metre.  vice versa.
and property-specific
adjustments factors, such
as location, road frontage,
size of property and
facilities.

REBNERANE E=H BEERETE REMS REATSEERATLEDENGT STHKERKELARERR
HBRMENZ S UEE  FKER N TFETEHK29,823 EWFENAFEAEAELA
LEZXGHRBURYE  BrLE30008T(ZT=Z— RZTFA .
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14. Tﬁﬁq@%i

Investment properties
held by the Group in the
consolidated statement  Fair value Valuation techniques Significant

of financial position hierarchy and key inputs unobservable inputs Sensitivity

FEBRGEHMBMRRE ATE

BEZREME BEAR HEEMREIERAZE EATUBRBANE HRE

Commercial properties in Level 3 Direct comparison Price per square metre, using A significant increase in the price

Shenzhen method based on market ~ market direct comparable per square metre used would

transactions of similar properties, which is ranged from  result in a significant increase in
properties taking into RMB15,000 to RMB16,035 the fair value measurement of
consideration of timing (2021: RMB14,982 to the investment properties, and

of reference transactions ~ RMB15,800) per square metre.  vice versa.
and property-specific

adjustments factors, such

as location, road frontage,

size of property and
facilities.

KRR E=R EREETE RETS RETSERUTLENENST STAFRERARLIAFERER
BRMENZ S UEE  FKER N FETHKI5000 EMFENLAFESAEAELA
LEZXGHRBURYE BrE16058T(ZTZ— RZTFA .

F*Mﬁﬁl% B 14,9828 15,800/87T)
Euufﬂ EX %%&
5@7& I8N o

B FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRARMEE

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Investment properties
held by the Group in the
consolidated statement
of financial position
AEERGFEHBMRRE
BEZREME

Commercial Shops in
Qingyuan

AN
N/B

(S0t

st

HOPE A RAL

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Fair value
hierarchy
AFE
BERA

Level 3

Valuation techniques
and key inputs

EERTREEGARE

Direct comparison
method based on market
transactions of similar
properties taking into
consideration of timing

of reference transactions
and property-specific
adjustments factors, such
as location, road frontage,
size of property and
facilities.

BELEAE  RETS
BRNENRS  TEE
2ERFMERN R NE
BENHERE - Bt
B REEE - MERE
HER/NE

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

14. REWE »

Significant
unobservable inputs

BATAHERAYE
Price per square metre, using

market direct comparable
properties, which is ranged from

RMB9,330 to RMB11,300 (2021:

RMB10,000 to RMB10,270) per
square metre.

RAMSAERTLENENST
FRER - N TEFEHK9,330
BITE1,3008 (2= —

% 110,000/ 7TE10,270/87T) ©

Sensitivity

BRE

A significant increase in the price
per square metre used would
result in a significant increase in
the fair value measurement of
the investment properties, and
vice versa.

G KERAR LS EE0R
EMFNATEF BB
B2 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14. Tﬁﬁq@%i

Investment properties
held by the Group in the
consolidated statement  Fair value Valuation techniques Significant

of financial position hierarchy and key inputs unobservable inputs Sensitivity

FEBRGEHMBMRRE ATE

BEZREME BEAR HEEMREIERAZE EATUBRBANE HRE

Commercial properties in Level 3 Direct comparison Price per square metre, using A significant increase in the price

Kunshan method based on market ~ market direct comparable per square metre used would

transactions of similar properties, which is ranged from  result in a significant increase in
properties taking into RMB7,108 to RMB7,500 (2021:  the fair value measurement of
consideration of timing RMB6,957 to RMB7,337) per the investment properties, and
of reference transactions ~ square metre. vice versa.

and property-specific
adjustments factors, such
as location, road frontage,

size of property and
facilities.
REWLREADE E=R EREETE RETS RETSERUTLENENST STARERARLIAFERE

BRWENR S WEE  FHARER NTEFEHK7,108 EMENLFEHEARLA
LERSGOGRALDE BrE7S008T(ZE=—F: RZN%-
F*Mﬁﬁl% BIEH 6,957 LET,3378T) °
Euufﬂ EX %%&
5@7& INE o

B FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continueq)

Investment properties
held by the Group in the

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

14. REWZR =

consolidated statement  Fair value Valuation techniques Significant

of financial position hierarchy and key inputs unobservable inputs Sensitivity

rEERGEHBMRK  ATE

BEZREME BEAR HEEMREIERAZE EATUBRBAZE HRE

United Kingdom

HE

Commercial properties in Level 3 Direct comparison Price per square metre, using A significant increase in the price

London method based on market ~ market direct comparable per square metre used would

transactions of similar properties, which is ranged from  result in a significant increase in
properties taking into Great British Pound (‘GBP”") the fair value measurement of
consideration of timing 8,297 to GBP9,427 (2021: the investment properties, and
of reference transactions ~ GBP8,070 to GBP9,139) per vice versa.
and property-specific square metre.
adjustments factors, such
as location, road frontage,
size of property and
facilities.

INGEGITEEEEES F=R BEERETE REWS REATSEERATLEDENGT STHKERKELARERR

BR9ENR S TEE
LERZGNREARNE
BENFAERER 2t
B BEER  MERR
AN -

FKE - BETHK8,207H
B A27THE(Z B —F
8,070E$EE9,13954%) -

BYFOAFEREAE L -
RZ IR

There was no transfer into or out of Level 3 during the year.

All of the Group’s property interests held under operating leases
to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are measured
using the fair value model and are classified and accounted for as
investment properties. In estimating the fair value of the properties,
the highest and best use of the properties is their current use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

2

EHEERERBRAA
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2Ll ng *
15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. Y1% - BERKE
Property,
plant and
Furniture, equipment
Leasehold Plant and fixtures and Motor under
Buildings  improvements machinery equipment vehicles Artwork  construction Total
b £8 YR
g7  HENERE BER#E e AE Bifim BERERE &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
Tén TEn Tén T Tén T Fén T
cost A
At 1 January 2021 R-F--%-f-A 2,054,022 40,606 11,861,736 794,334 72423 18,486 226902 15,088,509
Exchange adjustments ERRg 29,408 (7,164) 332423 28,330 1617 624 55,990 441,008
Addtions HE 26,644 10,268 221,686 26,240 1,214 - 916,295 1,201,347
Disposals and write off HERMH 94 - (177,921) (20,250) (1,571) - (4519 (204,349)
Reclassfications ENAE - - 52,263 59,210 569 - (112,042) -
At 31 December 2021 2,108,980 43710 12,290,187 887,864 74,252 19,110 1,082,632 16,506,735
Exchange adjustments (163,043) (2,946) (1,079,660) (99,579) (4,320) (1,221) (86,740) (1,427,509)
Addtions - - 460,957 43,949 1,382 5144 1,862,850 2,374,282
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-FHBAT - - - (2,011) - - - (2,011)
Disposals and write off HE R - (9,508) (135,166) (7.201) (445) - (12,981) (165,296)
Reclassifications B - 5,666 1,579,345 233,620 1,145 - (1,819,776) -
At 31 December 2022 S St-2 g = 1,956,937 36,927 13,115,663 1,056,642 72,014 23,033 1,025,985 17,286,201
DEPRECIATION it
At 1 January 2021 W-E--£-f-B 508,885 26,626 8,312,549 550,127 56,412 - - 9,454,599
Exchange adjustments EXHE 6,633 (1,932 234118 18,806 1,043 - - 268,668
Provided for the year TEERE 47073 3235 563,831 97,434 6,339 - - 7912
Eliminated on disposals and write off HERTHRHS (04) - (151,452) (19,203 (1414 - - (172,253
At 31 December 2021 RZEZ-E+ZA=1-H 562,497 2799 8,959,046 647,074 62,380 - - 10,268,926
Exchange adjustments Bl 5% (25,104) (749) (764,296) 60,604) (3591) - - (854,341)
Provided for the year TEERE 42,163 2,969 615,598 116,164 4597 - - 781,491
Eliminated on disposal of a subsidlary HE-EMBLTRBTH - - - (389) - - - (389)
Eliminated on disposals and wrte off HERTHERIE - (159) (110,630) (6,054) (420) - - (117,063)
At 31 December 2022 2 g = 579,556 29,993 8,699,718 696,191 62,966 - - 10,088,424
CARRYING VALUE FHE
At 31 December 2022 e gy 1,376,381 6,934 4415945 360451 9,048 23,033 1,025,985 2,1
At 31 December 2021 RZF=-%+ZA=1T-R 1,546,483 15,781 3,331,141 240,790 11872 19,110 1,082,632 6,247,809

The above items of property, plant and equipment (other than artwork
and those under construction) are depreciated on a straight-line basis
after taking into account of their residual values at the following rates

per annum:

Buildings Over the remaining unexpired
terms of the leases ranging
from twenty to fifty years

Leasehold improvements 10-20%

Plant and machinery 10-20%

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 10-33"5%

Motor vehicles 20%

Btz - BB REEEE (BR&EM
RARIEE N RERBRISBEBERIZIA
TEEHLRUEREETIRITE

EF LR NFIRARTT
WEHRR - +ES
A+FEIE

HEYHEEE 10-20%

BB K izs 10-20%

R, - B RRAE 10-3315%

RE 20%

B FFR
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PR aR M

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

16. EFFAEEE

Leasehold Office
land properties Total
HELTH WAEYE st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
At 31 December 2022 R-TE-_—_H+=-H=+—H
Carrying amount BREE 584,027 1,723 585,750
At 31 December 2021 R-B-_—-F+=RA=+—H
Carrying amount BREE 664,971 2,085 667,056
For the year ended 31 December #HZEZE—-ZE-—H+=-A=+—H
2022 IEFE
Depreciation for the year KEEFEFE 14,773 594 15,367
For the year ended 31 December #HZEZE—-ZE—-—H+=-H=+—H
2021 LFEE
Depreciation for the year REETE 14,198 602 14,800
2022 2021
—Eo—fF ZEZ—F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Expense relating to short-term leases 05 AT E AR 2 372 341
Total cash outflow for leases HERS R BT 45,343 102,518
Additions to right-of-use assets FREEERE 44,329 101,896

For both years, the Group leases various leasehold land and office
properties for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed
term of 1 year to 50 years (2021: 1 year to 50 years). Lease terms are
negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different
terms and conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing the
length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition
of a contract and determines the period for which the contract is
enforceable.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for office
properties. As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the portfolio of short-
term leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to which the
short-term lease expense disclosed above.
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16.

17.

EHEERERBRAA

management’s intention is to hold at short-term trading purpose are
classified as current assets. The remaining financial assets measured
at FVTPL which are held for long-term investment purpose are
classified as non-current assets.

At 31 December 2022, the fair values of the listed securities held
by the Group, determined by reference to the quoted market
bid prices available, amounted to HK$1,421,718,000 (2021:
HK$1,619,523,000).

b e
RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (ontinued 16. ERAEEE®
Restrictions or covenants on leases FERFIRZHE
In addition, lease liabilities of HK$1,853,000 (2021: HK$2,193,000) AN R=2TB-—F+—-HA=+—H "
are recognised with related right-of-use assets of HK$1,723,000 ERZRNHEEARE1,853,000% (=
(2021: HK$2,085,000) as at 31 December 2022. The lease T — — 4 : 2,193,000 Jr ) Jh £ {F F
agreements do not impose any covenants other than the security &é EE1,723,0008 L ( ZF = —F
interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets 2,085,000/870) B - HE BRI ENE
may not be used as security for borrowing purposes. MEMZE  EEEASEHEELEEN
IR RN - HEEENSEERUR
AR -
EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR 17. BAFEFTABRZE
VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS =T H
2022 2021
—E-—F —T -4
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FET
Financial assets measured at FVTPL: EBAERAEEZ
TREE :
Listed securities listed in Hong Kong NEA LT ZHE 1,421,718 1,619,523
Analysed for reporting purposes as: BREREMAWA
— Current assets —mENEE 561,303 442,125
- Non-current assets —ERBEE 860,415 1,177,398
1,421,718 1,619,523
For those financial assets measured at FVTPL of which the HRNRATEFABRZEHEE &

BERARHRIREANZEREED
BRARBEE - AR A PEF AR
ZEMEE  URBKREBNMIHAEE
ADBERIERBEE °

SEEfMB s LELTESFNATER
Mmﬁ%%%x(ff_—i
1,619,523,000/8 7T ) * &% & 38 H 28]
Bz MEEARBREET -

T FFRH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

18. DEBT INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE 18. E/A‘Zﬁﬁ?rkﬁ{miﬁ

THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE WEzEKITA
INCOME
2022 2021
—E-CF T4
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Listed bond securities, at fair value: EMEHFES  RATE
— listed on the SGX and issued by listed — BB EMEIT ARITIL
issuers in Hong Kong with fixed coupon REFRrEm - BF
interests ranging from 5.5% to 6.5% FEENF55EZ6.5E
(2021: 5.875% to 12.375%) per annum (ZE=-—% : 5875
and maturity date from 12 November 2023 [EZ®12.375/2 ) 2 EE
to 11 July 2027 (2021: from 28 July 2022 =B WRZBZ=%F
to 27 February 2023) (Note) +—A+-HE=Z=
ZtFEA+—BE
H(—T——F: =%
——FtA=-t+NRE
—E--F A=+t
B) (M) 104,352 115,054
Analysed for reporting purposes as: BRERRMONA
— Current assets —RENEE 14,820 11,256
— Non-current assets —IEREEE 89,532 103,798
104,352 115,054
Note:  During the year ended 31 December 2022, due to the defaults of a bond Mizt: BE_ZT__FF+_A=+—HIF
issuer in making payments of interest and principal for its indebtedness, E - AREFETAREREBEEZA
the Directors considered there was a significant increase in credit risk in the MEEES BEERBZEITAETH
debt instruments at FVTOCI issued by this issuer. The Group engaged an BRAFEFARMEEANSHES TR
independent qualified valuer to assist in the estimation of the ECL provision HEERBARIEN - REFZEBT
on the debt instruments at FVTOCI issued by this issuer by determining an EERIGER - BBRETAERNELNR
appropriate probability of default rate, the estimated loss given default rate R ZEBITENMGHENBLR M
of each debt instrument and forward-looking adjustments. TR . B G E AT AT TR
ATEF AR MEERENEF A
TEEEEEEEE -
During the year ended 31 December 2022, this bond issuer completed HE-_ZT-_—_F+-A=+—HILF
debt restructuring scheme. After the completion of debt restructuring, E - ZEFEITATKIEBERE -
related listed bonds extended maturity date originally due from 28 July PEBEHETKE - B ETEROET
2022-27 February 2023 to 11 July 2025-11 July 2027, and changed the BEBARRMN-_Z_=_FtA=+/\H
fixed coupon interest rate from 5.875%-12.375% to 6.5%. EE_—F_AttHERI=Z

—HFE+tAt+—HBHE-_Z-_t+FtA
+—H - BEEERH5.875%%5.875F
F12.375F#F R6.5E °
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EHEERERBRAA

18. DEBT INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE

THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME |

continued)

At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the fair values of the listed bond
securities are determined by reference to the valuation based on
quoted prices over the-counter markets at the end of each reporting
period.

The investment in listed bonds are held by the Group within a
business model whose objective is both to collect their contractual
cash flows which are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding and to sell these financial assets.
Hence, the investments in listed bonds are classified as at FVTOCI.

An impairment loss of HK$186,501,000 (2021: nil) was recognised for
the year ended 31 December 2022.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 32(b).

Included in debt instruments at FVTOCI are the following amounts

denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the
group entities in which they are held:

United States Dollar (US$) ETT

18. BAF¥ESTAEMER
Wz ‘&

KRB _FR-_ZE_—F+_A
=t—B  LHEFEFNIFELER
BEHRERSINTSRE 2 HEE

H}H

HEMEFMIREYHAAEERENA
WAL AR S R AR EERSHFE
NRzaHBReEnsEAREEZESH
BEMEBEXNMESE - Bt - @ E
MESFNRED HEAEATET AHM
2EE .

HE_ZT_—_+_A=+—HLLHF
€ BRI (EEIE 186,501,000 T
(ZB=—F )

AR A FHIFENIEES2(D) ©

BAVEAREEZERE ZEFTA
BRETIINEEERAM2IEEEIN
SNEMEETHEZ R

2022 2021
—E——fF T —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
104,352 115,054

T FFRH



-
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19. DEFERRED TAXATION

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets
recognised and movements thereon during the current and prior

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

19. ELERHIA

TERRBABEREHAEERZE
BREEHRBABEREEARER &

reporting period: & -
Fair value Undistributed
change of Write-down profits of
investment  Revaluation of PRC
properties of properties  inventories  subsidiaries Others Total
RENEZ B 2
NYEED NEERE  WERE AIEER Hif @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERL TERL THET TARL TER TERL
At 1 January 2021 WZEZ-F—-f— 9,577) (70,322 - - 4,994 (74,906)
Credit (charge) to consolidated AR E&%(Eﬂﬁﬁﬁlﬂ i)
statement of profit or loss - 2,956 - - (2,184) 772
At 31 December 2021 “E--F+-A=1-H 9,577) (67,366) - - 2,810 (74133
Credit (charge) to consolidated Qﬁ N A BER(SRNk)
statement of profit or loss - 3,057 113,628 (363,628) 5,227 (241,716)
At 31 December 2022 “Z--F+ZR=+-H (9,577) (64,309) 113,628 (363,628) 8,037 (315,849

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial

VAT 8051 75 B 765 B S i AR L2 SR SE AR IR

reporting purposes: ERRDHT
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—%F
HK$’°000 HK$’000
FHxT FET
Deferred tax assets FEIER IR E B 3,113 2,810
Deferred tax liabilities FIERIBBE (318,962) (76,943)
(315,849) (74,133)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses
of HK$235,520,000 (2021: HK$223,336,000) available for offset
against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised due
to the unpredictability of future profit streams. All tax losses will be
expired gradually in various date in the next five years to year 2027
(2021: year 2026).
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19. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued) 19. ﬁﬁﬁ{l’lﬁ‘(ﬁi
Under the EIT Law, withholding tax of 5% — 10% is imposed on WECEMRSRE B2 NF—A
dividends declared in respect of profits earned by PRC subsidiaries —HBi - BEPENE QR MR
from 1 January 2008 onwards. Based on the dividend distribution M EIK 2% BIEB 5% 2 10% K FE
plan of the management, retained profits as at 31 December 2022 o RIEERENREDIRETE - R
amounting to HK$5,403,554,000 (2021: N/A) will be distributed as T _F+-_A=+—HHRZHF
dividend in the foreseeable future, while the remaining retained profits 5,403,554,0008 L (ZE=—F : 1@
has been set aside for local operation and business development. A)BRA] RiERIEAEREDIK © M
TREBENEBIERM B REGHE
& o
20. GOODWILL 20. BHE
HK$’000
FAT
CARRYING VALUE BREE
At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021 and RZEZ—F—A—A -ZZ=—F+=A
31 December 2022 —t+—BR-_ZE-—F+_-_A=1+—8H 238
21. INVENTORIES 21. 51
2022 2021
—EC- & B4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FH&T FHET
Raw materials Bl 1,494,473 1,692,563
Work in progress TR 542,107 623,145
Finished goods BIRK @ 393,063 438,127
2,429,643 2,653,835

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the write-down of
inventories amounting to HK$454,513,000 (2021: write-down of
inventories amounting to HK$321,767,000) had been recognised and
included in cost of sales.

HE_ZT-_—_F+-RA=1+—HIEF
& - WU 77 §454,513,0008 L (=&
— % WURFE321,767,000/87T) 2
ERER A SR

B FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBmRMETE
22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 22. B REMEWERRR
AND PREPAYMENTS AND BILLS B R R =
RECEIVABLES
2022 2021
—E——fF —E—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Trade receivables B S IEWARR 3,715,273 6,243,668
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEBERE (574,985) (661,595)
Trade receivables, net B S AR F R 3,140,288 5,682,073
Advance to suppliers TR FER IR 183,371 517,652
Prepaid expenses and deposits AR kRS 84,999 204,704
Value-added tax (“VAT”) recoverable AR EEER ([1EER]) 244,531 190,197
Other receivables HoAth FEUTAR X 180,552 144,541
3,833,741 6,639,167
Bills receivables U= 2,509,628 4,243,905
6,343,369 10,883,072
As at 1 January 2021, the gross amount of trade receivables from R-E-_—F—A—H KARTFEAY
contracts with customers amounted to HK$4,491,454,000 with 02 5 e ERE 4218 & 4,491,454,000
allowance for credit losses of HK$579,750,000. BT FEE BB EE /579,750,000
7T|: o
The Group allows credit periods of up to 120 days (2021: 120 days), REFBKLTESRPZIZEHEREAS
depending on the products sold to its trade customers. The following 120 (ZEFE=-—4 : 1208) * HEFTHY
is an aging analysis of trade receivables net of allowance for credit EERMT  RBESEE&RAIF - £
losses based on invoice date at the end of the reporting period: NREEEEREEZ  EHRKERZ
RECENBEZRAHSTAT ¢
2022 2021
—E- 8 —E-—%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FET
0-90 days 0Z290H 2,672,381 4,483,570
91-180 days 91£180H 440,570 1,056,609
Over 180 days 180B A 27,337 41,894
3,140,288 5,682,073
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BEERERBRAF

22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

AND PREPAYMENTS AND BILLS
RECEIVABLES

continued)

Bills receivables of the Group are all aged within 0-90 days (2021:
0-90 days) since invoice date at the end of the reporting period. All
bills received by the Group are with a maturity period of less than one
year.

As at 31 December 2022, included in the Group’s trade
receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying amount of
HK$1,025,284,000 (2021: HK$1,822,985,000) which are past due as
at the reporting date. Out of the past due balances, HK$57,452,000
(2021: HK$110,138,000) which has been past due over 90 days or
more and is not considered as in default based on good repayment
records for those customers. The Group does not hold any collateral
over these balances.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables and
bills receivables are set out in note 32(b).

Included in trade and other receivables and bills receivables are
the following amounts denominated in a currency other than the
functional currency of the group entities to which they relate:

Uss$ =T
HK$ BT

22 féé%g,ﬁ\ﬁﬂﬁﬁuﬂﬂﬁ,%k&

AEBPREPHMERAILENEREE
BRI AT E B EIRFT0E0R (=8
Z—% : 0290H) - REBKEIHFT
BEEENE AR TBR—F -

RZZEZZF+-A=+—1H ' £5E
WE S RUBEEREHREIENREBHE
istﬁﬁa‘]ﬁ%ﬁ #181,025,284,0007 7T (—
T~ —4F : 1,822,985,0008 7T ) B FE UL
AR o B ARAESRE P - 57,452,000/ 7T
_2:—¢ : 110,138,000/ 7t ) B #l
HIQOHE kLA F - ERIBZER P RITH
B BRI ARBELN - K
EETERZEEHIFEEMERR -

B 5 R H b [ Us BE 27 DA Rz e U 22 425 Rk
ErHEFIBE AN ES2()

EHREMBRER R EREEEET
SIS EERERE 2 e B AN ER
FHEZ R -

2022 2021

ot~ St T —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FiIT
34,732 400,121
55,996 81,854

T FFRH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRARMEE

23. PROPERTIES HELD FOR

23. FHEYHE

DEVELOPMENT
Movements of properties held for development are as follows: FERMEZEESHOT
HK$’000
FAET
At 1 January 2021 RZZEZ—F—H—H 1,427,224
Exchange adjustments T 41,719
Additions NG 232,635
Transfer to cost of sales R HEMAK (241,022)
At 31 December 2021 RZE-_—F+-_A=+—H 1,460,556
Exchange adjustments b W% (76,646)
Additions INE 5,786
Transfer to cost of sales HEIHEMA (1,214,628
At 31 December 2022 R-E-_—_F+_-_A=+—H 175,068
Analysis of leasehold lands included in properties held  Et AFEEYENELO T AFTHOT -
for development is set out below:
At 31 December 2022 R-B-_—_%+=-HA=+—H
Carrying amount BREE 34,276
At 31 December 2021 R-E-_—F+=-A=+—H
Carrying amount BRmEE 539,206
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23.

PR AR MY

PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT

(continued)

Total cash outflow e Rhess
Additions NG

EEEERERERLF

3. FERY=Ew

2022 2021
—E- 8 —E-—fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHIT

Properties held for development are situated in the PRC with medium-
term leases and are stated at cost at 31 December 2022 and 2021.

The carrying amount of leasehold lands is measured at cost less
any accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The
residual values are determined as the estimated disposal value of the
leasehold land component. No depreciation charge is made on the
leasehold lands taking into account the estimated residual values as
at 31 December 2022 and 2021.

Included in the properties held for development, the construction
of properties with carrying amount of HK$175,068,000 (2021:
HK$1,460,556,000) are completed. During the year ended 31
December 2022, properties held for development with carrying
amount of HK$1,214,628,000 (2021: HK$241,022,000) were
completed and sold to third parties.

In the opinion of the Directors, the properties held for development
were classified as current assets as the properties were held for sale
upon completion of construction within the Group’s normal operating
cycle.

FERMEMR AT EBREOFENFER
tH o YR B —FR-_FE-—4F
+ = B=1+—HUKAETEE -

FA 49 1 0 A0 BR T (B R A AR (] 2 5HHT
ERTMBEFENE - #HEKRKHEE
THAARER D 2 A E N EEBEET - &
AT —_FM-_E-_—F+_A
—t+—HNESE  TeRAN L
EHRITE -

EFERYES - BREE175,068,000
BL(ZZF = —F 1 1,460,556,000 %5
TIZMERETREERT -BE_ZT
T+ -A=Z+—HLFE K@
{E1,214,628,000/8 L (=& = — & :
241,022,000 7T) Z B ETEK I
EFFE=) -

EERRHTERMEDBRARDEE -

THRRNEAEENIERLERY 546
ZEYMENBEN RN TR TRLE -

B FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

24. AMOUNTS DUE FROM (TO) FELLOW 24, W (EA) BRI B A

SUBSIDIARIES GIE/eE
2022 2021
—E- 8 —E-—fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHBT
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries U EE N VNGRS
— trade nature —E5MHE 889,018 978,831

RZZE-—F—F—H  BRRARNEB
A BIFIE A693,081,000/8 7T °

As at 1 January 2021, the amounts due from fellow subsidiaries
amounted to HK$693,081,000.

AEEREELTHREMBRARZE
EH—MRERA120H - BRFEZKE
ANAMFIE AR S REEKR - HIRERY
A EHMARE MR 2 NAR
R B TR i R B ER o

The Group allows credit periods normally up to 120 days for sales to
its fellow subsidiaries. The amounts due from fellow subsidiaries are
non-interest bearing, unsecured, aged within 90 days and are not
past due at the end of the reporting period.

2022 2021
—E- T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries FEAST[R) 2Bt B 2 B3R IE
— trade nature -B54E 47,587 47,581

The amounts due to fellow subsidiaries have repayment terms of less
than 30 days. The amounts due are non-interest bearing, unsecured
and aged within 90 days at the end of the reporting period.

FEAST[R) 22 7 /B8 X B3R IB 2 B AR 1430
B - ZEFRNFRBA/RERERT - H
FRic IS RIS HIRARE ARN0HEZ
A o
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25.

PR AR MY

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and short-term bank
deposits held by the Group. At 31 December 2022, the Group’s bank
balances carry interest at the prevailing market interest rates which
range from 0.1% to 4.35% (2021: 0.01% to 0.9%) per annum.

At 31 December 2022, the Group had bank balances and cash that
were not freely convertible or were subject to exchange controls in the
PRC amounted to HK$1,748,513,000 (2021: HK$1,926,914,000).

Included in cash and cash equivalents are the following amounts
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the
group entities to which they relate:

USs$ ET
HK$ BIT
GBP HEEE

25.

EHEERERBRAA

RERBREEEY

ReRkBESSEMREAEEBEZE
S REHBRITER RZBE_—_F+=
B=+—RH REERITERIZIEITT
BEFENF0NEE43BEB (=T ——
F0.01BE09E):TE -

RNZZBEZ—F+=-A=+—0 ' A£E
Al B R E B ER B INEE HIFTHR
IR iR1T# 8 NIR € £1,748,5138,000
BL(ZZE = —F : 1,926,914,000 78
TT) °

RAEMREFEVMEE N IINEEER
1HRE 2 ThRE B AINE M SHE 2 FREE

2022 2021
—E-—F T4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
810,218 315,772
43,374 75,670
10,085 9,612

B FFR
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26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND

PR aR M

BILLS PAYABLES AND CONTRACT

LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables and bills payables

26.

EERHEMEARARENRE

2022 2021

—E-—F T4

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FET FAT

Trade payables = ANE TN 964,300 1,050,633

Accrued expenses JEIRE A 496,766 523,032
Payables for acquisition of property, plant and BEWE  BEMEHZ

equipment FEIFERR 134,314 124,495

Other tax payables E b FETRR R 661,868 726,214

VAT payables FEAT IR {ERL 136,536 222,553

LAT payables FER IR (ETS 61,096 10,672

Other payables HAGFEN FHIAE 89,485 75,038

2,544,365 2,732,637

Bills payables (Note (b)) e =55 (B (0) 474,379 602,496

3,018,744 3,335,133

Note:

Included in bills payables as at 31 December 2022 was payables for

acquisition of property, plant and equipment of HK$10,148,000 (2021:

HK$30,633,000).

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables based on the

invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

Mz WRZTZ=F+=—A=+—8 " EH
ZERREBEVE  BELRIENE
+3/7810,148,0008 T (=T =—F :
30,633,000/87T) °

B RNRFIREE R A SR HE B
ERERZREOITT

2022 2021

—E-—8F —E-—%F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FH&T FHT

0-90 days 0%90H 858,646 950,860
91-180 days 91£180H 43,435 30,691
Over 180 days 180B A E 62,219 69,082
964,300 1,050,633
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26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND

PR AR MY

BILLS PAYABLES AND CONTRACT

LIABILITIES (continueq)

Trade and other payables and bills payables (continued)

The average credit period on purchase of goods is 90 days (2021: 90
days). The Group has financial risk management policies in place to
ensure that all payables are settled within the credit time frame.

Bills payables of the Group related to trade payables in which the
Group has issued bills to the relevant suppliers for future settlement of
trade payables, which are aged within 90 days (2021: 90 days) at the

end of the reporting period.

Included in trade and other payables and bills payables are the
following amounts denominated in currencies other than the functional

currency of the group entities to which they relate:

26.

EHEERERBRAA

ftb J& 13 Bk 7% &%

==
I/:I\n\‘ \1,5 (%)

\7

=
()

7

SR
T
ﬁ)lnt

B RHEMENRE
(&)

BEEMNTHEERRWOVA(ZF
——%F:90R) - XAEERTHBER
BEBRRERAEERNESIREERA

3=

IREARE

a/8 °

AEBHESEMNEREEHENE
% HRE AR En L A E R
RRFEEE S REMNRE - KK ARS
B AAR1EMQ0H (ZZE = —4F : 90H)
ZA e

B LEMENERRENEEREET
FIAEE BRI B UINERE
FHEZ KA -

2022 2021

—E-F —E-—F

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FHET FiT

us$ ETT 764,902 755,680

HK$ BT 11,966 11,966

Japanese Yen (“JPY”) Hit 3,531 2,574

Contract liabilities e SN=Ri

2022 2021

—EC-CF T4

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FiT

Sales of properties HEMZE 23,016 2,524,350
Sales of glass epoxy laminates, paper laminates ~ $4EIRE IR A EIRER

and upstream materials HRE AR & b vkt 351,134 249,105

374,150 2,773,455

The significant decrease (2021: increase) in contract liabilities in the
current year was mainly due to decrease (2021: increase) in advance

payments from customers before year end.

As at 1 January 2021,
HK$617,304,000.

contract liabilities amounted to

AEEAMNBERBEAN(ZT=—

FEM  EEDHREFRITNE
FPRAZFMD(ZEZ—F : M) M
o

R-ZE-_—%—A—B ANEEEER

/5617,304,000/8 7T °

B FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 26.

BILLS PAYABLES AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (continued)

Contract liabilities (continued)

Contract liabilities arising from sales of properties as at 31 December
2022 and 2021 are expected to be realised within one year (2021: one
to two years) at the end of the reporting period. The entire amount of
contract liabilities arising from sales of glass epoxy laminates, paper
laminates and upstream materials as at 31 December 2022 and
2021, are expected to be realised within one year at the end of the
reporting period.

The following table sets out the revenue recognised in the current year
relating to contract liabilities at 31 December 2021 and 31 December

=Y S-LEE )
RZEZZFR=ZFT=—F+=A
=+—HB - HEVENENBEERTR
HHRBF—F(ZF=Z—F —iﬁ
FYRNEBE MNZT-_—FR-T
FH-—A=1+—8  HERSFBESE
BIRER - RERER R EBEYEHNE
HEEREERERRERE—F
NEHE o

TR TAFER T —_—F+_A
=t+—HBER=ZE-_ZTF+-_A=t—H

2020. WaRBEERNEERE -
Sales of glass
epoxy laminates,
paper laminates
Sales of and upstream
properties materials
HERERKE
AT EAR
78 SR AR
SHEM% & EiEyne
HK$’000 HK$’000
T Tz
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE-—2-——%+=8
=t+—HLEFE
Revenue recognised that was included in the contract st A=—Z=——F+—-H
liabilities balance at 31 December 2021 —+ BERa BN
R 2,524,350 294,105
For the year ended 31 December 2021 BE—ZE-_—%+=8
=t- a¢$§
Revenue recognised that was included in the contract st AZZE-_ZF+_H
liabilities balance at 31 December 2020 =T -HEHNABRED
RS 227,730 212,584
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND

BILLS PAYABLES AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (continued)

Contract liabilities (continued)
Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract
liabilities recognised are as follows:

Sales of properties

The Group typically receives a 30% to 50% of the contract
value as deposits from customers on entering of a sale
and purchase agreement of properties and will receive the
remaining contracted sum prior to customers obtaining
control of the respective properties. The deposits and
advance payment schemes result in contract liabilities being
recognised throughout the property construction period until
the customer obtains control of the completed property.

In addition, the Group considers the advance payment
schemes contain significant financing component and
accordingly the amount of consideration is adjusted for the
effects of the time value of money taking into consideration
the credit characteristics of the relevant group entities during
the year ended 31 December 2021. As this accrual increases
the amount of the contract liability during the period of
construction, it increases the amount of revenue recognised
when control of the completed property is transferred to the
customer.

Sales of glass epoxy laminates, paper laminates and upstream
materials

When the Group receives a deposit before the production
activity commences, this will give rise to contract liabilities
at the start of a contract, until the revenue recognised when
control of the goods has transferred, being when the goods
have been delivered. The Group typically receives a 30% to
50% deposit on acceptance of manufacturing orders.

26.

EEEERERERLF

AnafEE)
HE RS B RRNA DA ESE
MEEmT

. HEMF

AEERFT L MEEE HAR A
EPWEMEER A HEE30%E
50%MiEE - WEFESIER
W) RO FE IR RTUCERBR T A H05K
B o Be RIANFIRET SIEHE
BWEZEYRERSHEE
BEEFEUSR T Y i fliE
ALk

SEoh - AEBER A - B FKIART
FHEBERMEKD - At -
BeHELERMAEEETERE
—E-—F+-A=+—HIF
EMEERERRERMEENTY
ZEH A - R EFTRUEE N
EEHAMMNANAEBESE B2
T EHEEZEZEPET
HINE RN EERBSE

. HERABBAEERER - A&
EMER & Lokt

AR E e RSB A AT HCER
B - WRREHNRBREEE
HEE BEEEEEWITHE
(BN EW ) B ERE %R
Bl - REBEBERNREZERER]
R IENE0% E50%IE % ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBERRME
27. LEASE LIABILITIES 27. HEESE
2022 2021
—E-—F T4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Lease liabilities payable: ENHEEEE:
Within one year —F R 560 570
Within a period of more than one year —F A BT BBMRE
but not more than two years 203 210
Within a period of more than two years FA FBTBBRE
but not more than five years 238 470
Within a period of more than five years BART 852 943
1,853 2,193
Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 months & : BB E&EFTR12(E A N
shown under current liabilities B E S (560) (570)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months shown 3ERBENE EFTR12E 1%
under non-current liabilities FHAEN SR 1,293 1,623
No extension options are included in any of the lease agreements NEBE TSP BB LN EmE Y| (A 4E
entered by the Group. The weighted average incremental borrowing HZi2HE - Al EETREANTY
rates applied by the relevant group entities range from 1.11% to 4.75% INEEFILEEFENF1A1EEL75E
(2021: 1.11% to 4.75%). These lease liabilities were measured at the —E-—FF  1A1EZRAT75E) ° %
present value of the lease payments that are not yet paid. EHEAERMAYNEENRYIRE
Lease obligations that are denominated in currencies which are same HESFUNEAEEET R EEM
as the functional currencies of the relevant group entities. R EEDIE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

28. BANK BORROWINGS

EHEERERBRAA

28. SRITEE

2022 2021
ot~ St —E-—F
HK$’°000 HK$’000
FH&T T
Unsecured EER
Bank loans RITER 4,400,000 2,686,522
Trust receipt loans EFEUUEE R = 28,380
4,400,000 2,714,902
Carrying amount repayable: AR T EBEE 2 REE
Within one year —F R 200,000 1,814,902
Within a period of more than one year —F A BT BB E
but not more than two years 1,107,692 200,000
Within a period of more than two years RF A FBTB@ R F
but not more than five years 3,092,308 700,000
4,400,000 2,714,902
Carrying amount repayable within one year BEABEEEFEHNE
based on repayment schedules dates set out RERERNEER B 8N —
in the loan agreements shown under FAREZNRAEE
current liabilities 200,000 1,814,902
Add: Amounts shown under non-current liabilites 1 : 5 AIEREN & &2 1B 4,200,000 900,000
4,400,000 2,714,902

As at 31 December 2022, bank borrowings amounted to
HK$4,400,000,000 (2021: HK$2,592,483,000) are variable-rate
borrowings which carry interest ranging from HIBOR + 0.986%
to HIBOR + 1.08% (2021: HIBOR + 1.02% to HIBOR + 1.10%)
per annum. As at 31 December 2021, bank borrowings of
HK$122,419,000 (2022: nil) carry fixed interest rates of 3.30% to
3.35% (2022: nil).

The range of effective interest rates (which are also equal to
contracted interest rates) on the Group’s bank borrowings is 5.81%
(2021: 1.33%) per annum.

RZEBE-ZZF+=-fF=+—8 " §17
f&E4,400,000,0008 L (= F = —4F :
2,592,483,000/870) BIZBEE - F 8
KN FHBIRITEEN L I0.986F =
1.08E(ZT=—F : FHBRITRAZER
EI1.02BEEHERITRZERLI1.10
E)T¥ RZZE=——F+=—A=+—
CSRITE B 122,419,000 T (=&
::¢ H|)RETENEEE 8
A330EE3IE(ZFT__F ¢ ﬂ)o

AEBERTEEZERNXEEEE

REETHRR) B581E(Z T —4 -
1.33E) °

B FFR
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29.

30.

PR aR M

SHARE CAPITAL

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

EEIN

Authorised Issued and fully paid
EE BRTREAR
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
ROEE ox-C] RHEEE Eix-]
’000 HK$°000 ’000 HK$’000
T FHET T FHET
Ordinary shares of FRYEEC10E LY
HK$0.10 each: Limhg
At 1 January 2021, EA_?_ F—H—81-
31 December 2021 and —E—F+ZA=1+—
31 December 2022 S = — e
=t+—H 20,000,000 2,000,000 3,120,000 312,000

All shares issued rank pari passu with the then existing shares in issue
in all respects.

SHARE OPTIONS

The share option scheme of the Company (“KLHL Scheme”) was
approved by the shareholders of the Company and the shareholders
of KHL on 29 May 2017, and the KLHL Scheme took effect upon
obtaining approval from the Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange
on 2 November 2017. The purpose of the KLHL Scheme is to provide
incentive or reward to the eligible participants of the KLHL Scheme
(as listed below) for their contribution to, and continuing efforts to
promote the interests of the Group.

The KLHL Scheme is valid for a period of ten years. The board of
the Company may, at its discretion, grant options to subscribe for
shares in the Company to (i) eligible participants who contribute to
the long-term growth and profitability of the Company and include
any employee or proposed employee (whether full-time or part-
time and including any executive director), consultants or advisers
of the Company, any of its subsidiaries or any entity (“Invested
Entity”) in which the Group holds an equity interest; (i) any non-
executive directors (including independent non-executive directors)
of the Company, any of its subsidiaries or any Invested Entity; (i) any
supplier of goods or services to any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity; (iv) any customer of the Group or any Invested Entity;
(v) any person or entity that provides research, development or other
technological support to the Group or any Invested Entity; and (vi) any
shareholder of any member of the Group or any Invested Entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

30. SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

The exercise price of the Company’s share in respect of any option
granted under the KLHL Scheme was determined with reference
to the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares of the Company
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the
date of grant of the option, which must be a business day; (i) the
average closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant of the option; and (i) the
nominal value of the shares of the Company. For details, please refer

to the announcement of the Company dated 23 April 2017.

The option may be accepted by a participant within 28 days from
the date of the offer for the grant of the option upon the payment of
a consideration of HK$1. An option may be exercised at any time
during a period to be determined and notified by the Directors to each
grantee, and in the absence of such determination, from the date
upon which the offer for the grant of the option is accepted but shall
end in any event not later than ten years from the date of grant of
the option subject to the provisions for early termination thereof. The
Directors may, at their absolute discretion, fix any minimum period
for which an option must be held, any performance targets that must
be achieved and any other conditions that must be fulfilled before the
options can be exercised upon the grant of an option to a participant.

The total number of shares of the Company which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the KLHL Scheme
(excluding, for this purpose, options lapsed in accordance with the
terms of the KLHL Scheme and any other share option scheme
of the Company) must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total
number of shares of the Company in issue as at the date of approval
of the KLHL Scheme by the shareholders of the Company and the
shareholders of KHL (i.e. 308,100,000 shares of the Company,
representing 10.0% of the total issued share capital of the Company as
at the date these consolidated financial statements are authorised for
issue). The number of options available for grant under the Scheme
was 269,100,000 as at 1 January 2022 and 232,200,000 as at 31
December 2022. The number of shares that may be issued in respect
of options granted under the Scheme during 2022 (i.e. 36,900,000)
divided by the weighted average number of issued shares of the
Company for 2022 was 1.18%. As at the date of this annual report,
the number of options available for grant under the Scheme was
232,200,000 representing 7.44% of the total number of issued shares

of the Company.

The maximum number of shares of the Company which may be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to
be exercised under the KLHL Scheme and any other share option
scheme of the Company must not exceed 30% of the issued share

capital of the Company from time to time.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

30. SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

The total number of shares of the Company issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted (including both exercised and
outstanding options) to each participant in any 12-month period
must not exceed 1% of the share capital of the Company then in
issue unless approved by the shareholders of the Company and

shareholders of KHL in general meetings.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, 36,900,000 options were
granted by the Company on 23 June 2022 under the KLHL Scheme,
of which 29,000,000 options were granted to Directors and 7,900,000

were granted to employees of the Company.

As at 31 December 2022, 36,900,000 options remained outstanding
under the KLHL Scheme, representing 1.18% (2021: N/A) of the
shares of the Company in issue at that date. The closing price
of the Company’s shares on 22 June 2022 (namely the date
immediately before the aforesaid grant date) is HK$9.46. The
estimated fair value of the aforesaid options was HK$48,000,000,
of which HK$37,724,000 was attributable to the options granted
to Directors while HK$10,276,000 was attributable to the options
granted to employees of the Company. The fair value of each of the
abovementioned options was identical, namely HK$1.3008. All share

options were vested on the date of grant, 23 June 2022.

As at 31 December 2022, there was no participant with share options

granted in excess of the individual limit.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, no option has lapsed or
has been exercised, or cancelled under the KLHL Scheme. As at 31
December 2022, 36,900,000 (2021: N/A) outstanding share options

were exercisable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBmRMETE
30. SHARE OPTIONS (ontinued) 30. IBRE
A summary of the movements of the number of share options under BT -+ -_A=+—HI#F
the scheme for the year ended 31 December 2022 was as follows: B ZETRIE TN ERES B S et
s
Balance at Granted Balance at Exercise
1 January during 31 December price
Date of grant 2022 the year 2022 per share Exercisable period
R=Z=ZF
R-B-—F +=A
—RA—H =t+-—H
BRHBAH Wy &R RERRH H&EER BRITEE TEH
Granted to the Directors
RTEE
23 June 2022 - 29,000,000 29,000,000 HK$9.728 23 June 2022 to 22 June 2032
—E-CFRAZT=H 97288t —TE-_—_HAA-FT=ZHE-Z
ZZHFXAZ+ZH
Granted to employees (Note)
BTES (K1)
23 June 2022 - 7,900,000 7,900,000 HK$9.728 23 June 2022 to 22 June 2032
—E-CFRA-tT=H 97288t —TE-_—_HFAA-T=ZHE-Z
ZZHXAZ+ZH
- 36,900,000 36,900,000
The Group recognised the total expense of HK$48,000,000 (2021: HE—_E-——#+-_A=+—H1F
nil) for the year ended 31 December 2022 in related to the above FE AEEBRALATNEHES L
36,900,000 share options granted by the Company. 36,900,000 D B I R L H X
48,000,000 T(Z T —4F : &) -
Note:  Including the interests of 5,900,000 share options of spouse of Mr. Ho Yin Mz : SEESEEESMRELENRE
Sang, a director of KHL. The spouse of Mr. Ho Yin Sang is an employee of 5,900,00017 BE AR HE By 4 25 o I FEAE 4L
the Group. AMEERAEEES -
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KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

30. SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

Share price at grant date

Exercise price

Expected life

Expected dividend yield

Expected volatility
Risk-free interest rate

Early exercise multiple (Directors)

Early exercise multiple (Employees)

30.

The fair value of the options granted under the KLHL Scheme during
the year ended 31 December 2022 was estimated as at the date of
grant using the Binomial option pricing model, taking into account
the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. The
following table lists the inputs to the model used:

ZH AR E
1728
FEHREFHA
TR i
TEEIKE

A28 [ B 6 =

EATTEES(ES)

ERTEEH(EER)

EIRRE o)

HE-_E_—_F+-_A=+—HIt#
B BREBEEEEERGTERLNELE
A& 2 N HER B B A ZE = B
EEEAGE - WERELERERD
RO MR o TREPIEFT R 8
ABE

2022
—E__—F

HK$9.550
9.5507% T
HK$9.728
9.728# T
10 years
104
15.81%
39.132%
2.632%
1.23x
1.23f%
1.22x
1.221%
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The measurement date of the options disclosed herein is the date of
grant of these options.

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical volatility of
the Company’s share price over previous 10 years. The expected
life used in the model has been adjusted, based on the valuer’s best
estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and
behavioural considerations.

AREMEBENBEEREAERRA
BHZSEEERENAS -

FEHRE R EA R RIRENBE T4
ZESLRIEEE - EEEMESHE
T BAh 2 ERFHERRBRE
AR ITERRTRFEER
R EMBARE -
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30.

31.

PR AR MY

SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

The Binomial model has been used to estimate the fair value of the
options. The variable and assumptions used in computing the fair
value of the share options are based on the directors’ best estimate.
The value of an option varies with different variables of certain
subjective assumptions.

The share options outstanding had a weighted average exercise
price of HK$9.728 (2021: N/A), and the weighted average remaining
contract lives of the outstanding share options are approximately 10
years (2021: N/A) as at 31 December 2022.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.
The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of bank borrowings
and lease liabilities, net of cash and cash equivalents and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued share
capital, other reserves and retained profits as disclosed in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

The Directors review the capital structure on a semi-annual basis.
As part of this review, the Directors consider the cost of capital and
the risks associated with each class of capital. In the opinion of the
Directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through
the payment of dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as
well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

30.

31.

EHEERERBRAA

Eﬁ%ﬂgba

“IERAC AR EERERFE - 5t
HBERRATEZEUNBRRIDENE

2 BIEFE - BRERERE LR
B2 SYTRATHRIE -

R-ZE-—F+=-A=+—8 BT
B ARITEBRENNEESTEES
9.728% L (ZE=—F : THEA) - M
B TR M R TTE B AR A I 19 T
BANBRHBIOF(ZZ=_—F :
HA) °

BN e B T

B EEAREEE IR E AR URER
BERCEHERAGFAREREA
FRESE®R  EAKEE NEEHEN
REEE  AREBERKEBESF
EAER °

PR E S HBRAIE - AREZ
BEAGERERRTEERHEERRE(H

BRERBSFEY) RARBFAEA
LR (BREBITRAR - Kt EG

KAREEH) -

%$¥¢%&ﬁ§$%§% c fERER—
CEEREREARKA  REEHR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHwRRME
32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 32. #@ITH
(@ Categories of financial instruments (@ E=sIAEEH
THE GROUP
AEE

2022 2021
—EC-F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FEx FET

Financial assets SMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost BB ATTENSREE 10,009,439 13,814,239
Equity instruments at FVTPL BAFEFABENER T A 1,421,718 1,619,523

Debt instruments at FVTOCI BAHERF AL M EERE

ZEBITAR 104,352 115,054
11,535,509 15,548,816

Financial liabilities SRIEE

Amortised cost B HACAR
— trade and other payables — B 5 RHMPERIRR 1,188,099 1,250,166
- bills payables —JENEE 474,379 602,496
— dividends payable — FESTAE R 468,000 936,000
— amounts due to fellow subsidiaries — RN RZEM B AR IE 47,587 47,581
— bank borrowings —iRITIEE 4,400,000 2,714,902
6,578,065 5,651,145

ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ontinued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

Details of the Group’s financial instruments are disclosed in
respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (currency risk, interest rate
risk and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The management manages and monitors these exposures
to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely
and effective manner.

Market risk

Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign currency
sales and purchases, which exposes the Group to foreign
currency risk. Approximately 7% (2021: 9%) of the Group’s
sales are denominated in currencies other than the functional
currency of the relevant group entities making the sale, whilst
almost 27% (2021: 27%) of purchases are denominated in
currencies other than the functional currency of the relevant
group entities.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s monetary assets and
monetary liabilities denominated in currencies other than the
respective group entities’ functional currencies at the end of
the reporting period are as follows:

2022

— g
Assets
EE
HK$’000
FTERT
Us$ ETT 949,302
JPY BT -
HK$ BT 99,370
GBP Bk 10,085

EHEEBERERBRLF

EMT R

(b)

B EREE R ERBIR

REEH TR T AF BN
%H)EE'E o ZEE RV T AAERE 2 &

@%ﬁm%ﬂlﬂ (E%E R
e R H M ERER) -
RBE R - ¢1E_Eu/<ﬁ-

‘7T'J

ﬁAZﬁ ﬁﬁ”ﬁur ° E E@%
BREEZERE - AR
BB EREGE S 2 F i °
iR
Eim g

RABETHBR R AINE #ETT
HERRE SAEEAZI
R o AEBELT%(ZFT=—
F o 9%)MHE W IELUEITIHE
BB E R e B TIE -
MA27%(ZFE = —4 : 27%)H)
I FELUET TR RS E
EREMNINEEEBIIE -

RBERR - AEEUSEEE
BUREERIUINNERTENE

BEEMEEaENREEN
T
2021
T4

Liabilities Assets Liabilities
& BE 8E&
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET FET
(764,902) 830,947 (755,680)
(3,531) - (2,574)
(11,966) 157,524 (11,966)
- 9,612 -

The management continuously monitors the foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging foreign currency risk
should the need arise.

IR E AR IESMNERR - S
REFBEREEBEITPINERL

B FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ontinued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to fluctuation against foreign
currencies of US$, JPY, HK$ and GBP. The following
table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% (2021: 5%)
increase and decrease in functional currency of respective
group entities against the relevant foreign currencies,
excluding the exposures on balances denominated in US$
of respective group entities of which functional currencies
are HK$, since the Directors are of the opinion that such
exposures are not significant as HKS is pegged to US$. 5%
(2021: 5%) represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at
the end of reporting period for a 5% (2021: 5%) change in
foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis includes trade
and other receivables, bills receivables, bank balances, trade
and other payables, bills payables and debt instruments at
FVTOCI. A positive (negative) number below indicates an
increase (a decrease) in post-tax profit for the year where
functional currency of each group entity strengthen 5% (2021:
5%) against the relevant currency. For a 5% (2021: 5%)
weakening of functional currency of each group entity against
the relevant currency, there would be an equal and opposite
impact on the post-tax profit for the year.

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

32. EMT A

MHEAREEBEEREEK
()

TiSER(E)
AEEFEmEETT BHE - &
TR ESERINE R E R - T&
HOASEEHSEEERIEE
B SRR INE TR % (— T = —
F 5% BT - TRIEEE
EMAETIHNSEEEEIUET
SHEMEHRNER - BRBTE
EHEMN  FERAFHRRIL
TEK 5% (ZFE=-—4F : 5%)
DHEBBHINERERA LR
BIEZ T - BURESITE
BIE M AR B BRSNS B (E R B
BE - YRS R B ZINE
ERE% (2T —F : 5%) &)
ERIAE - RRESITRIEE
S REMEUREER -« BREE -
IBITHB RS BEHREMRE
MNER  BENERREATE
ATAEMEEREZEHBIA -
FEIESSEERNIEER R
FERASMNEFHES % ( — T~ —4F ¢
5% - AFEERBE RGP
e EEEEERNNEE
B SRR INEE B EE% (T = —
F 5% - A BE I ANFEHREL
BuAERSFHERHTZE

2022 2021

—E-8F T

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FAET
Us$ ETT (6,693) (8,088)
JPY Hit 128 106
HK$ BIT (3,172) (5,971)
GBP B (366) (394)

In the opinion of the Directors, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of inherent foreign exchange risk as the year
ended exposure does not reflect the exposure during the
year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ontinued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation
to listed bond securities with fixed coupon interest, fixed-rate
lease liabilities and fixed-rate bank borrowings (see note 18
for details of these listed bond securities, note 27 for details
of lease liabilities and note 28 for details of bank borrowings).
The Group manages its interest rate exposures by assessing
the potential impact arising from any interest rate movements
based on interest rate level and outlook.

The Group’s bank balances and variable-rate bank
borrowings have exposure to cash flow interest rate risk due
to the fluctuation of the prevailing market interest rate.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial liabilities
are detailed in the liquidity risk management section of this
note. The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly related
to the fluctuation of HIBOR arising from the Group’s bank
borrowings.

A fundamental reform of major interest rate benchmarks
is being undertaken globally, including the replacement of
some interbank offered rates with alternative nearly risk-free
rates. Details of the impacts on the Group’s risk management
strategy arising from the interest rate benchmark reform
and the progress towards implementation of alternative
benchmark interest rates are set out under “interest rate
benchmark reform” in this note.

- =]

(b)

EHEEBERERBRLF

i

HERREEEERERK
(#&)
SR (&)
FlZ e
AEEHRZBMEETE S5/ L
MESFESH .gﬁgﬁﬁ
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ontinued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

Total interest revenue/income from financial assets that are
measured at amortised cost or at FVTOCI is as follows:

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

32. ﬁﬁlﬂﬁ

(b)

MBRAREEERREXE
()

T A ()

FIE 7 ()
AR AR B IR TET A
A2 ERENSREENET

BUA WALT -
2022 2021
—E-CF T4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Interest revenue FLEMA
Financial assets at FVTOCI BAFEF AL M EERERN
SRIEE 8,433 37,918
Other income g A
Financial assets at amortised cost BB ATTEN S REE 31,204 22,388

Interest expense on financial liabilities not measured at FVTPL:

AT EFABRENSREE
B BRI

2022 2021

—EC-CF —E-—%F

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FET FHBT

Financial liabilities at amortised cost BB ATTENSRMARE 146,117 94,619
Sensitivity analysis BRE DT

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on
the exposure to interest rates for bank borrowings at the end
of the reporting period. The analysis is prepared assuming the
financial instruments outstanding at the end of the reporting
period were outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis
points (2021: 50 basis points) increase or 50 basis points
(2021: 50 basis points) decrease are used and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change
in interest rates. Bank balances are excluded from sensitivity
analysis as the Directors consider that the exposure of cash
flow interest rate risk arising from variable-rate bank balances is
insignificant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ontinued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis (continued)

If interest rate had been 50 basis points (2021: 50 basis
points) higher/lower and all other variables were held
constant, the Group’s post-tax profit for the year ended 31
December 2022 would decrease/increase by HK$18,370,000
(2021: HK$10,705,000) as a result of the Group’s exposure
to interest rates on its variable-rate borrowings.

In the opinion of the Directors, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of inherent interest rate risk as the year
ended exposure does not reflect the exposure during the
year.

Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk and debt price risk
through its investments in equity instruments at FVTPL and
debt instruments at FVTOCI. For equity securities measured
at FVTPL quoted in the Stock Exchange, the management
manages this exposure by maintaining a portfolio of
investments with different risks. The Group has appointed
a special team to monitor the price risk and will consider
hedging the risk exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analyses have been determined based on the
exposure to equity and debt price risk at the reporting date.

If the prices of the respective equity instruments had
been 10% (2021: 10%) higher/lower, the post-tax profit
for the year ended 31 December 2022 would increase/
decrease by HK$118,714,000 (2021: increase/decrease by
HK$135,230,000) as a result of the changes in fair value of
equity instruments at FVTPL.
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FIFm 5z (&)

BRE DT

M FIE _ EF T RR50MEEZ (=
T —4F  50EE) BFAH
HhEERFILE  AKEHZE
—E-F+ZRAR=+—H1
FEMREF BRI
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S,/ #AN10,705,00078 7T )
RERAEB G B &R
BRI E R o
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A I IRARMEE

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ontinued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Price risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis (continued)

If the prices of the respective debt instruments had been 10%
(2021: 10%) higher/lower, the investment revaluation reserve
for the year ended 31 December 2022 would increase/
decrease by HK$10,435,000 (2021: increase/decrease by
HK$11,505,000) as a result of the changes in fair value of
debt instruments at FVTOCI.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties
default on their contractual obligations resulting in financial
losses to the Group. The Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk in the event of the counterparties’ failure to
perform their obligations at the end of the reporting period
in relation to each class of recognised financial assets is the
carrying amount of those assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Directors has delegated
the management to be responsible for determination of credit
limits, credit approvals for determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In this
regard, the Directors consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk
on trade receivables with exposure spread over a number
of counterparties and customers. However, the Group is
exposed to the concentration on geographic segment in the
PRC. At 31 December 2022, approximately 89% (2021: 86%)
of the Group’s trade receivables are arising from the PRC.

Except for credit-impaired trade receivables which are
assessed for impairment individually, the remaining trade
receivables are grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics by reference to the Group’s internal credit
ratings. Details of the quantitative disclosures are set out
below in this note.
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A I IRARMIEE

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ontinued)

(b)

EHEERERBRAA

Financial risk management objectives and b)) HBEXEMREEEERBEEK
policies (continued) (%)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) EERBRREETE(E)
Collective assessments BrgaT
As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group $‘§ BHERFEER W ﬁB F BT
applies internal credit rating for its customers. The following EAREBREERKRER
table provides information about the exposure to credit risk EI’]—T:.‘B T%h{,\ffﬁb“‘_%
for trade receivables which are assessed based on collective T+ - A=t+—HiERE2H
assessments as at 31 December 2022 within lifetime ECL JEHEE BRI a5 S
(not credit-impaired). Credit-impaired debtors with gross HHE SRR EERRER
carrying amounts of HK$80,595,000 (2021: HK$54,962,000) (EEZERE) - HEREAREA
were assessed individually. Credit-impaired debtors are fully 80,595,000 T (Z T = —4F :
provided for ECL. 54,962,000/ 7T ) #)15 B R E &
BAHETT T EBIEHE - EERE
BEBAZRERERREEESE -
For the year ended 31 December 2022: BE-_ZT-_—_F+-_A=1+—H
IEFE -
Gross trade Range of Net trade
Internal credit rating receivables loss rates ECL receivables
ESER EHEE B S EW
RS EFTR IR AEEE EiEREE B8 R
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FET FET
Low risk {livEN 1,899,415 1% - 5% 94,970 1,804,445
Watch list BIRZE 1,442,516 10% - 25% 296,958 1,145,558
Doubtful AR 292,747 30% - 35% 102,462 190,285
3,634,678 494,390 3,140,288
For the year ended 31 December 2021: Bz Z-—F+—-_A=+—H
IR -
Gross trade Range of Net trade
Internal credit rating receivables loss rates ECL receivables
=0l BHEE Z 2
MBS BT ERmE BEREE B8 R
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHET FH&T
Low risk ER 3,950,917 1% — 4% 108,823 3,842,094
Watch list ELEmRPE 1,909,099 5% — 25% 383,106 1,525,993
Doubtful RER 328,690 30% — 35% 114,704 213,986
6,188,706 606,633 5,582,073
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ontinued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Collective assessments (continued)

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment comprises
the following categories:

Internal

credit rating Description

RS EFR iz

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default

A9 HFFEARRE

Watch list Doubtful debtors frequently repay after
due dates but usually settle in full

EEREE BERNFRNEFALENRIRRE
EIBFIE - BARPIEHEE

Doubtful There have been significant increases
in credit risk since initial recognition
through information developed internally
or external resources

RER BB I E RS &R R
SRR B Ve TERAREE FA

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is
credit-impaired

&8 ERBESEEHREERE

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the
debtor is in severe financial difficulty and
the Group has no realistic prospect of
recovery

s BIEBTEBABAREVR -

AARSEEERESKREFR

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors
and are adjusted for forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort. The grouping is
regularly reviewed by the management to ensure relevant
information about specific debtors is updated.
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32. £l

(b)

Trade receivables

B 5 RWR

Lifetime ECL

TH.

i

BEEAREEBEERBRE
(&)

FERRKBERE(E)
BV (F)
REBAREERBFRFEE
AT D8 -

Other financial
assets/other item

Hith&mMEE HAE

12m ECL

— not credit-impaired

2HEMEEER
—EEERE

Lifetime ECL

128 ABEEEEE

12m ECL

— not credit-impaired

2 HBEMEREE
—BEERE

Lifetime ECL

— not credit-impaired

128 A B ZEEE

Lifetime ECL
— not credit-impaired

2 EE A E BIS1E > HEHEEEE
—EEERE —EEERE
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
— credit-impaired — credit-impaired
> HEHEEER > HEREEERE
—=ERE —{ZERE

Amount is written off

SR

Amount is written off

RN 3

At R R T E R YRR IES
FHNELBERMBEORM
it YRER M HBZRALE
71 BNV R 45 69 A IE 1 & BHE 38
- ERETHENZIE N
FEORBE IS E R UBR RV IERI R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ontinued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Collective assessments (continued)

The following table sets out the movement in lifetime ECL that
has been recognised for trade receivables under the simplified
approach.

- =]

(b)

EHEEBERERBRLF

i

MEREREEBERBE
(%)

FE@V&HE-?G@“)
BT ()
TREIIREEOEERSE S
EURRZHN 2 HAREEREZ
Zzib

Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
2 HATE R 2 HATEES
EEE#E EEEE
(BEERHE) (EERHE) et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
At 1 January 2021 R-ZE-_—F—HF—H 282,510 297,240 579,750
Changes relating to trade R-Z-——F—H—HH#
receivables recognised as BEERESE L|5Z *Wﬁ 7
at 1 January 2021 &
- Transfer to credit-impaired —EE S EERE (15,596) 15,596 -
— Net impairment losses reversal ~ — & [EIR{EE 12 %58 (113,220) (265,376) (378,596)
New financial assets originated AEEEENTERBEE
during the year 442,405 - 442,405
Transfer to credit-impaired during 7N [E#EE = ERIE
the year (2,593) 2,593 -
Exchange adjustments BE 3 % 13,127 4,909 18,036
At 31 December 2021 R-_TE——4F
+=—A=+—H 606,633 54,962 661,595
Changes relating to trade R-EBE-_—_F—H—HH
receivables recognised as ERRESRBEREA
at 1 January 2022 Ay
— Transfer to credit-impaired — B EERE (8,030) 8,030 -
— Net impairment losses reversal ~ — & BRI E 18 %58 (302,341) (10,286) (312,627)
Write-offs i - (3,034) (3,034)
New financial assets originated REEEENTERMARE
during the year 283,849 - 283,849
Transfer to credit-impaired AEEEREEFERE
during the year (36,814) 36,814 -
Exchange adjustments (R (48,907) (5,891) (54,798)
At 31 December 2022 NI —F
+=—RA=+—H 494,390 80,595 574,985

The reversal of lifetime ECL for trade receivables that are
credit-impaired is mainly due to the subsequent settlement
in full of trade debtors with a gross carrying amount of
HK$10,286,000 (2021: HK$265,376,000).

BEAEERENE S EWIRR
E@%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ‘é}éﬂéﬁé@IKE
BHREEZE2TFE! E%@%’E%
10,286,0005%7“*;**
265,376,0007% 7 ) K E 5 & Héz
A o

B FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ontinued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Collective assessments (continued)

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example,
when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate.

Bills receivables

In determining the ECL for bills receivables, the Directors have
considered the bills received by the Group with a maturity
period of less than one year are assessed on 12m ECL by
reference to the external credit rating of relevant banks,
and concluded that the credit risk inherent in the Group’s
outstanding bills receivables is insignificant as at 31 December
2022 and 2021.

Other receivables

In determining the ECL for other receivables, the Directors
have made periodic collective assessment as well as individual
assessment on the recoverability of other receivables, based
on historical settlement records, past experience, and
also forward-looking information, as appropriate. For the
years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group has
considered the consistently low historical default rate of other
receivables in connection with payments, and concluded
the ECL of the Group’s outstanding other receivables is
insignificant.

Debt instruments at FVTOCI

At 31 December 2022, the Group is exposed to concentration
of credit risk on its debt instruments at FVTOCI as 60% (2021:
100%) of the total debt are concentrated in two (2021: five)
bond securities listed on the SGX and issued by one (2021:
one) listed issuer in Hong Kong. The Group’s listed bond
securities are exposed to credit risk due to the default of
repayment by the bond issuers.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ontinued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Debt instruments at FVTOCI (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2022, defaults of a bond
issuer in making payments of interest and principal for its
indebtedness indicated significant increase in credit risk and
deterioration of repayment ability. Thus, credit loss allowance
of these debt instruments at FVTOCI issued by this issuer are
measured on lifetime ECL basis.

The Group had engaged an independent qualified valuer
to perform ECL assessment on these debt instruments
by determining an appropriate probability of default, the
estimated loss given default of each debt instrument and
forward-looking adjustments. The Directors work closely with
the independent qualified valuer to establish the appropriate
valuation techniques and inputs to the model.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, ECL on debt
instruments at FVTOCI of HK$186,501,000 (2021: nil) was
recognised in profit or loss.

For the remaining debt instruments at FVTOCI issued by
other bonds issuer, the Directors considered that the credit
risk on these investments is limited as the bonds securities
listed on the SGX and issued by listed issuer in Hong Kong
with good creditability. The Directors assess 12m ECL on
these debt instruments at FVTOCI based on the default rates
published by major international credit rating agencies that are
applicable to the respective debts instruments. As a result of
this assessment, the Directors are of the opinion that the ECL
on these debt instruments is insignificant.

32. ﬁ%ﬂIﬂ“
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ontinued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries

For amounts due from fellow subsidiaries, in order to minimise
the credit risk, Directors continuously monitor the settlement
status and the level of exposure to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In the opinion of
the Directors, the probability of default is negligible as these
fellow subsidiaries either have the financial capacity to meet
its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term or is
financially supported by the ultimate holding company, and
concluded that the credit risk is insignificant. Accordingly, the
ECL on amounts due from fellow subsidiaries is insignificant.

Bank balances

The Directors considers the bank balances that are deposited
with the financial institutions with good credit rating to be low
credit risk financial assets. The management considers the
bank balances are short-term in nature and the probability of
default is negligible on the basis of high-credit-rating issuers,
and accordingly, ECL was considered as insignificant.

Financial guarantee contracts

For financial guarantee contracts, the maximum amount that
the Group has guaranteed under the respective contracts
was HK$148,361,000 (2021: HK$215,100,000) as at 31
December 2022. At the end of the reporting period, the
Directors have performed impairment assessment, and
concluded that there has been no significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition of the financial guarantee
contracts. Accordingly, the loss allowance for financial
guarantee contracts issued by the Group is measured at
an amount equal to 12m ECL. The management considers
the probability of default is low and accordingly, ECL was
considered as insignificant. Details of the financial guarantee
contracts are set out in note 35.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ontinued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The Directors monitor the utilisation of bank borrowings
and ensures compliance with loan covenants during the year.

The Group relies on bank borrowings as a significant source
of liquidity. At 31 December 2022, the Group has available
unutilised bank borrowing facilities of HK$7,374,337,000
(2021: HK$6,818,749,000).

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table
has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows
of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay. Specifically, bank loans
with a repayment on demand clause are included in the
earliest time band regardless of the probability of the banks
choosing to exercise their rights. The maturity dates for other
non-derivative financial liabilities are based on the agreed
repayment dates.

The tables include both interest and principal cash flows.
To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate curve at the
end of the reporting period.
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@ KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBmRMETE
32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ontinued) 32. €T A
(b) Financial risk management objectives and b) HHXEREEEERKE
policies (continued) (%8)
Liquidity risk (continued) REESRAR(E)
Liquidity and interest risk tables TEENE D ]G R e e 7
Over Over Over
Weighted 3 months 1year 2years
average  Ondemand  but but not but not but not Total
effective orlessthan  morethan  morethan  more than Over undiscounted  Carrying
interestrate 3 months 1 year 2years 5years Syears  cash flows amount
nEYs  REXE ZEANE -ENE RENML #ERRE
ERAE  c@Am ETEA-F QATEERE ETERIE  RENE  RBEE REE
%  HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HK$'000  HK$000  HKS000  HKS$'000
TR T TR TEn ThR TR TR
At 31 December 2022 R-B-—F+-F=1-H
Non-derivative financial liabilties 34 4RE (R
Trade and other payables BARAMENER - 1,188,099 - - - - 1,188,099 1,188,009
Bils payables ENEE - 474319 - - - - 474319 474319
Dividends payeble ERRA - 468,000 - - - - 463000 468,000
Amounts due to felow subsiciaries ~ ERFZMBLAEE - 47,587 - - - - 47,587 47,581
Bank borrowings Hirks
- variable rate -%E 581 - 08708 1240034 3812973 - 5261715 4,400,000
Lease abies HESE 430 139 4% 2 M 1,007 2,165 1,853
2,178,204 209144 1240255 3813245 1007 7441945 6,579,918
Finencial quarantee contracts BB ERAN - 148,361 - - - - 148,361 148,361
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ontinued)

(b)

EHEERERBRAA

32. TRT R

~

2

Financial risk management objectives and b) HHXEREEEERKE
policies (continued) (%8)
Liquidity risk (continued) RBESER(E)
Liquidity and interest risk tables (continued) BN E D J IR E e ()
Qver QOver QOver
Weighted 3months 1year 2years
average  On demand but but but not but not Total
effectie  orless than notmore  morethan  more than Over  undiscounted Carrying
interestrate ~ 3months  than T year 2 years 5years Syears  cash flows amount
mER)  BERR CEANE -EME BEE RiBRe
ERfE  ZREAn ETRE-F BTEERE BTEERLE  IENL  RENE T}
%  HKS000  HKS000  HKSO000  HKS000  HKS0OD  HKSO000  HKSO000
Tin TR Tin Thn TR TR T
At 31 December 2021 R-E--F+-F=1-A
Non-derivative financial liabilities 374 4RERE
Trade and other payables B REMERER - 1,250,166 - - - - 1250166 1250166
Bils payables EREE - 60249 - - - - B4% 602496
Dividends payable kA - 936000 - - - - 03000 936000
Amounts dueto felow subsidaries  ERAZHEATHE - 47581 - - - - 47581 47581
Bank borrowings HiTkE
- fixed rate -Eg 330 - 125449 - - - 125449 122419
- variable rate -%8 134 - 1709518 205,404 734,148 - 2649070 2592483
Lease liabiities fEak 414 142 4 28 543 1203 2,558 2,19
28638 183,409 205,632 734,691 1208 561330 5563338
Financial quaranteg contracts HBERAY - 500 - - - - 5100 215100
At 31 December 2022 and 2021, there are no bank RIB-Z—FR-_FE-_—F+=
borrowings with a repayment on demand clause. A=+—0 ®mEEZREEK
REVERTTIERK ©

e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ontinued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Interest rate benchmark reform

As listed in note 28, several of the Group’s HIBOR bank
loans may be subject to the interest rate benchmark reform.
The Group is closely monitoring the market and managing
the transition to new benchmark interest rates, including
announcements made by the relevant Interbank Offered Rate
regulators.

HIBOR

While the Hong Kong Dollar Overnight Index Average
(“HONIA”) has been identified as an alternative to HIBOR,
there is no plan to discontinue HIBOR. The multi-rate
approach has been adopted in Hong Kong, whereby HIBOR
and HONIA will co-exist.

Progress towards implementation of alternative benchmark
interest rates

As part of the Group’s risk management for transition, new
contracts entered into by the Group are linked to the relevant
alternative benchmark rates or interest rates which are not
subject to reform to the extent feasible.

In addition, for a floating rate loan that is linked to HIBOR, the
Group had confirmed with the relevant counterparty HIBOR
will continue to maturity.

The Group is not subject to significant risk arising from the
transition in relation to the interest rate benchmark reform.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ontinued)

(c)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments
Fair value of the group’s financial assets that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period. The following table
gives information about how the fair values of these financial
assets are determined (in particular, the valuation techniques
and inputs used), as well as the level of the fair value hierarchy
into which the fair value measurements are categorised (Levels
1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair
value measurements is observable.

Fair value
hierarchy

Fair value as at

Financial assets 31 December
SHEE Rt=A=t+-ANATE

2022 2021

“ECCE —EC-F

HK$'000 HK$'000

TR Fin

AYERRRA

(i) Listed securities classified as 1619528 1
equity instruments at FVTPL

(| APEARATEN)\B&
MERLEZ LWEA

1,421,718

(i) Listed bond securities classified 15064 2
as debt instruments at FVTOCI

() ARBEATESAEGEE
IaRERIE, LAEFES

104,362

There were no transfers between Level 1 and 2 during the
years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of other
financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised
cost approximate to their fair values.

EEEERERER QT

32. €@ T B

Valuation techniques

and key inputs

(c)

hERHREEBALE

Quoted bid prices in active

market.

IR N

Quoted prices over-the-

counter markes.

SITHE -

Significant
unobservable inputs

EXFURREALE

z

el

z

el

SRIAENAFETFE
BREKEHEERATETEZ
rEEEREEZATE
rEEFDEMEENSREH
RS AR A TERE - T&
FrEv &R BRI E e S S at
BEZAFECCEZMAMGE
BT R ABIER) - LARARF
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ERHNFEAEARE D ZA
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Relationship of
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KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRARMEE

33. CAPITAL AND OTHER COMMITMENTS

33. BEAXRHAibEYE

2022 2021
—E- B
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAET
Capital expenditure contracted for but not B 5T #1BR 4R A BIFS R EH BE
provided in the consolidated financial ZERRL ¢
statements for:
- acquisition of property, plant and —BEYE - BE MRS
equipment 67,838 78,901
Other expenditure contracted for but not B &I #MB R RLRE BT SRR (E L BE
provided in the consolidated financial ZEMAY :
statements for:
— acquisition and other expenditures —BAFEEME I WENEMRT
relating to properties held for
development - 275,673
67,838 354,574
777 UL E |A_|
34. OPERATING LEASING ARRANGEMENTS 34, &X&iHE%LH
2022 2021
—EC-C4F B4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
The Group as lessor: AEEEREHEA :
Rental income credited to the consolidated RERF AGFEIBRER ZHES WA
statement of profit or loss during the year 61,535 70,838

The Group’s investment properties are rented to third parties for
periods up to 7 years (2021: 17 years) at fixed predetermined

amounts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

34.

35.

EHEERERBRAA

CONTRACTS

The Group provided guarantees with maximum exposure amounting
to HK$148,361,000 (2021: HK$215,100,000) as at 31 December
2022 in respect of bank mortgage loans granted to purchasers of
the Group’s properties. In the opinion of the Directors, the fair values
of these financial guarantee contracts of the Group are insignificant
at initial recognition and the Directors consider that the possibility of
default of the parties involved is remote, accordingly, no value has
been recognised at the inception of the guarantee contracts and at
the end of the reporting period as at 31 December 2022 and 2021.

Guarantees are given to banks with respect to loans procured by
the purchasers of the Group’s properties. Such guarantees will be
released by banks upon delivery of the properties to the purchasers
and completion of the registration of the relevant mortgaged
properties.

b e
OPERATING LEASING ARRANGEMENTS 34, &R&HEZH
(continued)
Lease payments receivable on leases are as follows: FEAAEMEIKESARET -
2022 2021
—E- 8 —E-—fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FH&T FHIT
Within one year —F R 53,504 56,616
In the second year RE_F 45,102 49,073
In the third year JIAY: 19,035 41,054
In the fourth year REMFE 4,506 16,152
In the fifth year RERF 1,131 3,352
After five years hFE 291 54
123,569 166,301
FINANCIAL GUARANTEES 35. TEIEREN

RZZBZZF+ZA=+—0 ' £5E
HETFAEEMEEROBITIRIBEER
RHERSERIER148,361,0008 (=
L ——4 :215,100,000/87C) - EFR
B AEBZEVHEERENVNATE
RAERBEL TEKN - BEERAZ
MR FELHMESIRN - Bl - RZF
T ZFRZE—F+=ZRA=+—8"
RERAKRLFERBEHEERER
WEEREREE ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

36. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

On 3 August 2011, Annuity & Re Life Ltd (the “Petitioner”), the non-
controlling shareholder of Kingboard Copper Foil Holdings Limited
(“KBCF”), presented a petition in the Supreme Court of Bermuda
(the “Petition”) in respect of KBCF against its controlling shareholders
based on a complaint that the affairs of KBCF had been and/or
were being conducted in a manner which was oppressive or unfairly

prejudicial to the Petitioner.

The controlling shareholders of KBCF were eventually successful in
defending the case following a favourable judgement by the Bermuda
Court of Appeal dated 24 March 2017. Subsequently, the Petitioner
filed an appeal with the Privy Council. Such appeal was withdrawn
by the Petitioner following a settlement agreement reached by the

Petitioner and the respondents in the Petition.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the controlling
shareholders of KBCF had purchased all of the remaining issued and
outstanding ordinary shares in the capital of KBCF and KBCF has

become a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group.

On 22 October 2018, the Petitioner commenced an action in the
Supreme Court of Bermuda under Civil Jurisdiction 2018: No.359
against the respondents in the Petition based on purported breach of

the settlement agreement (the “Settlement Action”).

On 22 October 2020, the Group filed an application for striking out
part of the Petitioner’s claim under the Settlement Action (the “Strike-
Out Application”). The Strike Out Application was unsuccessful and
the substantive proceedings in the Settlement Action are continuing.

The trial of the Settlement Action was originally listed for a five-day
hearing from 16 January 2023 to 20 January 2023. On 7 December
2022, the Petitioner made an application for a Letter of Request to
be issued by the Supreme Court of Bermuda and addressed to the
Supreme Court of Singapore for its assistance in ordering against
two Singapore brokers for production of certain documents in
their possession, and for adjournment of the trial in the Settlement
Action for a period of at least two months. Further to a hearing
on 14 December 2022, the issue of the Letter of Request and the
adjournment were ordered by the Court. The trial of this matter is to
be relisted. Despite the adjournment, expert reports were exchanged
on 16 November 2022, and a joint expert report has been filed on or

around 22 December 2022.

Based on the advice of the Company's Bermuda Counsel to date,
the board is of the opinion that the Settlement Action appears to be
intrinsically defective and that the Company should have a more than
reasonable chance to succeed. Accordingly, no provision for liability

has been made in connection with the claim.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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37.

PR AR MY

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The Group participates in both a defined contribution scheme
which was registered under the Occupational Retirement Schemes
Ordinance (the “ORSO Scheme”) and a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme which was established under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance in December 2000 (the “MPF Scheme”). The
assets of the schemes are held separately from those of the Group
and are invested in funds under the control of independent trustees.
Employees who were members of the ORSO Scheme prior to the
establishment of the MPF Scheme are members of both the ORSO
Scheme and the MPF Scheme, whereas all new employees joining
the Group on or after December 2000 are required to join the MPF
Scheme. The ORSO Scheme was funded by monthly contributions
from both employees and the Group at 10% of an employee’s
salary. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees
each required to make contributions to the scheme at 5% of the
employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant
income of HK$30,000 (2021: HK$30,000).

Employees of subsidiaries in the PRC are members of the state-
sponsored pension schemes operated by the PRC government.
The subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of
their payrolls to the pension schemes to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the pension schemes is to
make the required contributions.

Payments to the ORSO Scheme, the MPF Scheme and the
state-sponsored pension schemes of HK$36,900,000 (2021:
HK$30,175,000) had been charged to profit or loss. As at
31 December 2022, contributions of HK$2,980,000 (2021:
HK$2,480,000) due in respect of the reporting period had not been
paid over to the plans. The amounts were paid subsequently to the
end of the reporting period. There is no forfeited contributions that
may be used to reduce the existing level of contributions under the
Group’s MPF Scheme and state-sponsored pension schemes.
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KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

38. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES 38. MIEEHELEZAGBZ
ARISING FROM FINANCING ¥ER
ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from TRFANWNAREBRE EBHESL 2 ABE
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. B BIEESNIERSES - EEH
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash EECZBERBEESREER « IRKRE
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s SREBINANEBNGERERERD
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing HAERMEETEMMERETENAE -
activities.
Dividends
payable to
non-
controlling
Lease Interest Dividends interests
liabilities Borrowings payable payable of subsidiaries Total
EANEAR
ZFER
HESE EE EfHE IR A BRRZBE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THn Tir Ti#n Ti#n T#n THn
At 1 January 2021 R=Z-_—%—-A-A 2,324 1,153,846 - 6,240,000 - 7,396,170
Financing cash flows BERERE (651) 1,561,056 (94,619) (7,800,000) (1,355) (6,335,569)
New leases entered miRE 370 - - - - 370
Interest expense capitalised in 7ERE TI2EIE AL FIEHE
the construction in progress - - 14,049 - - 14,049
Interest expense recognised i R4 IBH R HEAH)
the consolidated statement  F| 85X
of profit or loss 9 - 80,570 - - 80,665
Dividends declared BEERKE - - - 2,496,000 - 2,496,000
Dividends declaredtonon- ~ BRIBAR Z3E2R
controlling interests of RRERBRE
subsidiaries - - - - 1,355 1,356
Exchange adjustments [E 5% 55 - - - - 55
At 31 December 2021 RZE-—F
+-A=1-H 2,193 2,714,902 - 936,000 - 3,663,095
Financing cash flows BERERE (642) 1,685,098 (146,117) (4,680,000) (1,559 (3,143,214)
New leases entered HiHE 368 - - - - 368
Interest expense capitalised in 7Ei TI2EIE AL FIEHE
the construction in progress - - 16,806 - - 15,806
Interest expense recognised in FA4F A B R K ERH)
the consolidated statement  FI 85X
of profit or loss 81 - 130,311 - - 130,392
Dividends declared BEERKE - - - 4,212,000 - 4,212,000
Dividends declaredtonon- ~ BAMBAR Z3E2R
controlling interests of RRERBRE
subsidiaries - - - - 1,663 1,668
Exchange adjustments [ 7 % (147) - - - - (147)
At 31 December 2022 W-E--F
+=A=t-H 1,853 4,400,000 - 468,000 - 4,869,853
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBERRME
39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 39. BEALRS
Other than as disclosed elsewhere in those consolidated financial MZEGEAMERREMIBOTIEES
statements, the Group entered into the following significant G REBERBEATEFNETZE
transactions with related parties during the year: RZZWT -
2022 2021
—EC-CF —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
(i) Sales of goods provided to fellow () MRARMBARHEEER
subsidiaries 4,096,187 4,856,648
(i) Purchases of goods from fellow (OEIEESG NGRS
subsidiaries 657,554 1,072,241
(ii) Sales of laminates and copper foil toa (i) [AREERATAEATE N
shareholder with significant influence A S BN R & IRA5E
over the ultimate holding company 534,466 600,440
(iv) Purchases of machineries from a (iv) MEREIZERAREERTENN
shareholder with significant influence IR ERERAE 2R
over the ultimate holding company 115,229 535,763
The transactions above constituted continuing connected transactions BIEEMRAIE4AE - IR SEK
of the Company under chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. RRARRFEBER S o
Compensation of key management personnel FEEEASME
The remuneration of the Directors and other members of key FR - EEREMTEERBAEZHE
management during the year is as follows: U
2022 2021
—EB-—fF ZEZ—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Short-term employee benefits i EEREF 101,862 164,097
Post-employment benefits RIKEEF 895 879
Share-based payment &t AT 37,724 -
140,481 164,976
The remuneration of the Directors and key executives is determined EERIETHRABZMEEZRER
with reference to the performance of individuals and market trends. BTRBENTEBLRETE -
On 20 March 2022, an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the RZE-_—_F=ZA=+H AR a—H
Company entered into a sale and purchase agreement with a fellow FEEE2EWB AR MR RZWEBA
subsidiary at a cash consideration of HK$100,000 to dispose 100% RIRIVEE WS UWHE—RHEAR
of the entire issued share capital of a subsidiary. The subsidiary held 2EEEITRAAI100%  BER B A
insignificant assets and liabilities at the date of disposal. 100,000/ 7T - ZMEARRHE 2 H
HEFEREEREE-

B FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRARMEE

40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2022

and 2021 are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

WEARERE

Excel First Investments Limited

SRREERAF

KBCF
R

Hong Kong Copper Foil Limited
BERWERRAR

Kingboard (Fogang) Insulated
Material Company Limited

B () BEMBARDR

Kingboard (Fogang) Laminates Co.
Limited
BE () BERERAR

Kingboard (Fogang) Paper Laminates
Co., Ltd.
BB () BEARARAR

Kingboard Electronic Raw Material
(Jiang Yin) Co., Ltd.
BESTMH (IR) ARAF

Jiangmen Kingboard Laminates Co.,

Ltd.
PR ERERBRAF

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Place of
incorporation/
registration
and operation
HEMRL B
REXHH

British Virgin Islands/
Hong Kong?

RERARS/ TR

Bermuda*
BRE

British Virgin Islands/
Hong Kong
RBRAHSE/BE

PRC'
RE

PRC'
RE

PRC'
RE

PRC'
RE

PRC'
RE

Issued and
fully paid
share capital/

registered capital
BRTRBERE/

EMER

US$1
iE

US$72,250,000
72,250,000 70

US$47,057,290
47,057,290 7T

US$6,115,000
6,115,000 7T

US$29,466,000
29,466,000 7T

US$17,936,576
17,936,576 7T

US$30,000,000
30,000,000% 7T

HK$242,800,000
242,800,000/ 7T

0. ZATEEWEAT

+15

RZEBEZZFR_FT-_—F+=A8
=t+—8 ARREZHBAR ZFIE
U

Proportion of
the ownership
interest held
by the Group Principal activities
ARBEAN
FE#EES FEER
2022 2021
—E--F ZB--F
% %
100 100 Investment holding
REZR
100 100 Investment holding
REZR
100 100  Investment holding and
trading of copper
REZERKIAZES
100 100  Manufacture and
distribution of bleached
kraft paper
g R EEARER
100 100  Manufacture and
distribution of laminates
g R D EEAAR
100 100  Manufacture and
distribution of laminates
SR D EEAAR
100 100  Manufacture and
distribution of laminates
g R D EEAAER
100 100  Manufacture and

distribution of laminates

BER D HRAER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

EEEERERERLF

40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

40. ZATEEM B L TF
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY '

&)

(continued)
Place of Issued and Proportion of
incorporation/ fully paid the ownership
registration share capital/ interest held
Name of subsidiary and operation registered capital by the Group Principal activities
EMRL BT BERTRARRA/ AEEREN
WEARAME REXHH EMER FEREA TEEH
2022 2021
—E--FE ZB--F
% %
Kingboard (Jiangsu) Chemical Co., ~ PRC! US$32,000,000 100 100 Manufacture and
Ltd. g 32,000,000% T distribution of chemicals
BB (I#%) (t TER LA BUERDHIL IER
Kingboard Laminates (Kunshan) Co., PRC! US$32,010,000 100 100  Manufacture and
Ltd. g 32,010,000 7T distribution of laminates
RERER (BIL) BRAR SER D HERER
Kingboard (Guangdong) Electronic ~ PRC! US$13,700,000 100 100 Manufacture and
Special Materials Co., Ltd. g 13,700,000 7T distribution of glass fabric
BE (BR) EFERMAER AR SUER D IR HSET
Kingboard (Guangzhou) Electronic ~ PRC! RMB250,000,000 100 100 Manufacture and
Material Manufacturing Co., Ltd. A" AR #250,000,0007T distribution of chemicals
BE (BN) EFHHEEERAR BER DB IER
Kingboard (Jiangyin) Composite PRC! US$85,000,000 100 100  Manufacture and
Material Co., Ltd. g 85,000,000% 7T distribution of laminates
BE(IR) EamHERAR BER D HERER
Jiangmen Kingboard Electronics PRC! US$26,000,000 100 100 Manufacture and
Development Company Limited g 26,000,000 7T distribution of laminates
IFEESFERARAT SER D HERER
Kingboard (Qingyuan) Electronic PRC! US$25,000,000 100 100 Manufacture and
Materials Co., Ltd. g 25,000,000 T distribution of glass fabric
B (FR) BFMREBRAR BUER D RS
Qing Yuan Kai Rong De Electronic ~ PRC! RMB130,000,000 100 100 Manufacture and
Special Materials Co., Ltd. T AR #130,000,0007T distribution of glass fabric

BRIKEEFERMHERAR

REL D HRB T e

B FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMEE

40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)
Place of Issued and
incorporation/ fully paid
registration share capital/
Name of subsidiary and operation registered capital
TR BT ERTRBRRE/
HEAR LR RE£ Y HEMER
Qing Yuan Chung Shun Century PRC! US$72,319,600
Electronic Materials Co., Ltd. R 72,319,600% 70
BRAGHLEETHHAERAT
Chung Shun Century Electronic PRC RMB50,000,000
Material (Shixing) Co., Ltd. s AR#50,000,0007T
BEHLEEFIE (BH) BRAR
Kingboard Laminates (ShaoGuan) ~ PRC HK$7,000,000
Co., Ltd. A 7,000,000/ 75
REEER (BE) BROA
Guangzhou Chung Shun Century ~ PRC US$44,595,000
Electronic Materials Manufacturing  #0" 44,595,000 T
Co., Ltd.
BINBETLES TS
BRAT
Kai Rong De (ShaoGuan) Glass PRC RMB142,000,000
Fiber Co., Ltd. R AR142,000,0007T
SiE () BB R A
# These are investment holding companies which have no specific principal

place of operations.

1 These companies were established in the PRC in the form of wholly
foreign-owned enterprises. The English names of these companies are for
identification purpose only.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results or assets of
the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of
the year.
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40. AQREEMB AR

=)

Proportion of
the ownership
interest held

by the Group Principal activities
AEEREN
FEREA FEER
2022 2021
—E_-E —ZB--E
% %
100 100  Manufacture and
distribution of glass yarn
100 100  Manufacture and
distribution of laminates
SR D EEIAAER
100 100 Manufacture and
distribution of laminates
g RS HEINER
100 100  Manufacture and
distribution of glass yarn
100 - Manufacture and
distribution of glass fabric
SUER D IR
# hERREERAR  UESECEE
MR B -

! SRR AN EBECER A ETE
FRIZ o 3% F R AR ATHEMRR -

ERFIIREERATIBFEAKEER
BHNEEZARBMNBAR - EFERR
FIHEMH B AR ZFHFEBNILE

f B A BN F AR ERITEMNER

B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

EHEERERBRAA

40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 40. ZATFTEH B QR
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY 15 )
(continued)
General information of principal subsidiaries FEMRBATRIZ—KRER
At the end of the reporting period, the Company has other principal REREHIE R - AATEHAHAER
subsidiaries that are not material to the Group. A majority of these METEEANEMEEZRBAT © 3%
subsidiaries operate in the PRC. The principal activities of these ZMB AT ABHN P ELIE o ZEW
subsidiaries are summarised as follows: BAR EBEBBAINT -
Principal place Number of subsidiaries
Principal activities FEEK of business FTEEEMT MEAREE
2022 2021
—Eo_F —E-—F
Manufacture and sale of FENSHEEINER  PRC s 31 29
laminates Thailand Z=E 1 1
Macau B 1 1
33 31
Properties LIES Hong Kong B 2 2
PRC i 8 8
United Kingdom %] 1 1
11 11
Others EAh Hong Kong 'k 36 37
PRC s 6 6
42 43

B FFR
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41.

PR aR M

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

B

41. Q8] 2 B iR R K 5k

2022 2021
—E- 8 —E—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FH&T FHIT
Non-current assets SEREBEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—EMRBARZIEE 5,437,972 5,900,751
Equity instruments at FVTPL BATEFAEROER IR 185,385 313,071
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUBI B A B3R IA 503,493 495,488
6,126,850 6,709,310
Current assets MENEE
Other receivables and prepayments H Ao IR R R FE A 50E 5 44,136
Equity instruments at FVTPL BATEFAEROER IR 10,226 713
Amounts due from subsidiaries NI E S 20,070,750 18,031,803
Cash and cash equivalents BERBELEEY 104,127 32,859
20,185,108 18,109,511
Current liabilities mEaE
Other payables H e 508 83,751 136,351
Dividends payable FERTAR A 468,000 936,000
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERTHI B A RIFRIE 15,001,983 12,557,330
Bank borrowings — amount due BITEE - —FRIEZHE
within one year - 1,564,103
15,553,734 15,193,784
Net current assets RENEERE 4,631,374 2,915,727
Total assets less current liabilities BEMABERLBAER 10,758,224 9,625,037
Non-current liability ERBEE
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERTI B A BIFIE 1,031,422 1,021,341
Net assets BEFE 9,726,802 8,603,696
Capital and reserves A& R
Share capital REA 312,000 312,000
Reserves (Note) G ES) 9,414,802 8,291,696
Total equity BRIBEE 9,726,802 8,603,696
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRARMIEE

41.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

ZHBEERERERAA

ﬁ\ﬁ%ﬂﬁiﬁl&%

Note: B 5T
Share-based
Share Translation payments Special Retained
premium reserve reserve reserve profits Total
RiiEE EXRE ROMANTERE BhlRE REEF 3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAR TAR TAR TAR TAR TAR
(Note a)
(Miita)
At 1 January 2021 WZ-ZF-—-F-F-H 2,131,768 - - 5,427,130 694,436 8,253,334
Profit for the year and total comprehensive KB RFIRAEE 2 ARG EE
income for the year - - - - 2,345,351 2,345,351
Exchange difference arising on translationto - R B2 2 RERMEL 2
presentation currency EHER - 189,011 - - - 189,011
Total comprehensive income for the year ~ AEE2 AW EE - 189,011 - - 2,345,351 2,534,362
Final dividend paid for the year ended ENBIE=E-2F+2A
31 December 2020 =t- E! Z?KHHHQ g - - - - (1,092,000) (1,092,000)
Special final dividend paid for the year ended BRI EIF-T-TF+=A
31 December 2020 ST-BZERIRARE - - - - (468,000) (468,000
Interim dividend payable for the year ended ~ EREZE=F=—4+=A
31 December 2021 =+-AIEERE 2R RS - - - - (936,000) 936,000)
- 189,011 - - (150,649) 38,362
At 31 December 2021 “Z-—%+-f=t+-H 2,131,768 189,011 - 5,427,130 543,787 8,291,696
Profitfor the year and total comprehensive  REERFIRAEE 2 ENEEE
income for the year - - - - 5,749,885 5,749,885
Exchange difference arising on translation R EZ2RERMAEL 2
to presentation currency ERER - (462,779) - - - (462,779)
Total comprehensive (expense) income AEFEMR () WaEE
for the year - (462,779) - - 5,749,885 5,287,106
Recognition of equity-settled share-based ANEREENRHT AT
payments - - 48,000 - - 48,000
Final dividend paid for the year ended BREL-F-—F1+=8
31 December 2021 =+-AZRERE - - - - (8,744,000) (8,744,000)
Interim dividend payable for the year ended ~ FEREZE-F-—F+-f
31 December 2022 =+-AIEERE 2R RS - - - - (468,000) (468,000)
- {462,779) 48,000 - 1,537,885 1,123,106
At 31 December 2022 S s e =] 2,131,768 (273,768) 48,000 5,427,130 2,081,672 9,414,802
Note a: Special reserve of the Company represent the differences between the Mitta : AARZERIFEERKENEA

net asset value of the acquired subsidiaries and the nominal value of the
Company’s shares issued for the acquisition at the time of the Group’s

reorganisation in 20086.

BEFEAN-TT R FHITE @E%ﬂ
R REEmET 2 AR RRNEERE
ALk

T FFRH
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INFORMATION ON THE GROUP’S PROPERTIES

The following table sets out the Group’s material properties held for REETEFEREMEIINTE
investment:

Gross floor Group’s interest
area (m?) rEBEREER
Location Existing use Tenure HEEER 2022 2021
B BRAR ik (FFXK) ZB-=F —T_—-F
% %
88 to 93 Fenchurch Street, 5 and Commercial Freehold 8,000 100% 100%
7 Carlisle Avenue and Part of [EES KAERE
Saracens Head Yard, London,
EC3M 4ST, United Kingdom
Building 14, Kingboard Yueking Commercial Medium term lease 13,000 100% 100%
Garden, Kunshan Development District, [HE R A FE HA
Kunshan, Jiangsu Province, the PRC* HE
HEIEA R ILTHRERBERSE145RE
Unit Nos.2301-2303, 26F, 27F, and Car Commercial Medium term lease 1,800 100% 100%
Parking Space No. 9, 10 on 2nd Floor, [EES AR
Overseas Trust Bank Building, HE
No. 160 Gloucester Road, Hong Kong
HEETITE160RBIMEERITAE
2301-2303% - 261 - 2718 212 FE9 K 105k E L
Vanka Plaza, Level 2 of South Tower Commercial Medium term lease 1,300 100% 100%
No.17-25 Shui Cheng Nan Road [EES HH EATE HA
Changning District, Shanghali, the PRC* HE
FE DT RERKREE17-25%
ERESaEE
Commercial shops Commercial Medium term lease 11,442 100% 100%
No.8 Beijiang 1st Road [EES Hh EATE HA
Qingyuan City, the PRC* HE

FEE R T LT — K85k E 5
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INFORMATION ON THE GROUP’S PROPERTIES

The following table sets out the Group’s material properties held for
development:

EEEERERERLF

AEEEZHERRMEIINTE

Group’s interest

Gross floor
area (m2) ZF%%EE%
Location Expected use BEEMEE 2022 2021
Bk mEstAR (B FK) —E-=F T
Huagiao Kingboard Garden Phase V, Guixi Road, Residential 500 100% 100%
Huagiao District, Kunshan, Jiangsu Province, the PRC* *=
AR BT AR B 1L T AEAS [ AR VY B 7 e B i B v TE B B
* denotes English translation of Chinese addresses in the PRC for identification * Y 2 B B RE S R g

purposes only

B —

FER
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
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KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

RESULTS E
Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=+-ALEE
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
—T-N\F —E-NEF B —E-—fF —E-C&
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FAET FAET FAT FAT THR
Revenue BERE 20,645,776 18,383,952 17,301,186 28,799,810 22,363,680
Profit before taxation BT A 4,475,835 3,317,220 3,662,665 8,386,915 3,357,766
Income tax expense FTiSHif X (1,217,844) (908,490) (854,685) (1,603,436) (1,448,382)
Profit for the year F 5 A 3,257,991 2,408,730 2,807,980 6,783,479 1,909,384
Attributable to: AT ALEEREE -
Owners of the Company V/NSESYDN 3,250,381 2,402,247 2,802,885 6,781,656 1,909,169
Non-controlling interests R ER 7,610 6,483 5,095 1,823 215
3,257,991 2,408,730 2,807,980 6,783,479 1,909,384
DIVIDEND AND BASIC BER
EARNINGS PER SHARE BREXRLF
Dividend per share BiReE HK52.5 cents  HK80.0 cents HK250.0 cents HK150.0 cents HKS35.0 cents
for the year SN 525711l 80.078 11l 250.07& 1l 150.078 11l 35.0581
Basic earnings per share ABREARFTER HK105.5 cents HK78.0 cents HK90.6 cents HK217.4 cents HK61.2 cents
based on reported net profit  FAXEAZF 105.57811l 78.0751l 90.6/411L 217 .47 61.2;81L
p: ==
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
At 31 December
R+=—HA=+-—H
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
—E2-N\F ZZE—NF =ZZE== - ZEB--F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FAT FAET FHET
Total assets BERE 28,721,741 25,803,171 26,375,915 29,821,785 24,299,812
Total liabilities afEes (10,878,739)  (7,054,092) (11,987,904) (10,756,661)  (9,227,821)
Net assets BEFE 17,843,002 18,749,079 14,388,011 19,065,124 15,071,991
Equity attributable to PANCIESTEDN
owners of the Company fEfh S 17,499,572 18,701,422 14,333,065 19,038,483 15,048,892
Non-controlling interests VIR 343,430 47,657 54,946 26,641 23,099
Total equity BAREEE 17,843,002 18,749,079 14,388,011 19,065,124 15,071,991
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